Chemical Redox Agents for Organometallic Chemistry

Neil G. Connelly*,† and William E. Geiger*,‡

School of Chemistry, University of Bristol, U.K., and Department of Chemistry, University of Vermont, Burlington, Vermont 05405-0125

Received October 3, 1995 (Revised Manuscript Received January 9, 1996)

Contents

Ι.	Introduction	877
	A. Scope of the Review	877
	B. Benefits of Redox Agents: Comparison with Electrochemical Methods	878
	1. Advantages of Chemical Redox Agents	878
	2. Disadvantages of Chemical Redox Agents	879
	C. Potentials in Nonaqueous Solvents	879
	D. Reversible vs Irreversible ET Reagents	879
	E. Categorization of Reagent Strength	881
II.	Oxidants	881
	A. Inorganic	881
	1. Metal and Metal Complex Oxidants	881
	2. Main Group Oxidants	887
	B. Organic	891
	1. Radical Cations	891
	2. Carbocations	893
	 Cyanocarbons and Related Electron-Rich Compounds 	894
	4. Quinones	895
	5. Other Organic Oxidants	896
III.	Reductants	896
	A. Inorganic	896
	1. Alkali Metals	896
	2. Complex Reducing Agents	898
	3. Hydrazine	898
	B. Organic	898
	1. Metal Naphthalenides	890
	2. Denzophenone Anion Radical	095
		900
	$\begin{array}{c} 4. O_2(1000 - 2)_4 \\ \hline O_1 & O_2(1000 - 2)_4 \\ \hline O_1 & O_2(1000 - 2)_4 \\ \hline O_1 & O_2(1000 - 2)_4 \\ \hline O_2 & O_2(10$	000
	1 Metal Sandwich Complexes	900 000
	2 Metal Carbonylates	000
N7		000
V.	Appendix: Syntheses of Ferrocenium and	903 904
	Diazonium Salts	
	A. Ferrocenium Salts	904
	 Method i. Ferrocenium Tetrafluoroborate, [FeCp₂][BF₄] 	904
	 Method ii. Ferrocenium Hexafluorophosphate, [FeCp₂][PF₆] 	904
	 Method iii. Acetylferrocenium Tetrafluoroborate, [Fe(η-C₅H₄COMe)Cp]- [BF₄] 	904
	B. 4-Fluorobenzenediazonium Hexafluorophosphate, [N ₂ C ₆ H ₄ F-4][PF ₆]	904
VI.	List of Abbreviations	904
VII.	Acknowledgments	904
VIII.	References	904



The authors (Bill Geiger, left; Neil Connelly, right) have been at the forefront of organometallic electrochemistry for more than 20 years and have had a long-standing and fruitful collaboration.

Neil Connelly took his B.Sc. (1966) and Ph.D. (1969, under the direction of Jon McCleverty) degrees at the University of Sheffield, U.K. Post-doctoral work at the Universities of Wisconsin (with Lawrence F. Dahl) and Cambridge (with Brian Johnson and Jack Lewis) was followed by an appointment at the University of Bristol (Lectureship, 1971; D.Sc. degree, 1973; Readership 1975). His research interests are centered on synthetic and structural studies of redox-active organometallic and coordination complexes and have been presented in more than 150 publications. He is an active but unsuccessful orienteer and an optimistic but often disappointed supporter of Brentford Football Club.

Bill Geiger received his B.S. from Canisius College (1965) and his Ph.D. from Cornell University (with David H. Geske, 1969) and did postdoctoral work at the University of California at Riverside with August H. Maki and at Northwestern University with Donald E. Smith before joining the faculty at Southern Illinois University in 1970. In 1974 he moved to the University of Vermont. His main interest has been in the use of electrochemistry and spectroelectrochemistry to probe the molecular and electronic structures of odd-electron organometallic compounds. Born and raised in Buffalo, he has been an avid fan of the Buffalo Bills since their inception, so he is familiar with near misses.

I. Introduction

A. Scope of the Review

As interest has grown in electron-transfer (ET) reactions of organometallic compounds, so too has the use of chemical oxidizing and reducing agents to effect these transformations. The aim of this review is to show how one-electron oxidants and reductants have been used in preparative chemistry (incorporating both synthetic applications and generation of

[‡] University of Vermont.

0009-2665/96/0796-0877\$25.00/0 © 1996 American Chemical Society

[†] University of Bristol.

species for *in situ* characterization) in nonaqueous solutions, the usual media for organometallic ET reactions. It is hoped that the information in this review will also be useful to those interested in ET reactions of organic and inorganic systems, which have more often involved the use of labile metal ions such as M(III), M = Fe, Tl^1 (but see ref 2).

A few words are in order about the reagents we have chosen to describe. Given the vast array of molecules and ions known to undergo one-electron processes, some focus in coverage is necessary. We have emphasized reagents in common usage and provide references to show typical applications rather than attempt comprehensive listings. We have also included some less widely known reagents which are, in our opinion, worthy of further development. The subjective nature of such choices is obvious. Finally, we have not treated photochemically-generated reducing agents which, although generally transient species, may have advantages in some applications.³

The reader will note that in places we have referred to personal communications from colleagues. We are grateful to them for providing many practical hints on the preparation and use of the particular reagents with which they are highly experienced. We would also appreciate correspondence from readers who use other valuable oxidants or reductants which we may have inadvertently missed.

B. Benefits of Redox Agents: Comparison with Electrochemical Methods

Brief treatments have previously appeared concerning applications of redox agents in metal dithiolene chemistry^{2a} and in organic ET chemistry.^{2b} In this section we emphasize the comparative benefits and shortcomings in chemical *vs* electrochemical approaches to preparative redox chemistry.

Electrochemical methods are without rival for investigating the *mechanisms* of ET reactions.⁴ In *preparative* applications, however, electrochemical and nonelectrochemical approaches are closer in relative merit. An experimental protocol making use of the complementary aspects of both approaches is often more effective than either individual method.

Controlled potential electrolysis (CPE) is the electrochemical method most often adopted for syntheticscale redox reactions.⁴ Its versatility (wide range of accessible potentials) and precision (± 1 mV or better in the absence of resistance effects) make CPE ideal for forcing the uptake or release of one or more electrons from a substrate.

The literature of CPE is well-developed for organic, inorganic, and organometallic systems.^{5,6} When CPE is coupled with voltammetric methods such as cyclic voltammetry, polarography (in its various forms), and voltammetry at rotated electrodes, electrochemical methods can initiate and monitor the progress of simple or complex redox processes. Putting aside matters of availability of equipment and the investigator's training in its use, what reasons might one have, then, for using chemical redox agents to effect preparative-scale ET reactions? We now consider some relative advantages and disadvantages of chemical *vs* electrochemical approaches.

1. Advantages of Chemical Redox Agents

a. Absence of Supporting Electrolyte. A postelectrolysis solution contains a supporting electrolyte salt in large (up to 1000-fold) excess over the desired electrode product. If the latter carries a charge, it may have a solubility similar to that of the supporting electrolyte, making separation difficult. Perhaps the greatest advantage of chemical redox agents is that the experimentalist is not confronted with this separation problem in the workup of the reaction solution.

b. Rapid, Large-Scale Preparations. Chemical redox reactions generally yield larger quantities of products in briefer reaction times, and at higher concentrations, when compared with electrolytic preparations. Except for thin-layer electrochemical cells,^{7a,b} which are very limited in the quantities of reagent that can be produced, preparative electrochemical cells have reaction times of tens of minutes, a time frame that may be troublesome if the desired product has limited stability. Homogeneous chemical redox reactions, on the other hand, often proceed as rapidly as solutions of the redox agent and the substrate are mixed.

This time-scale advantage is compromised when the chemical redox reaction is heterogeneous, as occurs with dissolving-metal reductions, for example, or when the reagent is sparingly soluble, for example, when ceric ammonium sulfate is used in CH_2Cl_2 . The mass transfer factors which come into play are then analogous to those encountered in electrolysis experiments.

Redox agents are easily adapted to *low-temperature* studies. Several applications are quoted below wherein the redox agent and the substrate are allowed to dissolve and mix just above the melting point of a solvent, conditions very hard to duplicate in practical electrochemical experiments. In electrolysis experiments, lower diffusion coefficients and higher ohmic effects lengthen reaction times at lower temperatures.^{7c}

c. Use of Nonpolar Solvents. The nature of the solvent medium influences the course of ET reactions. In electrochemistry, the use of solvents with polarities significantly less than those of CH_2Cl_2 ($\epsilon = 9$) and THF ($\epsilon = 7$) is quite difficult because the electrolyte salt must dissolve and appreciably dissociate in order to render the solution conducting. Avoiding the requirement of a supporting electrolyte in chemical redox reactions opens opportunities for the use of very low polarity solvents such as pentane and toluene in ET reactions.

Two potential major benefits arise from the use of low-polarity solvents such as aromatic and aliphatic hydrocarbons, one relating to reactivity, the other to solubility. Low-polarity solvents are often relatively noncoordinating and seldom displace ligands from the primary redox product. For this reason, increased chemical stability may often be observed for organometallic complexes in these media.

Rapid precipitation of highly reactive charged products is feasible using nonpolar solvents. A particularly effective use of this strategy arises when both the redox agent and the substrate are soluble in nonpolar solvents; mixing the solutions or allowing them to diffuse together yields a precipitate of the desired species (A⁺ in the case of the oxidation reaction of eq 1). The counterion of the desired species is the redox byproduct, for example, $[CoCp_2]^+$ when cobaltocene is used as a reductant and $[Ni(tfd)_2]^n$ $(n = -1, tfd = [S_2C_2(CF_3)_2]^{2-})$ when the neutral reagent (n = 0) is used as an oxidant.

$$\mathbf{A} + \mathbf{O}\mathbf{x} \rightarrow [\mathbf{A}][\mathbf{Red}] \tag{1}$$

2. Disadvantages of Chemical Redox Agents

When compared with electrochemical methods, chemical redox agents have a number of disadvantages, listed here in anticipation of the discussion of individual reagents in sections II and III.

a. Fixed Redox Strength. This is the greatest limitation of chemical redox agents. A given reagent in a given medium has a fixed formal potential so that a range of reagents is required to provide a range of different redox strengths.

b. Chemical Reagents May Be Noninnocent. In this context, an "innocent" reagent is one which engages exclusively in an outer-sphere ET reaction. Whereas electrodes are among the most benign reagents in synthetic applications, chemical redox agents are more likely to engage in inner-sphere electron-transfer processes and to display coordination tendencies, in addition to leaving a potentially reactive byproduct in solution. The nitrosonium cation [NO]⁺ is, for example, prone toward innersphere ET mechanisms which occasionally result in coordination of the reagent (as NO) to a metal in the oxidizable substrate. Related to the question of reagent innocence is the chemistry of the reagent byproduct in the reaction medium. If Ox is employed as the original redox agent, then the chemistry of Red, the reaction byproduct, must be anticipated or taken into account. The reagent byproduct may have ligating properties, be acidic or basic, or be able to initiate other reactions such as H-atom transfer, causing the desired electron-transfer product to react further.

c. Reagent Byproduct in Reaction Mixture. Even if the reagent byproduct is unreactive, it may still pose difficulties in the spectroscopic characterization and/or isolation of the desired product. Since many applications of chemical redox agents have the purpose of generating spectra of a desired product, the possibility of spectral interference by the reagent byproduct (or the reagent itself) must be considered. Good experimental design anticipates the optical, vibrational, and magnetic resonance spectra of both Ox and Red.

d. Purity and Stability of Reagent. To assure accurate stoichiometry, the degree of purity (*i.e.*, assay) of the redox agent must be known. Furthermore, for reagents which are stored the amount of degradation with time must be known or methods must be available to assay the reagent before reuse.

e. Solubility Compatibility. If homogeneous reactions are desired, the solubilities of the reagent and the substrate must be taken into account.

 Table 1. Formal Potentials (V) for the Ferrocene^{+1/0}

 Couple vs SCE in Selected Electrolytes^a

solvent	[NBu ₄][PF ₆] ^b	[NEt ₄][PF ₆] ^c	[NBu ₄][ClO ₄] ^d
nitromethane	0.35	0.31	0.34
nitrobenzene		0.37	
propylene carbonate	0.38	0.36	0.34
MeČN	0.40	0.38	0.38
DMSO		0.43	0.45
DMF	0.45	0.46	0.47
CH ₂ Cl ₂	0.46		0.48
acetone	0.48	0.46	0.50
glvme	0.51		
THF	0.56		0.53
others			
H ₂ O (0.1 M NaF)	0.16 V ^e		
MeCN (0.2 M Li[ClO ₄])	0.31 V ^f		
	•		

^a Supporting electrolyte concentration, 0.1 M. ^b Data from W. E. Geiger's laboratory, University of Vermont. ^c Chang, J. P.; Fung, E. Y.; Curtis, J. C. *Inorg. Chem.* **1986**, *25*, 4233. ^d Chang, D.; Malinski, T.; Ulman, A.; Kadish, K. M. *Inorg. Chem.* **1984**, *23*, 817. ^e Bond, A. M.; McLennan, E. A.; Stojanovic, R. S.; Thomas, F. G. *Anal. Chem.* **1987**, *59*, 2853. ^f Kuwana, T.; Bublitz, D. E.; Hoh, G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1960**, *82*, 5811.

C. Potentials in Nonaqueous Solvents

Formal potentials, E° , are given in this review vs the ferrocene/ferrocenium couple, as recommended by IUPAC.⁸ In most cases, conversions were required from literature values referenced to other couples. Where a choice was involved, we used conversions from data obtained vs the aqueous saturated calomel electrode (SCE), which is reasonably stable in nonaqueous solutions.⁹ Conversions from the SCE scale to [FeCp₂]^{+/0} were based on values compiled in our laboratories or reported in the literature for different solvents (Table 1). In some cases the conversions were circuitous; the correction parameters are listed for each reagent included in Tables 2 (oxidants) and 3 (reductants). We strongly urge workers to report the ferrocene/ferrocenium potential, vs their chosen *reference electrode*, under the experimental conditions employed.

For most couples, it was judged unnecessary to list formal potentials in more than one solvent. Solventbased variations in $E^{\circ\prime}$ tend to be small for larger, coordinatively saturated, reagents such as $[CoCp_2]$ and $[Fe(bipy)_3]^{3+}$. Potentials of smaller ions such as Ag⁺ or $[NO]^+$, which are more highly affected by solvent, are more fully reported. It is beyond the scope of this review to be generally concerned about the effects of ion pairing on the formal potentials, although occasional comments on this subject are included. The interested reader may consult the original papers and in-depth treatments of solvation and ion pairing associations for discussions of the general trends expected from such interactions.¹⁰

D. Reversible vs Irreversible ET Reagents

Most of the couples of the ET agents listed in Tables 2 and 3 are reversible so that their potentials,

 Table 2. Formal Potentials (V vs Fc) of Selected

 Oxidizing Agents

oxidant	solvent	E°'	correction	ref
$[N(C_6H_2Br_3-2,4,6)_3]^+$	MeCN	1.36	а	228
Ce(IV)	HClO ₄	1.30	b	с
	H ₂ O	0.88	b	с
$[N(C_6H_3Br_2-2,4)_3]^+$	MeCN	1.14	а	228
[WCl ₆]	CH ₂ Cl ₂	<i>ca</i> . 1.1	d	132
[NO] ⁺	CH ₂ Cl ₂	1.00	none	195
[Ru(phen) ₃] ³⁺	MeCN	0.87	e	108
[NO] ⁺	MeCN	0.87	none	195
[thianthrene] ⁺	MeCN	0.86	f	g
$[N(C_6H_4Br-4)_3]^+$	CH_2Cl_2	0.70	d	ĥ
	MeCN	0.67	i	i
[Fe(bipy) ₃] ³⁺	MeCN	0.66	e	111
Ag^+	CH ₂ Cl ₂	0.65	d	63
[Mo(tfd) ₃]	MeCN	0.55	f	k
[IrCl ₄ (PMe ₂ Ph) ₂]	MeCN	<i>ca</i> . 0.5	1	123
$[Fe(\eta-C_5H_4COMe)_2]^+$	CH_2Cl_2	0.49	none	h
[CuTf ₂]	MeCN	0.40	f	88
Ag^+	THF	0.41	m	63
[Ni(tfd) ₂]	CH_2Cl_2	0.33	none	h
$[PtCl_{6}]^{2-}$	H_2O	0.31	b	n
$[Fe(\eta-C_5H_4COMe)Cp]^+$	CH ₂ Cl ₂	0.27	none	h
Ag ⁺	acetone	0.18	0	63
Cl ₂	MeCN	0.18	b	р
DDQ	MeCN	0.13	i	308
Br ₂	MeCN	0.07	b	р
$[N_2C_6H_4NO_2-4]^+$	sulfolane	ca. 0.05	f	\hat{q}
Ag^+	MeCN	0.04	f	6 3
$[C_{3}{C(CN)_{2}_{3}}^{-}$	MeCN	0.03 - 0.06	r	304
[FeCp ₂] ⁺		0.0		
$[N_2C_6H_4F-4]^+$	MeCN	-0.07	f	q
$[CPh_3]^+$	MeCN	-0.11	f	ŝ
I_2	MeCN	-0.14	f	t
TCNE	MeCN	-0.27	f	u
TCNQ	MeCN	-0.30	f	и
$[FeCp*_2]^+$	MeCN	-0.59	none	h
	CH ₂ Cl ₂	-0.48	none	h
$[C_7H_7]^+$	MeCN	-0.65	f	S

^{*a*} Use measured difference from potential of [N(C₆H₄Br-4)₃]⁺ which is 0.70 V vs Fc. ^{*b*} Fc = 0.40 V vs NHE in H₂O. ^{*c*} Smith, G. F.; Getz, C. A. *Ind. Eng. Chem., Anal. Ed.* **1938**, *10*, 191. ^{*d*} Fc = 0.46 V vs SCE (CH₂Cl₂/[NBu₄][PF₆]). ^{*e*} Fc = 0.32 V vs sodium SCE. ^{*i*} Fc = 0.40 V vs SCE (MeCN/[NBu₄][PF₆]). ^{*s*} Hammerich, O.; Parker, V. D. *Electrochim. Acta* **1973**, *18*, 537. ^{*b*} Data from authors' laboratories. ^{*i*} Fc = 0.38 V vs SCE (MeCN/[NEt₄][ClO₄]). ^{*j*} Reynolds, R.; Line, L. L.; Nelson, R. F. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1974**, *96*, 1087. ^{*k*} Davison, A.; Edelstein, N.; Holm, R. H.; Maki, A. H. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1964**, *86*, 2799. ^{*i*} 0.9 V vs Ag/AgCl in MeCN/0.1 M NaClO₄; conversion to Fc approximate. ^{*m*} Fc = 0.56 V vs SCE (THF/[NBu₄][PF₆]). ^{*n*} Kravtsov, V. I.; Simakov, B. V. *Elektrokhimiya* **1966**, *2*, 646. ^{*o*} Fc = 0.48 V vs SCE (acetone/[NBu₄][PF₆]). ^{*p*} Parsons, R. *Handbook of Electrochemical Constants*; Butterworth: London, 1959; p 73. ^{*q*} Elofson, R. M.; Gadallah, F. F. *J. Org. Chem.* **1969**, *34*, 854. ^{*t*} Fc potential uncertair; no supporting electrolyte specified. ^{*s*} Volz, H.; Lotsch, W. *Tetrahedron Letts.* **1969**, 2275. ^{*t*} Nelson, I. V.; Iwamoto, R. T. *J. Electroanal. Chem.* **1964**, *7*, 218. ^{*u*} Gross-Lannert, R.; Kaim, W.; Olbrich-Deussner, B. *Inorg. Chem.* **1990**, *29*, 5046.

and those of the substrate (A), may be used in the Nernst equation to predict the position of the equilibrium in the model redox reaction of eq 2:

$$A + Ox \Rightarrow A^+ + Red \quad K_{eq} = [A^+][Red]/[A][Ox] \quad (2)$$

Completeness of the reaction may be judged by the ratio of $[A^+]$ to [A] when a stoichiometric amount of Ox has been added to a solution of A. Equation 3 describes the relative concentrations of A^+ and A at the stoichiometric equivalence point in terms of the difference in formal potentials of the oxidizing agent,

Table 3. Formal P	otentials (V	vs Fc) o	of Selected
Reducing Agents			

reductant	solvent	$E^{\circ\prime}$	correction	ref
[C ₁₀ H ₈] ⁻	THF	-3.10	а	366b
	glyme	-3.05	а	366b
	ĎMF	-2.95	b	с
Na	THF, glyme	-3.04	а	d
Li	NH ₃	-2.64	е	f
Li(Hg)	H_2O	-2.60	e	g
K	NH_3	-2.38	e	\tilde{f}
Na(Hg)	nonaqueous	-2.36	e	h
[anthracene] ⁻	glyme	-2.47	i	j
$[FeCp^*(\eta - C_6Me_6)]$	dmf	-2.30	b	437
Na	NH_3	-2.25	e	f
[benzophenone] ⁻	THF	-2.30	none	k
-	DMF	-2.17	b	1
[acenaphthalene] ⁻	THF	-2.26	а	366b
-	glyme	-2.17	i	i
$[FeCp(\eta - C_6Me_6)]$	glyme	-2.09	m	402
[CoCp* ₂]	ČH ₂ Cl ₂	-1.94	n	0
-	MeCN	-1.91	р	q
[Fe(CO) ₂ Cp] ⁻	THF, MeCN	<i>ca.</i> –1.8	p, r	448 ,
-		(irr)	-	449
[CoCp ₂]	CH_2Cl_2	-1.33	none	k
	glyme	-1.31	m	404a
$[Cr(\eta - C_6H_6)_2]$	CH_2Cl_2	-1.15	none	8
[FeCp* ₂]	CH_2Cl_2	-0.59	n	q
	MeCN	-0.48	р	s
hydrazine	DMSO	-0.41	- t	357
[FeCp ₂]		0.0		
NEt ₃	MeCN	<i>ca</i> . 0.47	u	393

^a E^ν vs [biphenyl]^{0/-}; [biphenyl]^{0/-} = -2.69 V vs SCE (DMF/ [NBu₄][ClO₄]) (Grzeszczuk, M.; Smith, D. E. J. Electroanal. Chem. **1983**, 157, 205); Fc = 0.45 vs SCE (DMF/[NBu₄][ClO₄]. ^b Fc = 0.45 V vs SCE (DMF/[NBu₄][PF₆]). ^c Aten, A. C; Buthker, C.; Hoijtink, G. J. Trans. Faraday Soc. **1959**, 55, 324. ^d Hoijtink, G. J.; de Boer, E.; van der Meij, P. H.; Weijland, W. P. Recl. Trav. Chim. **1956**, 75, 487. ^e Fc = 0.40 V vs NHE in H₂O. ^f Strehlow, H. The Chemistry of Nonaqueous Solvents; Lagowski, J. J., Ed.; Academic Press: New York, 1966. ^g Lebed, V. I.; Aleksandrov, V. V. Russ. J. Phys. Chem. **1964**, 38, 1414. ^h Balej, J. Electrochim. Acta **1976**, 21, 953. ⁱ E^o' vs Ag⁺/Ag; [Cr(η-C₆H₆)₂]^{+/0} = -1.25 V vs Ag⁺/Ag; Fc = 1.12 V vs [Cr(η-C₆H₆)₂]^{+/0} (ref 8). ^j Dessy, R. E.; King, R. B.; Waldrop, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1966**, 88, 5112. ^k Data from authors' laboratories. ⁱ Jensen, B. S.; Parker, V. D. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. **1974**, 367. ^mFc = 0.51 V vs SCE (glyme/[NBu₄][PF₆]). ⁿFc = 0.46 V vs SCE (CH₂Cl₂/[NBu₄][PF₆]). ^o Koelle, U.; Khouzami, F. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. **1980**, 19, 640. ^p Fc = 0.40 V vs SCE (MeCN/[NBu₄][PF₆]). ^g Gennett, T.; Milner, D. F.; Weaver, M. J. J. Phys. Chem. **1985**, 89, 2787. ^r Fc = 0.56 V vs SCE (THF/[NBu₄][PF₆]). ^g Robbins, J. L.; Edelstein, N.; Spencer, B; Smart, J. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1982**, 104, 1882. ^t Fc = 0.43 V vs SCE (DMSO/[NBu₄][PF₆]). ^u Fc = 0.31 V vs SCE (MeCN/Na[ClO₄]).

Ox, and the substrate, A, where ΔE° (in V) = $E^{\circ}(Ox/Red) - E^{\circ}(A^+/A)$.¹¹

$$\log\{[A^+]/[A]\} = 8.47 \Delta E^{\circ} (at 298 \text{ K})$$
 (3)

This relationship allows one to show that in order to obtain 10:1, 100:1, and 1000:1 ratios of the product (A⁺) to the reactant (A) with a stoichiometric amount of Ox the formal potential of the redox agent must be respectively 0.118, 0.236, and 0.354 V positive of the $E^{\circ'}$ of the substrate.

Quantitative predictions cannot be made if the redox agent undergoes chemically irreversible electron transfer. For reagents of this type, the extent of reaction is not predicted by the Nernst equation. Nevertheless, the irreversible potentials (usually peak potentials from slow cyclic voltammetry experiments) listed in Tables 2 and 3 may be used as approximations of the formal potential. Used in this way, irreversible potentials will generally *underestimate* the completeness of the reaction with a substrate, since follow-up reactions after ET have the effect of favoring the overall conversion of reactants to products.¹² In an irreversible electron-transfer reaction, of course, the kinetics of the reaction ultimately controls the degree of redox conversion.

An example of a useful oxidant undergoing irreversible reduction is that of the family of diazonium ions, which rapidly release N_2 (eq 5) after the initial ET (eq 4), giving an aryl radical subject to further coupling or atom abstraction reactions.

$$[N_2C_6H_4X-4]^+ + e^- \rightleftharpoons N_2C_6H_4X-4 \qquad (4)$$

$$N_2C_6H_4X-4 \rightarrow C_6H_4X-4 + N_2$$
 (5)

When diazonium salts are used as one-electron oxidants (eq 6), therefore, they will behave as *stronger* oxidizing agents than would be predicted by simply using their $E_{\rm pk}$ values as approximations to formal potentials in expressions similar to those of eqs 2 and 3. Other examples will be found throughout the following discussions of the individual reagents.

$$[N_2C_6H_4X-4]^+ + A \rightarrow A^+ + N_2 + aryl by product$$
(6)

It is worthwhile noting that the extent of a redox reaction may also increase when the *substrate*, rather than the redox agent, undergoes chemically irreversible ET. Of course, in this situation the ultimate product of the process will not be the primary (initial) ET product. A well-quantified example of such a reaction, namely the oxidation of xylene by excess Ce-(IV) in acetic acid, has been discussed by Eberson.¹³ Because the formal potential of the [xylene]⁺/xylene couple is 1.0 V positive of that of Ce(IV)/Ce(III), the ET reaction of eq 7 is endergonic by *ca.* 23 kcal/mol, resulting in the *electron-transfer* equilibrium itself being strongly in favor of the reactants:

$$xylene + Ce(IV) \Leftarrow [xylene]^{+} + Ce(III)$$
 (7)

The highly acidic cation, $[xylene]^+$, donates a proton to an adventitious base to start a set of exergonic reactions culminating in the production of (4-methylbenzyl)acetate (eqs 8–10).

$$[xylene]^+ + base \rightarrow MeC_6H_4CH_2 + (base)H^+$$
 (8)

$$MeC_6H_4CH_2 + Ce(IV) \rightleftharpoons [MeC_6H_4CH_2]^+ + Ce(III)$$

(9)

$$[MeC_6H_4CH_2]^+ + HOAc \rightarrow MeC_6H_4CH_2OAc + H^+$$
(10)

A special case of "irreversibility" driving an ET reaction arises when the reaction product precipitates from the reaction solution.

E. Categorization of Reagent Strength

In order to facilitate discussion, we thought it useful to define categories of reagent strength on the

 Table 4. Suggested Categories for Strengths of

 Chemical Redox Agents (V vs Fc)

	oxidants	reductants
very strong	>0.8	<-2.5
strong	0.8-0.2	-1.5 to -2.5
mild	0.2 to -0.5	-0.5 to -1.5
weak	<-0.5	>-0.5

basis of formal potentials. Recognizing that the limits are subjective, we offer the ranges in Table 4 as the basis for discussing a reagent as a weak, mild, strong, or very strong oxidant or reductant.

II. Oxidants

We have chosen to classify the oxidants as "inorganic" or "organic" with further subdivisions according to "type", *i.e.*, according to charge, magnetic state (para- or diamagnetic), etc. There is, of course, some overlap so that nitrosonium and diazonium salts are considered consecutively as "inorganic" oxidants (given their similar behavior in transition metal chemistry) and alkyl halides are considered with the halogens and main group halides and once again, therefore, under "inorganic" oxidants.

Given the order in which they are discussed, we hope the information provided for each oxidant, namely the synthesis, properties (stability, solubility, spectroscopic), methods of handling, oxidizing power, potential complicating reactions, etc., will enable the reader to choose the most appropriate reagent for a given set of experimental conditions.

Before discussing each reagent individually, we would make one general point. Cationic species, usually in conjunction with inert counteranions, are probably the most widely used oxidants in organometallic chemistry. *The authors do not recommend the use of perchlorate salts under any circumstances. Such salts, of the oxidants themselves or of cationic oxidation products formed thereform, may be highly and unpredictably explosive.* Although many of the oxidants to be discussed have been prepared as perchlorates, reliable syntheses of salts with other counteranions are invariably available.

A. Inorganic

1. Metal and Metal Complex Oxidants

a. Cations. *i.* Ferrocenium Salts. The ferrocenium ion, $[FeCp_2]^+$, is a mild one-electron oxidant, usually regarded as an outer-sphere reagent.¹⁴ Because it is readily available and easily handled it is widely used in both stoichiometric reactions and redox catalysis; salts of a variety of counteranions, including $[BF_4]^-$, $[PF_6]^-$, $[SbF_6]^-$, and $[BPh_4]^-$, can be made simply and from cheap precursors. The oxidation potential of the ferrocenium ion can be systematically altered by ring substitution, providing a range of oxidants with $E^{\circ'}$ values varying from -0.63 (for $[Fe(\eta-C_5H_4NMe_2)_2]^{15}$) to 0.64 V (for $[Fe(\eta-C_5H_4CF_3)_2]^{16}$); a table of $E^{\circ'}$ values (*vs* Fc) for various ferrocene derivatives has appeared elsewhere.¹⁷

Ferrocene derivatives with electron-donating substituents are weaker than [FeCp₂]⁺ but may find use with electron-rich substrates. Thus, $[Fe(\eta-C_5H_4R)-(\eta-C_5H_5)]^+$ ($R = Bu^n$, Ph, HgCl, etc.) were employed in kinetic studies of the oxidation of ferrocytochrome c^{14} (and $[FeCp^*_2]^+$ is a useful building block in the synthesis of new magnetic materials¹⁸). As yet, the use of ferrocenium ions with electron-withdrawing substituents (stronger oxidants than $[FeCp_2]^+$) is equally limited; two syntheses employing the acetylferrocenium ion are noted below.

Ferrocenium salts have been prepared by several methods,^{14,19-24} all involving the one-electron oxidation of ferrocene. Surprisingly, full experimental details are not provided in the most widely cited references^{19,20} for the syntheses of $[FeCp_2][PF_6]$ and [FeCp₂][BF₄] (the two most commonly used ferrocenium salts). The first method¹⁹ readily gives a high yield of the [PF₆]⁻ salt and involves FeCl₃ oxidation of ferrocene in aqueous acetone, addition of [NH₄]- $[PF_6]$ to the resulting deep blue solution of the ferrocenium ion, and crystallization of the resulting precipitate from acetone-diethyl ether. Addition of $[NH_4][BF_4]$ does not give a precipitate of $[FeCp_2][BF_4]$ so readily; the alternative synthesis,²⁰ involving the treatment of ferrocene with *p*-benzoquinone in the presence of HBF₄·OEt₂ (aqueous HBF₄ has also been used) provides a more convenient route to this more soluble salt.

These syntheses, detailed in the Appendix, can be used to prepare other ferrocenium salts. The first gives $[FeCp_2][BPh_4]$ on addition of NaBPh₄ to the ferrocenium ion solution²³ (see also ref 22). The second has been used to prepare not only $[FeCp^*_2]$ - $[BF_4]^{25}$ but also the acyl-substituted ferrocenium salts $[Fe(\eta-C_5H_4COMe)Cp][BF_4]$ and $[Fe(\eta-C_5H_4COMe)_2]$ - $[BF_4]^{26}$ which are considerably stronger oxidants than $[FeCp_2]^+$ (Table 2). Note, however, that the reaction of *p*-benzoquinone with $[Fe(\eta-C_5H_4COR)_2]$ [$R = (CH_2)_9$ -Me] resulted in Michael addition and the formation of benzofuranyl-substituted ferrocenes rather than $[Fe(\eta-C_5H_4COR)_2]^+$.²⁶

Ferrocenium ions with electron-withdrawing substituents (*i.e.*, from less readily oxidized ferrocenes) may also be synthesized by other methods. Details of the preparation²⁷ of [Fe(η -C₅H₄COMe)Cp][BF₄] ($E^{\circ'}$ = 0.27 V) from [Fe(η -C₅H₄COMe)Cp] and AgBF₄ in diethyl ether are given in the Appendix, and [Fe(η -C₅Ph₅)₂][BF₄] ($E^{\circ'}$ = *ca.* 0.3 V) can be made from [Fe(η -C₅Ph₅)₂] and [NO][BF₄].²⁸

The crystalline salts [FeCp₂][BF₄], [FeCp₂][PF₆], and [FeCp*2][BF4] are thermally stable, remaining analytically pure (C and H analysis) when stored in air for several months. However, solid $[Fe(\eta-C_5H_4 COMe)Cp[BF_4]$ is moisture-sensitive and slowly deteriorates (over a period of weeks) even when stored in a desiccator. [FeCp₂][BPh₄], used when fluorinated counteranions are undesirable in the final product,²² also slowly decomposes in the solid state in air. It may be stored at -80 °C²⁹ but is best freshly prepared and added to a reaction mixture as a solid. Even then its instability has contributed to the requirement of an excess of the reagent in the oxidatively induced alkyne insertion reaction of the metallacyclobutane complex [Ir(CH₂CHRCH₂)-(PhC≡CPh)Cp*].³⁰ Interestingly, the same reaction does not occur with $[FeCp'_2][BPh_4]$ which is more thermally stable (footnote 16 in ref 22) but a slightly weaker oxidant (by *ca.* 0.1 V).

Ferrocenium ions can be used with a wide range of polar organic solvents, including CH_2Cl_2 ,^{31–34} THF,^{22,35–36} MeOH,³⁷ acetone,³⁸ and MeCN.^{39–41} The solubility of the ferrocenium salt depends on both the solvent and the counteranion. For example, [FeCp₂]- $[BF_4]$ is more soluble than $[FeCp_2][PF_6]$ (which is only poorly soluble in cold CH₂Cl₂); [FeCp₂][BPh₄] is insoluble in most common organic solvents. In many cases, however, the use of a solution of a ferrocenium salt is unnecessary, and the solid oxidant is added directly to a solution of the substrate. Even though the reaction is then heterogeneous, its rate is usually sufficient. Solvent choice is therefore more often governed by the solubility of the substrate or the stability of the product. For example, oxidative substitution of [Co(CO)(PPh₃)Cp] by PPh₃ in THF in the presence of [FeCp₂][PF₆] gives [Co(PPh₃)₂Cp][PF₆] which is unstable in CH₂Cl₂.⁴²

The ferrocenium ion almost invariably behaves as an innocent one-electron oxidant, an observation put to good effect in comparative studies of the oxidative activation of C-H bonds by [CPh₃]⁺ (a noninnocent oxidant) (section II.B.2.a) and [FeCp₂]⁺.⁴³⁻⁴⁵ The byproduct [FeCp₂] is readily removed by washing the product with a nonpolar solvent such as hexane or, if necessary, by sublimation. However, excess ferrocenium salt can be difficult to remove from an ionic product. (The authors have detected the ferrocenium ion in the CV of products deemed pure by elemental analysis!) This problem is usually overcome by strictly adhering to the required stoichiometry or by using a slight deficiency of the oxidant (if the substrate is easily removed from its oxidation product). The need for such careful control is illustrated by the reaction between the tautomeric mixture of $[Rh_2(\mu-NPh)(CO)_2(\mu-dppm)_2]$ and $[Rh_2(\mu-NHPh)(CO)_2(\mu-dppm)_2]$ dppm)(μ -Ph₂PCHPPh₂)] with [FeCp₂][PF₆], the products of which depend not only on stoichiometry but also on the order of addition of the reactants.⁴⁶

The stoichiometry of a reaction can sometimes be monitored by ferrocenium ion "titration". For example, [FeCp₂][PF₆] in MeCN was added dropwise to [RuH(CO)(PMe₃)Cp] until a faint green-blue color persisted; the use of 0.71 equiv of the oxidant was consistent with the observed formation of [RuH- $(PMe_3)(NCMe)_3]^+$, $[Ru_2(\mu-H)(CO)_2(PMe_3)_2Cp_2]^+$, and C_5H_6 in a 1:1:1 ratio. (Other products are formed if $[FeCp_2][PF_6]$ and $[RuH(CO)(PMe_3)Cp]$ are reacted in 1:1 or 2:1 ratios.⁴⁰) The use of such a visual "end point" for titration is, however, somewhat subjective and only applicable if the color of the reaction mixture allows. Quantitative titrations should be possible by optical spectrophotometry; data for a range of ferrocenium salts have been reported (e.g., $[FeCp_2]^+$, $\lambda_{max} = 617$ nm, $\epsilon = 410$).¹⁴

The ferrocenium ion is particularly useful where selective oxidation is required, for example, in the synthesis of mixed-valence products from bi- or polynuclear species such as $[Ru(C=CFc)L_2Cp]^{47}$ and $[Fe_2(\mu-CH=CHCH=CH)(dppe)_2Cp_2]^{48}$ which undergo two reversible, sequential redox processes. Selective oxidation of [Rh(C=CPh)L] (L = np₃ or pp₃) to the

isolable mono- and dications is also accomplished using 1 and 2 equiv of [FeCp₂][PF₆], respectively.⁴⁹

In principle, the reversibility of the $[FeCp_2]^{+/}$ [FeCp₂] couple suggests that the ferrocenium ion can be used only with substrates with formal oxidation potentials negative of 0.0 V. This is the case where the substrate undergoes reversible oxidation (the product distribution is governed by the Nernst equation). However, where this process is irreversible (section I.D), the driving force of the following chemical reaction can lead to oxidation of substrates with E_{ox} more positive than that of the ferrocenium ion. Examples include [Rh(CO){P(OPh)₃}Cp] ($E_{ox} = 0.23$ V) and [Rh(cot)Cp] ($E_{ox} = 0.08$ V), which are oxidatively dimerized to [Rh₂(CO)₂{P(OPh)₃}₂Cp₂]^{2+ 50} and [Rh₂($\eta^5, \eta^{5'}$ -C₁₆H₁₆)Cp₂]^{2+,51} respectively, and [RuH-(CO)(PMe₃)Cp] ($E_{ox} = 0.35$ V) (see above).⁴⁰

A second strategy for the oxidation of less electronrich substrates involves the use of ferrocenium ions with electron-withdrawing substituents. Thus, the addition of 1 equiv of $[Fe(\eta-C_5H_4COMe)Cp]^+$ ($E^{\circ'} =$ 0.27 V) to $[Au\{(NC)Mn(CO)_2\{P(OEt)_3\}(dppm)\}_2]^+$, which is sequentially oxidized in two one-electron steps ($E^{\circ'} = 0.17$ and 0.45 V), selectively affords the mixed-valence dication $[Au\{(NC)Mn(CO)_2\{P(OEt)_3\}-(dppm)\}_2]^{2+}$ whereas $[FeCp_2]^+$ does not react.⁵² Similarly, oxidatively induced reductive elimination is faster and cleaner when $[RuR(C_2Ph)(CO)(PBut_2Me)_2]$ $[R = C_2Ph (E_{ox} = 0.28 V) \text{ or CHCHPh } (E_{ox} = 0.10 V)]$ is treated with $[Fe(\eta-C_5H_4COMe)Cp]^+$ rather than $[FeCp_2]^{+,53}$

The stability of the couple [FeCp₂]⁺/[FeCp₂] suggests the ferrocenium ion as a potential redox catalyst. It has, indeed, found use with readily oxidized organometallic substrates, for example, in carbonyl insertion (e.g., [FeMe(CO)(PPh₃)Cp] to $[Fe(COMe)(CO)(PPh_3)Cp]^{54}$ and $[Fe(\eta-CMe=CMe_2) (CO){P(OPh)_3}Cp$ to $[Fe{\eta-(CO)CMe=CMe_2}(CO) \{P(OPh)_3\}Cp\}^{55}$ and C-H activation (e.g., of $[IrMe_2(PPh_3)Cp^*]$ to $[IrMe(C_6H_4PPh_2)Cp^*]^{56}$. Its relatively low potential has led to little if any use in organic synthesis (cf. $[N(C_6H_4Br-4)_3]^+$, section II.B.1.a), but substituted ferrocenes with electron-withdrawing substituents are attractive as potential mediators of the electron-transfer-catalyzed oxidation of substrates with E° more positive than 0.0 V. The substituted ferrocenium ions themselves need not be isolable; a catalytic cycle would be sustained if the redox couple is reversible and its members are both inert to side reactions.

ii. Silver(I) Salts. Silver(I) salts are among the most widely used one-electron oxidants, particularly with transition metal complexes but also in organic^{1b} and main group chemistry $\{e.g., Ag[AsF_6] \text{ oxidizes}^{57}$ Te $\{N(SiMe_3)_2\}_2$ to the novel Te(III) salt [Te- $\{N(SiMe_3)_2\}_2$][AsF_6] $\}$. However, their behavior is neither straightforward nor entirely predictable. Their strength as oxidants can be misjudged if the marked dependence of oxidation potential on solvent is not appreciated and they can participate in a wide range of other reactions, depending on the nature of the substrate and, in part, on the counteranion.

Silver(I) salts are attractive as one-electron oxidants in that they are commercially available with a wide range of counteranions (*e.g.*, $[PF_6]^-$, $[BF_4]^-$, $[SbF_6]^-, [O_2CCF_3]^-, [O_3SCF_3]^-$ (triflate), etc.). Where a less common anion is demanded by the chemistry following electron transfer, the appropriate silver(I) salt can usually be readily prepared. Thus, for example, Ag[BPh_4] reacts^{22} with [Zr(CH_2Ph)_2Cp_2] to give stable [Zr(CH_2Ph)(NCMe)Cp_2][BPh_4]; related $[PF_6]^-$ salts decompose in solution, with fluorination of the metal center.⁵⁸

Solid silver(I) salts are usually hygroscopic and photosensitive and should therefore be stored in dark, air-free containers. For many purposes, particularly when an excess of the oxidant can be tolerated, the salts can be rapidly weighed in air; for accurate stoichiometric work, or for use with water-sensitive substrates, they are best handled in a glovebag or drybox. A more convenient method to cope with the problem of stoichiometry is to transfer an approximate quantity of the silver salt to a reaction vessel, to dry the contents *in vacuo*, and then to weigh accurately the dried sample. The weight of substrate can then be adjusted to the weight of silver(I) salt taken.

Depending on the counteranion, silver(I) salts may be soluble in a range of organic solvents including CH₂Cl₂, ^{59,60} acetone, ^{61,62} THF, ^{63,64} MeCN, ^{22,58,62,65,66} alcohols,67 and toluene.68-70 Because of their moisture and light sensitivity, solutions of the salts are best used immediately (though it is often preferable to use the solid reactant directly). As with the other cationic oxidants described in this review, the anion is often chosen to be noncoordinating; the most commonly used anions are therefore $[BF_4]^-$ and $[PF_6]^-$. An important point concerning the latter is that in CH₂Cl₂, CHCl₃, or toluene, but not in acetone, MeCN, or THF, hydrolysis of the [PF₆]⁻ anion (in the presence of traces of water) is catalyzed⁷¹ by Ag⁺; byproducts containing species such as $[PO_2F_2]^-$, as ligand or counteranion, have been encountered.^{72,73}

Removal of the byproduct of oxidation by silver(I), namely silver metal, is usually straightforward. For solvents in which the product is soluble, filtration through a filter aid such as Celite or Kieselguhr is advisable; the silver metal may be very finely divided. If a reaction is carried out using toluene solutions of both the silver(I) salt and a neutral precursor, a coprecipitate of silver and the cationic product, as a salt of the silver(I) counteranion, may be deposited. Such a strategy can lead to a very simple isolation procedure in that unreacted starting materials can be removed by washing the coprecipitate with toluene; the desired product can then be separated from the insoluble silver metal using a suitable polar solvent as extractant.⁶⁸

The strength of the silver(I) ion as a one-electron oxidant has been variously described, from mild to strong, but of all the reagents described in this review the formal potential of Ag^+/Ag is the most solvent dependent. The potential for the couple Ag^+/Ag is not simply determined in nonaqueous solvents but estimates are available (Table 5). In CH_2Cl_2 , usually regarded as a noncoordinating solvent, $Ag[PF_6]$ behaves as a strong oxidant, for example, forming the triarylaminium cation $[N(C_6H_4Br-4)_3]^+$ from $N(C_6H_4Br-4)_3$ ($E^{e'} = 0.70$ V). (Note, however, that recent X-ray structural studies⁷⁴ have shown that in the

Table 5. Formal Potentials (V vs Fc) of Ag⁺ and [NO]⁺ Oxidants in Different Solvents

		DIG1 DIG
solvent	$Ag^+/Ag^{a,b}$	$[NO]^+/NO^c$
CH_2Cl_2	0.65	1.00
CH ₃ NO ₂		0.98
DMF	0.49	0.56
H_2O	0.48	
pyridine	0.43	
ŤHF	0.41	
acetone	0.18	
MeCN	0.04	0.87
^a Estimato ^b Ero	m raf 63 ¢ From raf	105

solid state, at least, silver(I) can be chelated by CH₂-Cl₂.) By contrast, the silver(I) ion is almost certainly complexed when dissolved in acetone, acetonitrile {-[Ag(NCMe)₂][EF₆] (E = P, Mo, W, and U) has been isolated,⁷⁵ and commercially available [Ag(NCMe)₄]-[BF₄] has been used⁷⁶ as an oxidant in CH₂Cl₂}, THF, MeOH, and toluene, so that the formal potential is considerably decreased (Table 5). As a qualitative indication of this decrease, Ag[BF₄] is incapable of oxidizing N(C₆H₄Br-4)₃ in toluene, MeCN, or THF; electrochemical studies of Ag[O₂CCF₃] have shown⁶³ that the reduction potential in MeCN is *ca.* -0.6 V more negative than that in CH₂Cl₂.

The solvent dependency of the oxidation potential of Ag(I) can be used to advantage, as in the selective synthesis of the reduced and oxidized forms of the linear trimetallic species [Ag{(NC)Mn(CO)₂{P(OEt)₃}-(dppm)}₂]^{z,52} In CH₂Cl₂, the reaction between *trans*-[Mn(CN)(CO)₂{P(OEt)₃}(dppm)] (E° ' = 0.03 V) and Ag[PF₆] gives the trication [Ag{(NC)Mn(CO)₂-{P(OEt)₃}(dppm)}₂]³⁺, *via* oxidation of the cyanomanganese complex to *trans*-[Mn(CN)(CO)₂{P(OEt)₃}-(dppm)]⁺ followed by N-coordination to silver(I). In toluene the reaction affords the monocation [Ag{(NC)Mn(CO)₂{P(OEt)₃}-(dppm)]⁺ followed by N-coordination to silver(I). In toluene the reaction affords the monocation [Ag{(NC)Mn(CO)₂{P(OEt)₃}-(dppm)}₂]⁺; neither the initial oxidation step nor the oxidation of [Ag{(NC)Mn(CO)₂{P(OEt)₃}-(dppm)}₂]⁺ (E° ' = 0.32 V) occurs.

The solvent-dependent strength of silver(I) is also illustrated by its reactions with $[Cr(CNC_6H_4Me-4)_6]$ (which undergoes three successive one-electron oxidations, at -0.84, -0.15, and $0.64 V^{77}$). Ag[PF₆] in acetone ($E^{\circ'} = 0.18 V$) gave either $[Cr(CNC_6H_4Me-4)_6]^+$ or $[Cr(CNC_6H_4Me-4)_6]^{2+}$, depending on the stoichiometry of the reaction.⁷⁸ Although stronger oxidants ([NO][PF₆] or SbCl₅) were needed to form the related tricationic complexes $[Cr(CNC_6H_3Me_2-2,6)_6]$ - $X_3 (X = [PF_6]^-$ and $[SbCl_6]^-$, respectively),⁷⁹ Ag⁺ salts in CH₂Cl₂ ($E^{\circ'} = ca. 0.65 V$) may be sufficiently strong to oxidize $[Cr(CNC_6H_4Me-4)_6]^{2+}$ to $[Cr(CNC_6H_4Me-4)_6]^{3+}$.

Two complications common to other oxidants can also be encountered in transition metal chemistry. First, the one-electron transfer product will inevitably be more susceptible to nucleophilic attack by donor solvents. Thus $[Os(C_6H_4Me-2)_4]^+$ is stable when formed from $[Os(C_6H_4Me-2)_4]$ and $Ag[BF_4]$ in CH_2Cl_2 but not in THF.⁵⁹ Second, the use of a coordinating counteranion (with the cationic oxidant) can lead to binding to the substrate metal center, as in the reactions of *cis*- $[Mo(CO)_2(bipy)_2]$ with AgX (X = NCS, NO₂, or NO₃).⁶⁶

As well as the various complications noted above, a wide variety of reaction modes other than electron transfer can be observed for the silver(I) ion.⁸⁰ First, silver(I) salts are efficient halide abstraction reagents.^{72,81} Second, they may bind to the oxygen,⁸⁰ sulfur {where the reaction of the thiocarbonyl [W(CO)- $(CS)(dppe)_2$, to give $[Ag\{(\mu-SC)W(CO)(dppe)_2\}_2]^+$, contrasts with the simple oxidation of $[W(CO)_2 (dppe)_2$ to $[W(CO)_2(dppe)_2]^{+ 61}$, or nitrogen⁵² atoms of coordinated ligands. Third, there are now many examples of the formation of Ag-metal bonds;62,82-84 particularly impressive are recent studies⁸⁵ of cluster formation by the sequential condensation of Ag⁺ and $[Fe(CO)_4]^{2-}$ ions, culminating in the one-electron oxidation of $[Ag_{13}{Fe(CO)_4}_8]^{4-}$ to $[Ag_{13}{Fe(CO)_4}_8]^{3-}$. In many of these alternative reaction modes, the substrate is redox-active with a formal potential *negative* of that of silver(I); under the experimental conditions described, coordination is prefered even though one-electron transfer is exergonic.

Coordination rather than oxidation is not always a disadvantage. Thus, Ag[O₂CCF₃] and [Os(CO)₃-(PPh₃)₂] yielded⁶³ the crystalline adduct [(CF₃CO₂)- $AgOs(CO)_3(PPh_3)_2$, the slow decay of which gave the short-lived radical cation [Os(CO)₃(PPh₃)₂]⁺, characterized by ESR spectroscopy. Such adducts may be regarded as silver-stabilized radical cations, a concept exploited⁷⁰ in the redox chemistry of [Rh(CO)(PPh₃)-Cp] [$(E_p)_{ox} = ca. -0.04$ V]. Treatment of this species with $Ag[PF_6]$ in toluene gave the crystallographically characterized salt $[Ag{Rh(CO)(PPh_3)Cp}_2][PF_6]$ which behaved as a stable source of the transient radical cation $[Rh(CO)(PPh_3)Cp]^+$ when reacted with NO or NO₂. The "milder" oxidants $[FeCp_2]^+$ and $[N_2C_6H_4F_-$ 4]⁺ react with [Rh(CO)(PPh₃)Cp] to give the fulvalene complex $[Rh_2(CO)_2(PPh_3)_2(\eta^5, \eta^5-C_{10}H_8)]^{2+}$ by the apparent dimerization of $[Rh(CO)(PPh_3)Cp]^+$.

iii. Copper Salts. Although salts of both Cu(I) and, more usually, Cu(II) have been widely used as oxidants in organic chemistry,⁸⁶ organometallic applications are less common. Nevertheless, the reagents are cheap, commercially available with a large number of simple counteranions, and conveniently used with a wide range of organic solvents. Hydrated salts may be employed if the reactants and products are likely to be inert to water, but anhydrous CuCl₂ is simply made by refluxing CuCl₂·2H₂O with thionyl chloride.^{87,88}

Copper(II) halides (hydrated and anhydrous), nitrate, acetate, etc., induce metal–alkyl bond cleavage in [FeR(CO)₂Cp] in $CH_2Cl_2^{89}$ and in ruthenium analogues in MeCN;⁹⁰ the stoichiometry of such reactions, which involve initial one-electron transfer, is given by eq 11. The identity of the oxidant is

$$MR + 2CuX_2 \rightarrow MX + RX + 2CuX \quad (11)$$

 $[M = Fe(CO)_2Cp \text{ or } Ru(CO)(PPh_3)Cp, X = halide]$

unclear when CuCl₂ reacts with $[M_2(CO)_{10}]$ (M = Mn or Re) in MeCN. In solution, the dichloride rapidly equilibrates with species such as $[CuCl]^+$, Cu^{2+} , $[CuCl_3]^-$, and $[CuCl_4]^{2-}$; the last is certainly not the oxidant and the more positively charged species are favored. Other kinetic studies with $[Mn_2(CO)_{10}]$ were

consistent with $[Cu(triflate)_2]$ as an outer-sphere oxidant. 88

Other anhydrous copper(II) oxidants have been used to activate coordinated hydrocarbons. For example, copper acetate induces the oxidative dimerization of [Re(C=CH)L(NO)Cp*] (L = PPh₃) to [Cp*L-(NO)Re(μ -C=CC=C)ReL(NO)Cp*] (which undergoes further oxidation to [Cp*L(NO)Re(μ -=C=C=C=C=)-ReL(NO)Cp*]²⁺ with Ag⁺)⁹¹ in pyridine and of [Fe-(CCHMe)(dppe)Cp]⁺ to [Cp(dppe)Fe{ μ -C(Me)C(Me)=C-(Me)CMe}Fe(dppe)Cp]²⁺ in methanol.⁹²

Copper(I) salts are weaker oxidants than Cu(II) derivatives but may be useful with more electronrich substrates. Thus, the reaction between copper-(I) iodide and the anionic carbene complex $[Mn{C(OEt)CHR}(CO)_2Cp']^-$ in THF results in oxidative coupling, giving the neutral dicarbene derivative $[Cp'(CO)_2Mn{\mu-C(OEt)CHRCHRC(OEt)}-Mn(CO)_2Cp'];^{93}$ the mixed-metal cluster $[Sb_2Co_4-(CO)_{10}(\mu-CO)]^{2-}$ gives the monoanion $[Sb_2Co_4(CO)_{10}-(\mu-CO)]^-$ with $[Cu(NCMe)_4]^{+,94}$

iv. FeCl₃. Both anhydrous and hydrated FeCl₃ are commercially available, but the former may be made by heating the latter under reflux in thionyl chloride;⁸⁸ further purification can be achieved by vacuum sublimation. Hydrated FeCl₃ induces the oxidative coupling of the carbene and alkyl ligands in [{RhR- $(\mu - \hat{C}H_2)Cp^*_2$ (R = Me, Et, etc.)⁹⁵ but the anhydrous form is normally preferred as the oxidant in organometallic chemistry. The latter is cheap, easily handled (in the absence of moisture), and soluble in organic solvents such as CHCl₃, ethanol, dioxane, and THF; it may also be added as a solid to substrates dissolved in other solvents. However, it is not ideal for the in situ generation of ESR-active species (itself giving rise to a broad signal), and its lability, and those of its reduction products, can lead to the incorporation of chloride. For example, $[M_2(CO)_{10}]$ is oxidized in MeCN to a mixture of [MCl(CO)₅] and [M(NCMe)-(CO)₅]⁺.⁸⁸

In some cases, where the presence of nucleophilic chloride ions is not a problem, the one-(or two-)electron oxidation product can be isolated, for $trans-[W(N_2)_2(PMePh_2)_4][FeCl_4]$ example. from trans- $[W(N_2)_2(PMePh_2)_4]$ in dry ethanol.⁹⁶ Where the final product is neutral, separation from the ionic byproducts is particularly facile. Thus, the anions $[Os_6(CO)_{18}]^{2-}$ (in CH₂Cl₂, with aqueous FeCl₃) and $[{Co(\mu-CO)Cp}_2]^-$ (in THF, very slow addition of FeCl₃ to prevent overoxidation to $[Co(CO)_2Cp]$ give neutral $[Os_6(CO)_{18}]^{97}$ and $[{Co(\mu-CO)Cp}_2],^{98}$ respectively. Similarly, the oxidation of cluster dianions $[M_x(CO)_y]^{2-}$ in the presence of L gives $[M_x(CO)_yL]$ (M = Ru, Os, etc.).⁸⁴

v. Ce^{4+} . The cerium(IV) ion is a strong oxidant, usually used as the stable, commercially available salt $[NH_4]_2[Ce(NO_3)_6]$. It is a well-known reagent for organic oxidations^{1b,99} and is also employed in organometallic chemistry to cleave organic products from metal centers.¹⁰⁰ It may, however, also be used more selectively in the isolation of a wide variety of one-electron oxidation products.

The salt $[NH_4]_2[Ce(NO_3)_6]$ is water-soluble and reacts with *cis*- $[Os(detc)_2(PPh_3)_2]$ to give *trans*-[Os

 $(detc)_2(PPh_3)_2]^+$ in that solvent.¹⁰¹ However, it is also soluble in alcohols, acetone, acetonitrile, etc., and oxidizes $[B_6Cl_6]^{2-}$ (in ethanol) and $[OsCp_2]$ (in MeCN) to $[B_6Cl_6]^{-102}$ and $[Os_2Cp_4]^{2+}$ (the metal–metal bonded dimer of $[OsCp_2]^+$),¹⁰³ respectively. It may also be added as a solid to a solution of a substrate in the less polar organic solvents more generally useful for synthetic and spectroscopic studies of organometal-lics. Thus, **1** gives **2** in THF.¹⁰⁴ Alternatively, the use of $[NBu_4][HSO_4]$ as a phase-transfer catalyst, which facilitates the oxidation of [2,2]paracyclophane to its radical cation in CHCl₃,¹⁰⁵ may also be applicable for organometallic systems.



vi. $[M(L-L)_3]^{3+}$ (L-L = bipy, phen, etc.). Various cationic coordination complexes of chelating aromatic N-donors, namely $[M(L-L)_3]^{3+}$ (M = Cr, Fe, Ru, Os, Co, Ni; L-L = bipy, phen, etc.), can act as one-electron oxidants. Almost invariably, they have been used as their $[ClO_4]^-$ salts. However, once again we underline the fact that this anion is potentially explosive and recommend the anhydrous $[PF_6]^-$ salts, synthetic procedures for which are available.^{106–108} The Ni(IV) salt $[Ni(bipy)_3][AsF_6]_4$ has also been isolated; the tetracation may find use as a very strong oxidant ($E^{\circ'} = 2.06 \text{ V}$).¹⁰⁹

The trications $[M(L-L)_3]^{3+}$ are generally regarded as outer-sphere reagents, ^{88,106,110} their oxidation potentials^{108,111,112} depending mainly on the metal but also varying with the ligand substituents. The nickel complexes are the strongest oxidants,¹¹³ but the iron and cobalt derivatives are the most widely used. Extensive studies have been made of the effects on potential of varying the 4,7-substituents in [Fe- $(phen)_3]^{2+}$. For example, $[Fe{phen(NH_2)_2-4,7}_3]^{2+}$ is oxidized more readily, by ca. 0.9 V, than the parent complex $[Fe(phen)_3]^{2+,114,115}$ The trications $[Fe(phenX_2 (4,7)_3]^{3+}$ constitute an array of oxidants in which the potential is modified systematically from 0.66 V (X = H) to -0.26 V [X = NH(CH₂)₃NH₂]. As yet, they have been largely used as stoichiometric or catalytic electron-transfer oxidants with organic substrates^{112,116,117} although the titanium enolate [TiCl-{OC(H)=CCMes₂)Cp₂] is oxidized to a benzofuran.¹¹⁸ When compared^{115,118} with arylaminium salts (section II.B.1.a), $[Fe(phen)_3]^{3+}$ derivatives are said to be (i) more effective when radical intermediates with relatively high oxidation potentials need to be oxidized in slow ET reactions, 116 (ii) as efficient in stoichiometric reactions when the radical intermediates are easily oxidized,117 but (iii) worse in cation radical chain processes since back electron transfer from [Fe- $(phen)_3$ ²⁺ is slower than that with triarylamines.¹¹²

Most studies involving the oxidation of organometallic compounds by $[M(L-L)_3]^{3+}$ have been mecha-

nistic, for example, the cleavage of main group metal-alkyl bonds^{108,111} and the oxidation of $[Mn(CO)_5L]^-$ (L = CO or phosphine).¹⁰⁶ However, $[Ru_3H_3(\mu_3-CX)(CO)_{9-n}L_n]$ (*e.g.*, X = OMe, L = PPh₃, n = 2 or 3) is oxidized to the monocation by [Fe-(phen)₃]³⁺.¹¹⁰

b. Anionic Complexes [IrCl₆]^{2–} and [PtCl₆]^{2–}. The hexachloroiridate(IV) dianion [IrCl₆]^{2–} ($\lambda_{max} = 487$ nm, $\epsilon = 4060$), usually as the commercially available sodium or potassium salt,¹¹⁹ has been extensively used as an outer-sphere, one-electron oxidant in mechanistic studies of the cleavage of metal–alkyl bonds.¹²⁰ For example, the oxidation of [PtR₂(PMe₂Ph)₂] occurs by initial one-electron transfer, though \mathcal{Z} equiv of oxidant are required for complete reaction.¹²¹ Surprisingly, [IrCl₆]^{2–} does not oxidize [M₂(CO)₁₀] (M = Mn or Re) in MeCN even though the potentials are thermodynamically favorable, an observation ascribed by the authors to the high electrostatic barrier to electron transfer presented by the dianionic charge.^{88,122}

For synthetic purposes it has been less widely used, though in moist MeCN Na₂[IrCl₆] induces the oxidative coupling of the methyl and carbene groups of [{RhMe(μ -CH₂)Cp*}₂] to give propene.⁹⁵ However, as a rare example of a dianionic oxidant it may prove useful in the isolation of salts where the high positive charge of the oxidized product would be balanced by the high negative charge of the Ir(III) counteranion; when used in MeCN (or aqueous solutions), the reduction products are normally [IrCl₆]³⁻ and/or [IrCl₅(NCMe)]²⁻.

The oxidizing ability of the Ir(IV) center may by altered by varying the ligands, as in *trans*-[IrCl₄(PMe₂-Ph)₂] ($E^{\circ'} = ca. 0.5$ V). This neutral oxidant provides an interesting alternative to [IrCl₆]²⁻ in being soluble in much less polar solvents. It has therefore been used in benzene to oxidize neutral substrates such as [MCp₂] (M = Fe and Ni), the salts [MCp₂]-[IrCl₄(PMe₂Ph)₂] precipitating directly from the reaction mixture. However, the "inert" anion [IrCl₄(PMe₂Ph)₂] can act as a nucleophile; the chloro-bridged Ir(III) complex[(PhMe₂P)₂Cl₂Ir(μ -Cl)₂Pt(PPh₃)₂]⁺ is formed with [Pt(η -C₂H₄)(PPh₃)₂].¹²³

The Pt(IV) complex $[PtCl_6]^{2-}$ also provides a potentially interesting variation to $[IrCl_6]^{2-}$ in reacting with Zeise's salt, $[PtCl_3(\eta-C_2H_4)]^-$, as an inner-sphere two-electron oxidant.¹²⁴

c. Neutral Compounds. Neutral metal complex oxidants are uncommon yet potentially extremely useful for the synthesis of charged products in nonpolar, and non-nucleophilic, solvents; mixing stoichiometric quantities of oxidant and substrate in, for example, hexane or toluene should, in principle, lead to the deposition of near-quantitative yields of the electron-transfer salt.

i. $[Ni(tfd)_2]$ and $[Mo(tfd)_3]$. The neutral dithiolene complexes $[Ni(tfd)_2]$ (**3**) and $[Mo(tfd)_3]$ are strong oneelectron oxidants, simply prepared in very high yield from $S_2C_2(CF_3)_2$ and either $[Ni(CO)_4]^{125}$ or $[Mo-(CO)_6]$.¹²⁶ That these oxidants have not been widely used may stem from the unattractive synthesis of $S_2C_2(CF_3)_2$ and the involvement of $[Ni(CO)_4]$ (*highly* *toxic*) in the preparation of the nickel compound. Nevertheless, their wider use should be considered.



The crystalline solids are thermally stable in dry air for many years but slowly react with water and should be stored and used under dry conditions. They are soluble in nonpolar solvents and, if necessary, can be repurified by recrystallization from dry benzene ([Ni(tfd)₂]; the use of toluene is to be preferred)¹²⁵ or by continuous (Soxhlet) extraction using pentane ([Mo(tfd)₃]);¹²⁶ the nickel complex is very soluble in CH₂Cl₂, ensuring homogeneous electrontransfer reactions even at low temperatures.

The products of reduction of $[Ni(tfd)_2]$ and $[Mo(tfd)_3]$, namely the monoanions $[Ni(tfd)_2]^-$ and $[Mo(tfd)_3]^-$, are inert and unlikely to ion-pair with one-electron oxidation products in solution, even in solvents of low polarity. Thus, the oxidation of $[Cr_2-(CO)_6(\mu-\eta^6,\eta^{6'}-L)]$ (L = biphenyl derivative **4**) gave



 $[Cr_2(CO)_6(\mu-\eta^6,\eta^{6'}-L)]^+$ whose mixed-valence behavior was interpreted with the knowledge that the anion would not influence the spectroscopic (IR and ESR) properties of the monocation.¹²⁷ The reaction of [Mo-(tfd)₃] with $[M_4(\mu_4-E)_4(\eta-C_5H_4R)_4]$ (M = Cr, E = S or Se, R = Me; M = Mo, E = S or Se, R = Prⁱ) in toluene similarly gave the charge-transfer salts [Mo(tfd)₃][M₄- $(\mu_4-E)_4(\eta-C_5H_4R)_4$] and [Mo(tfd)₃]₂[Mo₄(μ_4 -S)₄(η -C₅H₄-Prⁱ)₄].⁹⁷

ii. Transition Metal Hexahalides. High-valent transition metal (d- and f-block) fluorides such as MF_6 (M = Mo or W), UF₆, etc., were recommended as one-electron oxidants by Olah in a review¹²⁸ of new reagents for organic synthesis. Though such reagents have the advantages of ready availability and solubility in organic solvents such as CHCl₃, CH₂Cl₂, and THF, they are hydrolyzed, giving HF, and must be used under rigorously dry conditions. As yet, therefore, they have not been widely used as oneelectron oxidants in organometallic chemistry although $[MCl_2Cp_2]$ (M = Mo or W) and $[WF_6]$ in SO₂ give [MoCl₂Cp₂][WF₆]¹²⁹ and a mixture of [WCl₂- $Cp_2]_2[W_4F_{18}]$ and $[WCl_2Cp_2][WF_6]_2$, respectively;¹³⁰ $[Ag(NCMe)_2][EF_6]$ can be prepared by oxidizing Ag metal with EF_6 (E = Mo,W, or U).⁷⁵

The hexachlorides, also strong oxidants (*e.g.*, E° ' = *ca*. 1.1 V for [WCl₆]^{131,132}), are easier to handle in conventional glassware; WCl₆ oxidizes [N(C₆H₄Br-4)₃] to [N(C₆H₄Br-4)₃][WCl₆] (section II.B.1.a) and, in the presence of acetic acid and MOAc (M = Na or K), acetoxylates aromatics *via* arene radical cations¹³² (though chlorination reactions can interfere).

2. Main Group Oxidants

a. Halogens and Halides. *i.* Halogens. The halogens Cl_2 , Br_2 , and I_2 (fluorine may be disregarded as a convenient one-electron oxidant) are readily available, cheap, and easily purified oxidants soluble in a wide variety of organic solvents. Although the differences in formal potentials for the couple of eq 12 are over 0.8 V in aqueous media, the reported potentials span a difference of only about 0.3 V in MeCN (Cl, 0.18 V; Br, 0.07 V; I, -0.14 V). Significant differences are observed, however, in the ET reactivity of the halogens. For example, bromine oxidizes $N(C_6H_4R-4)_3$ (R = Me or OMe) to the corresponding arylaminium cations $[N(C_6H_4R-4)_3]^+$ whereas elec-

$$X_2 + 2e^- \rightleftharpoons 2X^- \tag{12}$$

trophilic substitution is observed with chlorine. Iodine is insufficiently strong to oxidize such amines,¹³³ unless used in conjunction with a silver(I) salt (see section II.A.1.a.ii), but does effect the one-electron oxidation of both $\text{Li}[N(\text{PPh}_2)_2]$ and $\text{Li}[\text{HC}(\text{PPh}_2)_2]$, leading to P–P and P–C coupling, respectively.¹³⁴

The solubility of halogens in nonpolar solvents such as toluene and hexane leads to simple synthetic methods for the isolation of pure organometallic oxidation products. For example, the reaction of neutral $[Mo(\eta^5-C_7H_9)(\eta-C_7H_7)]$ with half an equivalent of iodine in toluene gives a precipitate of ionic [Mo- $(\eta^5-C_7H_9)(\eta-C_7H_7)$]I which yields solid [Mo($\eta^5-C_7H_9$)- $(\eta$ -C₇H₇)][PF₆] when dissolved in water and treated with [NH₄][PF₆];¹³⁵ a similar strategy was adopted for the synthesis of [Mo(dmpe)₃][PF₆].¹³⁶ The iodides themselves may be characterized, but the possible formation of $[I_3]^-$ salts should be borne in mind, as in $[Co_2(\mu-MeC \equiv CMe)(\mu-dppm)_2(CO)_2][I_3]$.²³ Moreover, both I⁻ and [I₃]⁻ salts, for example, [Ti(η^4 -cot)-Cp]I and $[Ti(\eta^4-cot)Cp][I_3]$,¹³⁷ may be isolable (separately or as a mixture) depending on the initial stoichiometry of the reactants. Anionic precursors may also be conveniently oxidized in nonpolar solvents. Thus, the addition of I_2 to a suspension of $[NEt_4]_2[M(SPh)_4\{Mo(CO)_4\}_2]$ in toluene gives solid [NEt₄]I and a solution of pure $[M(SPh)_4 \{Mo(CO)_4\}_2]$ $(M = Fe \text{ or } Co).^{138}$

More robust, but less electron-rich, substrates may be oxidized successfully with chlorine or bromine; for example, $[Pt(\sigma-C_6Cl_5)_4]^{2-}$ ($E^{\circ\prime} = 0.07$ V) in CH₂Cl₂ gives $[Pt(\sigma-C_6Cl_5)_4]^{-139}$ with either halogen in CCl₄. The monoanion can be further oxidized¹⁴⁰ to $[Pt(\sigma-C_6Cl_5)_4]$ [(E_p)_{ox} = 1.4 V] by an excess of chlorine in the presence of AlCl₃ (as halogen carrier¹⁴¹) in CH₂-Cl₂-CCl₄. Interestingly, $[PtPhCl_3(PEt_3)_2]$ in MeNO₂ is inert to chlorine, but addition of AlCl₃ leads to chlorination of the coordinated aryl ring by electrophilic substitution.¹⁴²

Reactions competing with simple electron transfer are common. The halogens not only act as electrophiles but the halides, formed on halogen reduction, may behave as nucleophiles. Thus, the oxidative addition of I₂ to $[Fe(CO)_3(PPh_3)_2]$, to give $[FeI(CO)_3-(PPh_3)_2]^+$, involves one-electron oxidation and coordination of I and/or I^{-.143} Metal–alkyl bonds are frequently cleaved, giving metal and alkyl halides, as in the halogenation of $[FeR(CO)_2Cp].^{144}$ *ii.* Alkyl Halides and Other Alkylating Agents. Alkyl halides are weak one-electron oxidants, reacting according to eqs 13 and 14; electron-rich sub-

$$\mathbf{A} + \mathbf{R}\mathbf{X} = \mathbf{A}^+ + [\mathbf{R}\mathbf{X}]^- \tag{13}$$

$$[\mathbf{R}\mathbf{X}]^{-} = \mathbf{R} + \mathbf{X}^{-} \tag{14}$$

strates such as $[Cr(\eta\text{-arene})_2]$ and $[Mo(dmpe)_3]$ give the corresponding monocations $[Cr(\eta\text{-arene})_2]^{+145}$ and $[Mo(dmpe)_3]^+$ (with MeI¹³⁶), respectively. The formation of the radical, R, as a byproduct can result in coupling reactions, as in the formation of both [Co- $(\eta^4\text{-}C_5C_5R)$ Cp] and [CoCp₂]X from [CoCp₂] and RX.¹⁴⁶

The formation of inert C_2Cl_4 as a byproduct (eq 15), rather than alkyl radicals, makes C_2Cl_6 interesting as an alternative to alkyl halide oxidants, as in the oxidation of $[CoCp_2]$ to $[CoCp_2]^+$.¹⁴⁷ In common with the alkyl halides, however, the halide ion byproduct may act as a nucleophile toward the oxidation product so that, for example, $[{CoClcp^*}_2]$ is cleanly oxidized to $[{CoCl_2Cp^*}_2]$.¹⁴⁸

$$2A + C_2 Cl_6 = 2A^+ + C_2 Cl_4 + 2Cl^-$$
(15)

Other alkylating agents may also act as oneelectron oxidants. Thus, $[OEt_3][BF_4]$ and $MeSO_3F$ react with $[MoCl_2(dppe)_2]$ in CH_2Cl_2 to give $[MoCl_2(dppe)_2]X$ (X = $[BF_4]^-$ and $[SO_3F]^-$, respectively), and $[ReCl(CO)_3(PPh_3)_2]$ is similarly oxidized to $[ReCl-(CO)_3(PPh_3)_2][BF_4]$.¹⁴⁹

iii. AlCl₃. AlCl₃ is a strong oxidant in CH₂Cl₂ with an oxidation potential estimated to be ca. 1.1 V.¹⁵⁰ However, the mechanism by which it acts is still far from clear, and the identity of the actual oxidant $\{AlCl_3 \text{ itself, the cation } [AlCl_2]^+ \text{ (formed by autoion-}$ ization of AlCl₃ to [AlCl₂][AlCl₄]), or a carbocation such as [CH₂Cl]⁺ (a product of halide abstraction from CH_2Cl_2 , is unknown.^{151,152} (Indeed, AlCl₃ can function as a reducing agent, for example, toward phenanthrenequinone in THF or glyme!¹⁵²) Nevertheless, it has been widely used to generate cation radicals for ESR spectroscopic studies, mainly from main group organometallics in CH₂Cl₂^{150,153} but also of *p*-dialkoxybenzenes in MeNO₂.¹⁵⁴ In spite of the high sensitivity of AlCl₃ toward water, and the consequent formation of HCl, the highly purified reagent does not seem to be necessary for the acquisition of ESR spectra in CH₂Cl₂.¹⁵⁵ However, it may be purified by vacuum sublimation; it is also commercially available as a 1.0 M solution in PhNO₂, packed under N₂.

Synthetic applications have been far fewer than spectroscopic studies. However, [thianthrene]^{+ 156} and a diazasilacylopentene radical cation¹⁵⁷ have been isolated and structurally characterized as [AlCl₄]⁻ salts. Moreover, a mixture of AlCl₃ and Cl₂ (but not chlorine alone) (section II.A.2.a.iii) oxidizes [Pt(σ -C₆-Cl₅)₄]⁻ to [Pt(σ -C₆Cl₅)₄] in CH₂Cl₂-CCl₄¹⁴⁰ (and note that TlCl₃ has been used to oxidize [Pt(σ -C₆Cl₅)₄]²⁻ to [Pt(σ -C₆Cl₅)₄]⁻).¹³⁹

iv. Arsenic and Antimony Pentahalides. The Group 15 pentahalides EX_5 (E = As, X = F; E = Sb, X = F or Cl) are strong oxidants (as well as halogenating agents and halide ion acceptors). They are volatile (AsF₅ is a gas at room temperature and pressure,

SbX₅ are liquids) and moisture-sensitive and must be stored and used in dry conditions (the fluorides give HF with H₂O). Though reactive toward water and other protic solvents such as alcohols, the pentahalides are soluble and stable in solvents such as CH_2Cl_2 and $CHCl_3$. Electron transfer occurs according to eq 16 though other complex counteranions may appear in isolated salts (see below). If used, the toxicity of arsenic and antimony should be considered.

$$3\mathrm{EX}_5 + 2\mathrm{e}^- \rightleftharpoons 2[\mathrm{EX}_6]^- + \mathrm{EX}_3 \tag{16}$$

Of the pentahalides, SbCl₅ has been most widely used. When added as a solution in CH_2Cl_2 to $N(C_6H_4$ -Br-4)3 or thianthrene in the same solvent, simple oneelectron transfer results and the radical cation salts $[N(C_6H_4Br-4)_3][SbCl_6]$ (section II.B.1.a) and [thianthrene [[SbCl₆] (section II.B.1.b) are isolable; aromatic cation radicals (e.g., of perylene, anthracene, etc.) have been generated in the same way for ESR spectroscopic studies, aided by the formation of only diamagnetic reduction byproducts.¹⁵⁸ Organometallic complexes can also undergo one-electron transfer, although subsequent halogenation is common, as in the reaction with $[M(CO)_3(\eta - C_6Me_6)]$ (M = Mo and W) to give $[MCl(CO)_3(\eta - C_6Me_6)][SbCl_6]$;¹⁵⁹ the metalhalide bonds probably result from the reaction between the products of one-electron transfer in that $[EX_6]^-$ is a labile source of nucleophilic chloride anions. Moreover, SbCl5 itself can bind, as a Lewis acid, to the oxidation product. Thus, cis-[Mn(CN)- $(CO)_{2}\{P(OEt)_{3}\}(dppm)$ reacts with SbCl₅ in CH₂Cl₂ to give the Mn(II) derivative trans-[Mn(CNSbCl₅)- $(CO)_{2}{P(OEt)_{3}}(dppm)][SbCl_{6}].^{160}$

Further complications can arise because the antimony-containing reaction products may themselves be oxidants (eq 17), albeit much weaker than EX₅.

$$[SbCl_6]^- + 2e^- \rightleftharpoons [SbCl_4]^- + 2Cl^- \qquad (17)$$

For example, $[SbCl_6]^-$ oxidizes ferrocene, I^- , and aromatic amines.¹⁶¹ Moreover, this type of reaction, and the lability of $[EX_6]^-$, may give rise to unexpected counteranions such as $[SbCl_4]^-$ and $[Sb_2Cl_8]^{2-}$; the latter is found in $[Mo_2(\mu-Cl)(\mu-C_8Me_8)Cp_2]_2[Sb_2Cl_8]$, the product of the oxidation of $[Mo_2(\mu-C_8Me_8)Cp_2]$ with $[NPr^i_4][SbCl_6]$.¹⁶²

The pentafluorides, EF₅, are more difficult to handle (in part because of the formation of HF with water) but are stronger oxidants than the chlorides (SbF₅ will oxidize the less electron-rich triarylamines unaffected by SbCl₅, section II.A.2.a.iii) and are less likely to give rise to halogenated byproducts. Accordingly, distillation of EF_5 (E = As and Sb) onto solutions of $[MX_2Cp_2]$ (X = Cl, M = V,^{163,164} Nb,¹⁶⁴ Mo, and W;¹⁶⁵ X = Me, M = Nb and Mo¹⁶⁶) in liquid SO₂ at low temperatures gives high-valent, one- or two-electron oxidation products such as [VCl₂Cp₂]- $[AsF_6]$ and $[MoMe_2Cp_2]^{2+}$. It is noteworthy that [VCl₂Cp₂] and Ag[SbF₆] yield [V(SbF₆)₂Cp₂] and AgCl, *i.e.*, that chloride abstraction occurs with Ag⁺ even though oxidation is favored, and observed, with AsF₅.¹⁶⁴ Moreover, the reaction between [ReCl₂- Cp_2 Cl with a mixture of Ag[SbF₆] and SbF₅ gives [ReCl₂Cp₂][SbF₆]₃ via abstraction of the chloride counteranion with $Ag^{\scriptscriptstyle +}$ and oxidation by the pentafluoride. 167

b. Nitrosonium, [NO]⁺, Salts. The use of nitrosonium salts as strong one-electron oxidants in organic^{129,168} and inorganic chemistry^{169–171} has been briefly reviewed, but they are noninnocent and can participate in a wide range of alternative reactions.

The most commonly used nitrosonium salts, namely $[NO][BF_4]$, $[NO][PF_6]$, and $[NO][SbF_6]$, are commercially available as 95–98% pure solids; a simple laboratory preparation of $[NO][BF_4]$, from amyl nitrite, aqueous HBF₄, and propionic anhydride, is given in ref 172. Many other salts can also be made,^{169,173} for example, $[NO][SbCl_6]$ (from the reaction of NOCl with SbCl₅) and $[NO][AsF_6]$ (by anion exchange between $[NO][SbCl_6]$ and $[NBu^n_4][AsF_6]$).¹⁷⁴

The salts $[NO][BF_4]$ and $[NO][PF_6]$ can be purified by vacuum sublimation (at ca. 0.01 mmHg and 220-250 °C^{169,175}), by washing with ethyl acetate or pumping *in vacuo* over P_2O_5 ,¹⁶⁹ or by recrystallization from MeCN at -20 °C ([NO][BF₄]^{174,176}). They are very moisture-sensitive, decomposing in damp air to give NO₂, etc., and are normally stored in plastic containers; glass is attacked by the corrosive byproducts of decomposition. The bottled salts are best stored in a glovebox or glovebag though they can be kept in a desiccator with the bottle filled with nitrogen or argon after sample removal. We have obtained high product yields from routine syntheses by simply weighing [NO][BF₄] or [NO][PF₆] rapidly in air and adding the solid reagent to the substrate dissolved in a dry and deoxygenated solvent. However, the method outlined in section II.A.1.a.ii (for weighing silver salts) is preferable for stoichiometric reactions, and weighing the reagent in an inert atmosphere or glovebox is recommended when more rigorously dry conditions are required.

Nitrosonium salts are soluble, and stable, in dry MeCN, MeNO₂, or liquid SO₂ but react with diethyl ether, acetone, or THF. They are usually insoluble in CH₂Cl₂ (*e.g.*, [NO][BF₄] and [NO][PF₆]), but [NO]-[BF₄] does dissolve in the presence of 18-crown-6. They are insoluble in arenes, but the brown charge transfer adduct [(NO)⁺(C₆Me₆)] is formed on addition of C₆Me₆ to a suspension of [NO][BF₄] in CH₂Cl₂.¹⁷⁶ Such adducts can be crystallized from CH₂Cl₂ or SO₂ and structurally characterized (*e.g.*, [(NO)⁺(C₆H₃-Me₃)][SbCl₆]);^{174,177} they are weaker oxidants than the uncomplexed [NO]⁺ ion.¹⁷⁶

Nitrosonium salts also dissolve in methanol, forming an equilibrium mixture (eq 18). The use of an alcohol as a solvent, therefore, may lead to protonation rather than one-electron oxidation (though the observation of the formation of $[Cr(CO)_2(PhC \equiv CPh)-(\eta-C_6Me_6)]^+$ from $[Cr(CO)_2(PhC \equiv CPh)(\eta-C_6Me_6)]$ and $[NO]^+$ in a mixture of MeOH and toluene¹⁷⁸ was the key to the entry of one of us into the field of "organometallic electrochemistry"!).

$$[NO]^+ + MeOH \Rightarrow H^+ + MeONO$$
 (18)

The nitrosonium ion is a strong oxidant {*e.g.*, it oxidizes $[N(C_6H_4Br-4)_3]$ ($E^{\circ\prime} = 0.70$ V) to $[N(C_6H_4Br-4)_3]^+$, section II.B.1.a)}. Reactions with both inorganic and organic substrates, giving good yields of one-electron oxidation products, have been carried

out in SO₂ ([MoCl₂Cp₂]¹²⁹) or, more commonly, in MeCN {octamethylbiphenylene,¹⁷⁴ [Re₂Cl₅-(PMePh₂)₃],¹⁷⁹ *cis*- and *trans*-[Ta₆Cl₁₄(PEt₃)₄] (to both the mono- and dications),¹⁸⁰ dithioethers,¹⁷⁵ and aromatic heterocycles such as phenothiazine and phenoxazines¹⁸¹}. Oxidations have also been carried out by addition of a solid salt to a solution of the second reactant, in acetone (a good yield of [Cr(NO)-(CNBu⁺)₄(PBuⁿ₃)]⁺ was obtained¹⁸² despite the reactivity of [NO]⁺ toward this solvent^{169,171}), in a mixture of CH₂Cl₂ and MeCN,¹⁸³ and, most usually, in CH₂-Cl₂ {*e.g.*, [Mn(CO)(CNBu⁺)(dppm)₂]⁺,¹⁸⁴ [Ru(CO)₂-(PPh₃){P(OPh)₃}(*o*-C₆Cl₄)],¹⁸⁵ [Fe(η -C₅Ph₅)₂],¹⁸⁶ a thiophene-based polymer,¹⁸⁷ [Ru(Mes)₄]⁺,¹⁸⁸ and [Re₂(μ -Cl)₂Cl₄(dppm)₂]¹⁸⁹}.

The formation and ready removal of a gaseous byproduct (*i.e.*, NO) in the reaction of [NO]⁺ with an oxidizable substrate provides an advantage over other strong oxidants. However, where there is the possibility of competition between oxidation and an alternative pathway, successful product isolation may depend on the efficiency with which NO is removed from the reaction mixture, in the synthesis of radical cations from aromatic heterocycles,¹⁸¹ for example (and see below). Moreover, in the presence of air, the formation of NO₂, [NO₃]⁻, etc., may result in the isolation of other products. For example, in the absence of air [NO][PF₆] and [Re₂(μ -S)(μ -Cl)Cl₃(CS)- $(dppm)_2$ give the monocation $[Re_2(\mu-S)(\mu-Cl)Cl_3(CS) (dppm)_2]^+$, ¹⁹⁰ but in the presence of air NO₂ is formed and $[\text{Re}_2(\mu-\text{SO}_2)(\mu-\text{Cl})Cl_3(\text{CS})(\text{dppm})_2]$ results (even with catalytic amounts of $[NO]^{+191}$).

The nitrosonium ion is far from an innocent oxidant and will often react via other pathways, even with easily oxidized substrates.¹⁷⁰ In transition metal chemistry the most common alternative reaction product is a nitrosyl complex. For example, fac- or *mer*-[MnBr(CO)₃(PMe₃)₂] is oxidized by $[NO]^+$ to fac- $[MnBr(CO)_3(PMe_3)_2]^+$ whereas the more electron-rich complex [MnBr(CO){P(OMe)₃}₄] yields [Mn(CO)(NO)- $\{P(OMe)_3\}_4]^{2+;192}$ [Fe(CO)₃(PPh₃)₂] ($E^{\circ} = -0.06$ V) (easily oxidizable by [NO]⁺) undergoes only substitution to $[Fe(CO)_2(NO)(PPh_3)_2]^+$.¹⁴³ Studies of the reaction between $[Cr(CO)_4(L-L)]$ (L-L = dppm or dppe) and [NO]⁺ showed¹⁹³ that either oxidation to [Cr- $(CO)_4(L-L)]^+$ or substitution to $[Cr(CO)_3(NO)(L-L)]^+$ could occur, depending on the efficiency with which NO gas was purged from the reaction mixture. These, and earlier,¹⁹⁴ observations led us to postulate a general mechanism for the reaction of transition metal complex $[ML_x]$ with $[NO]^+$ (Scheme 1). The equilibrium involving $[M(NO)L_x]^+$, effectively an inner-sphere intermediate, tends toward the formation of $[ML_x]^+$ if NO is efficiently removed from the reaction medium; nitrosyl complex formation is favored by conditions under which the concentration

Scheme 1

of NO is maximized. (Indeed, the reaction of an oxidized complex, formally a radical, with NO gas provides another route to nitrosyl complexes; [Cr-(CO)₄(dppe)]⁺ and NO give [Cr(CO)₃(NO)(dppe)]⁺.) Thus, whether oxidation or nitrosyl complex formation occurs does not depend simply on the relative redox potentials of [ML_x] and [NO]⁺ but, in addition, on other factors such as the steric and electronic requirements of the metal and ligands in [M(NO)-L_x]⁺ and [ML_x]. (Similar comments apply to the oxidation or nitrosation of electron-rich aromatics such as thianthrene.¹⁸¹)

The nitrosonium ion is also believed to function as an inner-sphere oxidant in organic chemistry,^{168,195} but where one electron-transfer products are observed, intermediates equivalent to $[M(NO)L_x]^+$ are less easily verified. However, the recent observation of the formation of R₂NNO (and probably $[R_2N=S]^+$) in the reaction between R₂NSNR₂ (R₂N = piperidine or 9-azabicyclo[3.3.1]nonane) and $[NO][PF_6]$, but of $[R_2NSNR_2]^+$ with $[N(C_6H_4Br-p)_3]^+$, is good evidence for an inner-sphere process with $[NO]^+$.¹⁹⁶

The solvent can also have a marked effect on the outcome of a reaction involving the nitrosonium ion. The formal potential of $[NO]^+$ is highly solvent dependent, spanning a range of almost 0.5 V (Table 5). Moreover, in acetonitrile halide substitution, as in the formation of $[V(NCMe)_2Cp_2]^{2+}$ from $[VCl_2Cp_2]$, or solvent addition, as in the formation of [Mn- $(NCMe)(CO)_5]^+$ from $[Mn_2(CO)_{10}]$,¹⁷⁰ can occur. The dependence of reaction pathway on solvent is, however, much more marked in alcohols. As mentioned above, oxidation can occur in MeOH-toluene mixtures. However, the equilibrium shown in eq 18 is more likely to lead to protonation, as in the formation of [IrH(CO)(PPh₃)Cp]⁺ from [Ir(CO)(PPh₃)Cp].¹⁷⁰ More irritating, however, is the observation of protonation in apparently dry solvents (due to the formation of H^+ from $[NO]^+$ and water). The one-electron oxidation of [Mn(CN)(CO)₂{P(OPh)₃}₂(dppm)] can be accomplished using $[N(C_6H_4Br-p)_3]^+$, but $[NO]^+$ gives trans- $[Mn(CNH)(CO)_2\{P(OPh)_3\}_2(dppm)]^{2+}, ^{197}$ underlining the importance of using dry conditions.

c. Arenediazonium Ions, $[N_2aryl]^+$. Arenediazonium ions, $[N_2aryl]^+$, play an important role in organic synthesis, ¹⁹⁸ particularly in metal-catalyzed processes. ¹⁹⁹ Many such processes appear to involve initial oxidation, as in eqs 19 and 20, though the mechanism of electron-transfer remains controversial. Inner-sphere processes seem more likely, but kinetic studies suggest outer-sphere oxidation of $[FeCp^*_2]$ and $[Fe(CN)_6]^{4-.200}$

$$[N_2 aryl]^+ + A \rightarrow N_2 aryl + A^+$$
(19)

$$N_2 aryl \rightarrow N_2 + aryl$$
 (20)

Surprisingly little interest has been shown in diazonium salts as stoichiometric one-electron oxidants in organometallic chemistry though they offer many advantages when a mild reagent is required. Moreover, the redox potential can be altered systematically from *ca.* 0.05 to -0.50 V by varying the ring substituents (Table 6).



Table 6. Formal Potentials (V vs Fc) ofArenediazonium Ions [N2C6H4R-4]+ a

		-			
R	<i>E</i> °′/V	R	$E^{\circ\prime}$ /V	R	<i>E</i> °′/V
NO_2	0.05	F	-0.07	Me	-0.15
Cl	0.01	Н	-0.10	NMe ₂	-0.50
2 D				DMC	

^a Potentials from ref 200 and Elofson, R. M.; Gadallah, F. F. *J. Org. Chem.* **1969**, *34*, 854.

Arenediazonium ions with a wide range of para substituents are simply prepared and readily isolated as stable $[BF_4]^-$ and $[PF_6]^-$ salts; $[N_2C_6H_4NEt_2-4]$ -[BF₄] is currently commercially available. The most widely cited preparative methods²⁰¹ involve the synthesis of $[BF_4]^-$ salts in an aqueous reaction medium; alternative methods are also available^{198,202} using, for example, BF₃·OEt₂, RNH₂, and ^tBuONO in diethyl ether or CH₂Cl₂.²⁰² In our studies of the oxidation of low-valent transition metal complexes, we have usually used $[N_2C_6H_4F-4]X$ (X = $[BF_4]^-$ or $[PF_6]^-$). A simple synthesis of the latter, based on the method of Roe,²⁰¹ is given in the Appendix. Note that freshly purchased HPF_6 should be used in this synthesis; older samples of HPF₆ are often severely contaminated with decomposition products. No such problems have been encountered when using HBF₄ to prepare $[N_2aryl][BF_4]$ by the same method.

The simple arenediazonium salts $[N_2C_6H_4R-4]X$ (R = H, Me, F, OMe, or NO₂; X = BF₄ or PF₆) are white or off-white crystalline solids, stable for months if pure, dry, and stored at -10 °C; deliberate thermolysis of $[N_2C_6H_4R-4][BF_4]$ yields the fluoroarene FC₆H₄R-4. Samples may become colored with age but are easily repurified by dissolution in acetone, filtration, and precipitation with diethyl ether.

Solid salts such as $[N_2aryl][BF_4]$ and $[N_2aryl][PF_6]$ may be handled in air. They are soluble in polar solvents such as acetone and acetonitrile but insoluble in CH₂Cl₂. When used with solvents such as THF and CHCl₃, unexpected products resulting from hydrogen atom abstraction reactions may be encountered (see below).

Diazonium ions have been successfully used in the synthesis of a range of 17-electron complexes from their 18-electron analogues, usually by adding the solid salt to the substrate dissolved in CH₂Cl₂^{70,203-207} but also in THF.²⁰⁸ Electron transfer from substrate to [N₂aryl]⁺ is usually rapid at or below room temperature, and the diamagnetic byproducts, nitrogen and the biaryl (formed by dimerization of aryl radicals), are simply removed. Even though the diazonium ion is a mild oxidant, the reduction of [N₂C₆H₄R-4]⁺ is irreversible, and substrates with potentials more positive than that of the oxidant may be oxidized. This can provide an advantage over other mild oxidants, for example, where an equilibrium mixture is formed when the ferrocenium ion reacts with a substrate which is reversibly oxidized at *ca*. 0.0 V.

The use of arenediazonium salts can also be successful in giving the desired one-electron oxidation product when other oxidants react *via* unexpected pathways. For example, [Rh(CO)(PPh₃)Cp] is oxidatively dimerized to the fulvalene complex [Rh₂(CO)₂-(PPh₃)₂(η , η' -C₁₀H₈)][PF₆]₂ by [N₂C₆H₄F-4][PF₆] whereas

Scheme 2

$$[Cr(CN)(CO)_5]^{-} + [N_2Aryl]^{+} = [Cr(CN)(CO)_5] + \cdot N_2Aryl$$
$$\cdot N_2Aryl = N_2 + \cdot Aryl$$
$$\cdot Aryl + CHCl_3 = ArylH + \cdot CCl_3$$
$$\cdot CCl_3 + [Cr(CN)(CO)_5] = [Cr(CO)_5(CNCCl_3)]$$

Ag[PF₆] and [NO][PF₆] give $[Ag{Rh(CO)(PPh_3)Cp}_2]$ -[PF₆] and $[Rh(NO)(PPh_3)Cp][PF_6]$, respectively.⁷⁰

Diazonium salts are often noninnocent one-electron oxidants in organometallic chemistry. For example, one-electron oxidation may be followed by radical coupling; aryl radicals formed by the dissociation of N_2 aryl may abstract a hydrogen atom from the solvent and the resulting solvent-based radical couples with the oxidized form of the substrate. Thus, $[Cr(CN)(CO)_5]^-$ and $[N_2aryl]^+$ react according to Scheme 2 to give functionalized isocyanide complexes such as $[Cr(CO)_5(CNR)]$ [*e.g.*, $R = CCl_3$ (from CHCl₃)²⁰⁹ or complex **5** (from THF)].²¹⁰ Similar reactions



between $[N_2aryl]^+$ and $[Mo(CO)_3Tp']^-$ give the chlorocarbyne complex $[Mo(CCl)(CO)_2Tp']$ in $CH_2Cl_2^{211}$ or $[Mo(\eta^2\text{-}COaryl)(CO)_2Tp']^{211,212}$ when the solvent does not undergo H-atom abstraction.

It is noteworthy that with less hindered polypyrazolylborate ligands [*e.g.*, L = Tp or B(pz)₄] [Mo(CO)₃L]⁻ and [N₂aryl]⁺ give [Mo(CO)₂(N₂aryl)L].²¹³ Many other transition metal complexes likewise give arenediazo complexes²¹⁴ in which the N₂aryl group can act as either a one-electron donor ("doubly bent", isoelectronic with a "bent" nitrosyl ligand) or a threeelectron donor ("singly bent", isoelectronic with a "linear" nitrosyl ligand). The factors which govern oxidation as opposed to complexation were discussed during our early studies of [NO]⁺ and [N₂aryl]⁺ as oxidants¹⁹⁴ and are outlined in section II.A.2.b for [NO]⁺.

Arenediazonium ions may also undergo insertion reactions, for example, into M-H bonds ([PtHCl-(PEt₃)₃] yields [PtCl(PEt₃)₂(NH:Naryl)]⁺)²¹⁵ or into one M-P bond of [Fe(NO)₂(dppe)] to give [Fe(NO)₂-{PPh₂CH₂CH₂P(Ph₂)N₂C₆H₄F-4}],²¹⁶ and *ortho*-metalation or dimerization, as in the formation of **6** and **7** from [IrCl(CO)(PPh₃)₂] and [N₂C₆H₄F-4]⁺ in the presence of ethanol or 2-propanol.²¹⁴ Finally, arylation of, or azo coupling with, coordinated hydrocarbons such as chpt and cot may also be observed.^{217,218}



d. Oxygen. Precautions are almost invariably taken to avoid the presence of oxygen during the synthesis of organotransition metal complexes; conventional wisdom has led to the assumption that decomposition to unwanted products is to be expected. Nevertheless, there are good examples where O_2 is used to give well-defined one-electron oxidation products (or secondary products derived therefrom). It should also be noted, given the role of 17-electron species in electron-transfer-catalyzed processes, that adventitious oxygen may play a part in the generation of radical-like intermediates and the acceleration of reactions assumed to proceed solely through diamagnetic intermediates.

Oxygen is, of course, readily available and easily handled. It reacts with $[Cr(\eta - arene)_2]$ to give $[Cr(\eta - arene)_2]$ arene)₂||OH|¹⁴⁵ and with related binuclear complexes such as $[Cr_2(\mu-biphenyl)(\eta-C_6H_6)_2]$ and $[Cr_2(\mu-biphe$ nyl_{2} to give the corresponding dications²¹⁹ (cf. the use of 4-pyridinecarboxaldehyde, section II.B.5.a). Stoichiometric reactions have been carried out between $[Fe(\eta - C_6Me_6)_2]$ and O_2 , the latter added to the former by means of a gas syringe. This reaction is of particular interest in showing the effects of both temperature and ion pairing on the final outcome of an electron-transfer rection. At -40 °C in toluene, 0.5 equiv of O_2 give [Fe{ η^4 -C₆Me₄(=CH₂)₂}(η -C₆Me₆)]; oxidation of $[Fe(\eta - C_6Me_6)_2]$ is followed by sequential deprotonation of two of the methyl groups by [O₂]⁻ within the solvent cage. At 20 °C in toluene, or at -40 °C in THF in the presence of NaPF₆, the peroxide salt $[Fe(\eta - C_6Me_6)_2]_2[O_2]$ results (the higher temperature or presence of the sodium salt leading to the removal of the superoxide anion from the solvent cage before deprotonation can occur²²⁰).

The dioxygenyl salt $[O_2][EF_6]$ (E = As or Sb) is arguably the strongest one-electron oxidant yet isolated, with an estimated formal oxidation potential for $[O_2]^+/O_2$ of almost 5.0 V.²²¹ It has been used in low-temperature Freon mixtures to oxidize organic compounds to the corresponding cation radicals. For example, $[O_2][AsF_6]$ and NMe(C₆H₄OMe-4)₂ give [NMe(C₆H₄OMe-4)₂][AsF₆] in CHF₂Cl at -130 °C. The redox byproduct, O₂, and the solvent are allowed to evaporate, leaving behind the desired salt.²²²

Interestingly, the superoxide ion can act as both an oxidant and reductant. Though generally studied in aqueous media, and as such of limited interest for organometallic applications, it has been generated electrochemically in DMSO, pyridine, DMF, and MeCN. It can also be prepared (with difficulty) as the salt [NMe₄][O₂], which is soluble in aprotic solvents, and is solubilized, as KO₂, by crown ethers.²²³

e. Acids. There are several examples of acids such as HBF₄ or HPF₆ effecting the one-electron oxidation of electron-rich organometallics. (The corollary is that adventitious acid, perhaps from impure solvents, can initiate unwanted or unexpected electron-transfer-based reactions, as noted above for oxygen.) Thus, [Mo(η^5 -C₇H₉)(η -C₇H₇)] ($E^{\circ'} = -0.19$ V) and HBF₄·OEt₂ in diethyl ether¹³⁵ and [Co(PEt₃)₂(η^5 -2,4-dimethylpentadienyl)] and HBF₄·OEt₂ or HO₃SCF₃ in THF,²²⁴ gave [Mo(η^5 -C₇H₉)(η -C₇H₇)][BF₄] and [Co(PEt₃)₂(η^5 -2,4-dimethylpentadienyl)]X (X = [BF₄]⁻ or [O₃SCF₃]⁻), respectively. The last reaction contrasts

with that between HBF₄ and the "closed" cyclopentadienyl complex [Co(PEt₃)₂Cp] which undergoes protonation at the metal center²²⁵ (a reaction perhaps more generally expected than one-electron oxidation). It is also noteworthy that the ammonium ion may act as an oxidant, although presumably functioning as a proton source. Thus $[Cr(\eta^5-heptamethylinde$ nyl_{2} in toluene reacts with a saturated solution of $[NH_4][PF_6]$ in THF to precipitate $[Cr(\eta^5-hepta$ methylindenyl)₂][PF₆].²²⁶ Oxyacids may also function as one-electron oxidants. Thus, HNO_3 or H_2O_2 and $[MXYCp_2]$ (M = Mo or W; X, Y = Cl, N₃, NCS, O₂- CCF_3 , etc.) give $[MXYCp_2]^+$, which may be precipitated as the $[PF_6]^-$ salt by addition of $[NH_4][PF_6]$ to the aqueous solution.²²⁷ Such acids are likely to be much stronger oxidants than HBF_4 or HPF_6 .

B. Organic

1. Radical Cations

a. Triarylaminium Radical Cations, [N(ar yl_{3}^{+} . Triarylaminium radical cations, $[N(aryl)_{3}]^{+}$, with the para positions substituted to deter nucleophilic substitution, are mild to very strong oneelectron oxidants used widely in organic chemistry and, to a far lesser extent, in inorganic chemistry. The archetypal arylaminium salt, $[N(C_6H_4Br-4)_3]$ -[SbCl₆] (the cation is colloquially known as Magic Blue because of its intense royal blue color), is commercially available, but many other derivatives, with redox potentials spanning the range 0.16-1.72V (Table 7), can be prepared or generated *in situ* from the corresponding amine. Many of the cations are remarkably stable and can be used not only as stoichiometric reagents but as catalysts in electrontransfer chain processes; the neutral amines are used as mediators in indirect electrosynthesis.^{228,229}

 Table 7. Formal Potentials (V vs Fc) of

 Triarylaminium Cations [N(aryl)₃]^{+ a}

3	-	< J /-1	
aryl	$E^{\circ\prime}/V$	aryl	<i>E</i> °′/V
C ₆ H ₄ OMe-4	0.16	C ₆ H ₄ NO ₂ -4	1.20
C ₆ H ₄ Me-4	0.40	$C_{6}H_{4}Br_{2}-2,4$	1.14
$C_6H_4(COMe)-4$	0.90	$C_6H_4Br_3-2,4,6$	1.36
C ₆ H ₄ Br-4	0.70	C_6Cl_5	1.72^{b}
C ₆ H ₄ CN-4	1.08		
^a Potentials from	ref 228 un	less stated. ^b From 1	ref 237.

Arylaminium salts are prepared from triaryl amines, many of which have been synthesized specifically as radical cation precursors.^{230–233} There are three main preparative procedures, using (i) a silver(I) salt in the presence of iodine, $^{233-235}$ (ii) an [NO]⁺ salt, 181,233,235 or (iii) a higher valent halide, usually SbCl₅, as the oxidant;^{230,231,233,236,237} the method chosen depends inter alia on the oxidation potential of the amine and the counteranion desired. Method i involves the addition of iodine in diethyl ether to a solution of the amine and AgX in the same solvent, extraction of the resulting precipitate into CH₂Cl₂ (to remove silver metal), and precipitation of the salt [N(aryl)₃]X with diethyl ether. The $[BF_4]^-$ and $[PF_6]^-$ salts of $[N(C_6H_4R-4)_3]^+$ (R = Br or OMe) have been prepared in this way though higher yields of the $[PF_6]^-$ salts are isolable from [NO][PF₆] oxidation of the appropriate amine in MeCN.^{233,235} Salts of the $[SbCl_6]^-$ anion result from the treatment of the amine with $SbCl_5$ in $CH_2Cl_2;^{230,236}$ where $SbCl_5$ is not strong enough to accomplish amine oxidation, SbF_5 may be used.²³⁷

The stability of solid arylaminium cations depends *inter alia* on the counteranion. Thus, salts of [N(C₆H₄- $Br-4_3$ ⁺ with larger anions such as $[PF_6]^-$, $[SbCl_6]^-$, and $[WCl_6]^-$ (prepared by WCl_6 oxidation of the amine) show little sign of deterioration after several weeks whereas the $[BF_4]^-$ salt ages more rapidly.^{233,235} The difference in stability has been ascribed to the repression of benzidine radical cation formation via debromodimerization;²³³ the larger anions prevent the required approach of two cations. The aging of $[N(C_6H_4Br-4)_3]^+$ also results in further bromination of the aryl groups (Br₂ is eliminated during the dimerization process); mass spectrometry showed that 6-month-old samples of the $[BF_4]^-$ salt contained tetra- and pentabrominated amines as well as the dimeric product.²³³ Similar variations in stability have been noted for the salts of [N(C₆H₄- $Me-4_{3}^{+}$.^{234,235} By contrast, $[N(C_{6}H_{4}OMe-4)_{3}]^{+}$ (a less powerful oxidant, $E^{\circ} = 0.16$ V) is also stable as the $[BF_4]^-$ salt.

The results of kinetic studies and product analysis are critically dependent on the use of pure samples of the arylaminium salts.²³³ The extent to which a sample decays may be estimated by optical spectroscopy,^{233,235} (e.g., $[N(C_6H_4Br-4)_3]^+$, $\lambda_{max} = 700$ nm; $[N(C_6H_3Br_2-2,4)_3]^+$, $\lambda_{max} = 880$ nm);^{230,231} the deterioration of solid $[N(C_6H_4Me-4)_3][PF_6]$ during 1 week at room temperature is sufficient to be detectable by changes in the UV spectrum.²³⁵ Voltammetry can also be used to assess the purity of aged samples of $[N(C_6H_4Br-4)_3]^+$ since decomposition products having other degrees of bromine substitution have different E°' values. (Such aged samples have, neverthless, been successfully used as oxidants; the oxidant mixture has been dubbed "The Blues Brothers".)

The solubility of triarylaminium salts depends on both the aryl substituent and the counteranion. For example, $[N(C_6H_4Br-4)_3][SbCl_6]$ is slightly less soluble in CH_2Cl_2 than is the perchlorate salt (which is *not* recommended for use).²³⁶ The stability of such solutions depends on the solvent and, as noted above, on the substitution pattern on the aryl groups and on the counteranion. For example, in CH_2Cl_2 , $[N(C_6H_4 Br-4_{3}$ [ClO₄] is stable for 2 days in the absence of O₂ and light but [N(C₆H₄Br-4)₃][PF₆] is indefinitely stable in the absence of light and is even stable for several days in laboratory light. In methanol, [N(C₆H₄- $Br-4)_3$]⁺ is methoxylated at one ring²²⁸ whereas $[N(C_6H_3Br_2-2,4)_3]^+$ is stable and undergoes several thousand turnovers during the mediated side-chain oxidation of alkyl-substituted aromatics.²³⁸

Stoichiometric reactions using arylaminium salts are simply accomplished, either by using the isolated salt or by generating the cation *in situ*. Moreover, the byproduct of electron transfer, N(aryl)₃, is easily removed from the oxidation product. If necessary, the electron-transfer reactions of arylaminium cations can be visually "titrated" in that their intense colors (*e.g.*, $[N(C_6H_4Br-4)_3]^+$, blue; $[N(C_6H_3Br_2-2,4)_3]^+$, green) are lost immediately on reduction (optical spectroscopy could be used as a more quantitative method). In contrast to $[NO]^+$ and Ag^+ analogues (also strong to very strong oxidants in CH_2Cl_2), arylaminium salts are soluble in CH_2Cl_2 .

Unlike [NO]⁺ (section II.A.2.b) and Ag⁺ (section II.A.1.a.ii), $[N(C_6H_4Br-4)_3][PF_6]$ almost always behaves as an innocent one-electron oxidant (but see below). Thus, *cis*- or *trans*-[Mn(CN)(CO)₂{P(OPh)₃}-(dppm)] gives trans-[Mn(CN)(CO)₂{P(OPh)₃}(dppm)]- $[PF_6]$ in CH_2Cl_2 whereas $[NO][PF_6]$ yields the proto- $[Mn(CNH)(CO)(CO)_2{P(OR)_3}$ complex nated (dppm)][PF₆]₂¹⁹⁷ and Ag[PF₆] yields [Ag{(NC)Mn-(CO)₂{P(OEt)₃}(dppm)}₂][PF₆]₃.⁵² Similarly, [N(C₆H₄- $Br-4_3$ [PF₆] and [Fe(CO)₃(PPh₃)₂] yield [Fe(CO)₃-(PPh₃)₂][PF₆] whereas Ag⁺ appears to form an Ag⁻ Fe-bonded adduct and [NO]⁺ or arenediazonium ions yield substitution products such as [Fe(CO)₂(NO)-(PPh₃)₂]⁺.¹⁴³ Note, however, that the [SbCl₆]⁻ counteranion is not innocent (see section II.A.2.a.iv) and can act as a source of nucleophilic chloride ions (as has also been observed in organic chemistry²³⁹). For example, $[N(C_6H_4Br-4)_3][SbCl_6]$ oxidatively cleaves $[Fe_2(\mu-CO)_2(CO)_2Cp_2]$ to yield $[FeCl(CO)_2Cp]^{240}$ and reacts with [Mn(CO)(dppe)Cp'] to give [MnCl(CO)- $(dppe)Cp']^+$ via $[Mn(CO)(dppe)Cp']^{+}.^{205}$

High product yields can be obtained without the need to use the isolated arylaminium cation salts; solutions of $[N(C_6H_4Br-4)_3]^+$ may be generated *in situ* by treatment of $[N(C_6H_4Br-4)_3]$ with either $[NO]^+$ or Ag⁺ in CH₂Cl₂ and removal of the byproducts, NO and Ag, by purging the reaction mixture with a stream of nitrogen (or argon) or by filtration, respectively. In this way, $[Fe(CO)_3(\eta^4 \text{-cot})]$ was oxidatively dimerized to $[Fe_2(CO)_6(\eta^5,\eta^{5'}\text{-}C_{16}H_{16})][PF_6]_2,^{241}$ and $[Rh_3(\mu_3-L)_2(CO)_4(PPh_3)_2]^+$ (L = 1,8-naphthyridin-2-onate) was oxidized to the mixed-valence complex $[Rh_3(\mu_3-L)_2(CO)_4(PPh_3)_2]^{2+242}$

The applications in organic chemistry of arylaminium cations as catalysts²⁴³⁻²⁴⁸ or as intermediates in indirect electrosynthesis (the amine is added as the mediator)228,229 have been extensively reviewed. The solid arylaminium salt is usually used in catalytic applications; efficient catalysis is made possible by the stability of both the amine and its radical cation. However, *in situ* generation of the arylaminium cations is also possible; $[N(C_6Cl_5)_3]^+$ (E[°] = 1.84 V) cannot be isolated but has been generated by SbF₅ oxidation of the amine and used to oxidize *syn*-5,5'-difluorobiadamantylidine (E° ' = 1.39 V) (which is not oxidized by $[N(C_6H_4Br-4)_3]^+$ or $[N(C_6H_3Br_2 (2,4)_3$]⁺).²³⁷ In indirect electroorganic synthesis, the amine is used as a mediator with the cation generated and regenerated by electrolysis: turnovers as high as 2500 cycles have been observed with $[N(C_6H_3 Br_2-2,4)_3$ ^{+.229} Far more use has been made in organic chemistry of the possibility of tuning the redox potential of the oxidant; the amine substituent (Table 7) can be systematically altered to achieve selective oxidation. In addition, electron transfer may occur even with an unfavorable potential, subsequent irreversible bond cleavage reactions providing the driving force for the overall reaction.

Finally, arylaminium cations are not always innocent. For example, $[N(C_6H_4Br-4)_3]^+$ undergoes nucleophilic reactions with chloride and cyanide ions but electron transfer with bromide and iodide ions. Moreover, substitution is easier with the $[BF_4]^-$ salt than with the $[SbCl_6]^-$ salt.²³⁵ Similarly, $[N(C_6H_4-Br-4)_3][BF_4]$ does not oxidize carboxylates but undergoes acyloxylation at room temperature.²³³ Such side reactions, and the dependence of the reaction pathway on the counteranion, even in solution, can have important consequences for catalysis.²³⁹

b. Thianthrene and Related Radical Cations. Although triarylaminium salts (section II.B.1.a) are the most widely used radical cation oxidants, other such reagents are also available. Of these, the thianthrene cation ($\mathbf{8}^+$) is the most popular although related radical cations of aromatic heterocycles such as phenoxathiin ($\mathbf{9}$), phenothiazine ($\mathbf{10}$, $\mathbf{R} = \mathbf{H}$), *N*-methyl- or *N*-phenylthiazine ($\mathbf{10}$, $\mathbf{R} = \mathbf{Me}$ or Ph), and carbazoles have also been prepared.



The thianthrene radical cation has been isolated as $[AlCl_4]^{-,156}$ $[SbCl_6]^{-,249}$ and $[I_2Cl_3]^{-250,251}$ salts but has most often been used as the perchlorate.^{249,250} The last is, however, explosive, and despite the detailed warnings given on its safe handling,^{249,252} we recommend that it is not used. Rather, the $[BF_4]^-$ salt, which may be prepared on a large scale from [NO]- $[BF_4]$ and thianthrene in $CH_2Cl_2^{252}$ is to be preferred. (The other salts listed above might also be used if the presence of a halogen-containing counteranion-a source of nucleophilic halide ions—is not a problem.) The purity of [thianthrene] $[BF_4]$ can be assessed by treatment with NaI in MeCN/CCl₄ and then titration of the released I₂ against sodium thiosulfate,²⁴⁹ or by optical spectroscopy (8⁺; in MeCN, $\lambda_{max} = 546$ nm, ϵ 10^{3 156}).

The radical cations of other aromatic heterocycles, including **9**, **10**, and carbazole, can also be simply prepared as $[BF_4]^-$ salts using $[NO][BF_4]^{181}$ and phenoxathiin and SbCl₅ in CH₂Cl₂ give **[9]**[SbCl₆].^{253,254} These cations have been used less often than that of thianthrene,²⁵⁵ but the variation in heteroatom and, in some cases, the substituent [*e.g.*, at N in **10**] could, in principle, lead to the systematic alteration of oxidation potential.

The red to brown salts of the thianthrene cation (the solid $[I_2Cl_3]^-$ salt is black) are stable in dry air (the $[AlCl_4]^-$ salt has been structurally characterized¹⁵⁶) but react with water to give thianthrene and thianthrene *S*-oxide. The pure $[BF_4]^-$ salt is stable for weeks when dissolved in dry acetonitrile,²⁴⁹ but if generated *in situ*, from thianthrene and $[NO][BF_4]$ in CH_2Cl_2 , it deteriorates more rapidly, probably by reacting with NO or NO₂.

Solutions of thianthrene radical cation salts are purple, giving colorless thianthrene on reduction. Their reactions can therefore be followed visually or, more quantitatively, by optical spectroscopy; the five-line ESR spectrum (g = 2.0087 in MeCN²⁵⁰) of the cation provides another means by which its reactions might be monitored.

The thianthrene cation has been almost exclusively used in investigations of the one-electron-transfer reactions of main group organometallics such as LiPh in THF,²⁵⁶ MgClPh in ether,²⁵⁶ and HgR₂ in MeCN.^{252,257} In all of these cases, the $[ClO_4]^-$ salt was used but the less treacherous $[BF_4]^-$ salt is equally effective, as demonstrated by its reactions with HgR₂ in CH₂Cl₂.²⁵² As yet the use of aromatic heterocycle radical cations as oxidants in other areas of chemistry has been limited although $[FeCl(TPP)]^{254}$ and neutral actinide porphyrin and phthalocyanin complexes such as [M(TPP)(PC)] (M = U and Th)²⁵³ have been oxidized to the corresponding monocations by [**9**][SbCl₆].

2. Carbocations

a. Trityl, $[CR_3]^+$ ($\mathbf{R} = Aryl$), Salts. The trityl cation, $[CPh_3]^+$, also referred to as the triphenylcarbenium or tritylium ion, has long been known as a reagent for the removal of hydride ion from both organic^{258,259} and organometallic compounds.²⁶⁰ However, it can also function as a one-electron oxidant.

Although the yellow-orange $[BF_4]^-$, $[PF_6]^-$, $[AsF_6]^-$, $[SbCl_6]^-$, and $[CF_3SO_3]^-$ (triflate, Tf) salts of $[CPh_3]^+$ are commercially available, they are readily made from CPh₃OH and the appropriate acid in acetic or propionic anhydride,²⁵⁸ by the dropwise addition of anhydrous $HSbF_6$, $HBF_4 \cdot Me_2O$, or $HPF_6 \cdot Et_2O$ to $CClPh_3$ in benzene,²⁶¹ or from $CClPh_3$ and $AgPF_6$ in CH₂Cl₂.²³⁴ The triflate salt has also been prepared from CPh₃Cl and Me₃SiTf and converted to [CPh₃]-[BPh₄] (a useful salt in the preparation of cationic, Lewis acidic products which might react with more nucleophilic anions) by metathesis with NaBPh₄ in MeCN.²⁶² In principle, the oxidation potential of $[CPh_3]^+$ can be systematically altered by ring substitution; the salts [C(C₆H₄NMe₂-4)₂Ph][BF₄],²⁶³ $[C(C_6H_4Me-4)_3][PF_6]^{264}$ and $[CPh_2(C_6H_4OMe-4)]^{-1}$ $[BF_4]^{265,266}$ have been prepared from the appropriate carbinol C(aryl)₃OH.²⁵⁸ Trityl salts are usually recrystallized from MeCN at low temperature. Purification may also be accomplished from CH_2Cl_2-n hexane or MeCN-Et₂O mixtures; large crystals of [CPh₃][BF₄], especially suitable for long-term storage, can be grown by layering diethyl ether onto a solution of the salt in MeCN.

Solid salts of $[CPh_3]^+$ react with moisture, giving colorless CPh₃OH. In the absence of air the solids show no visible signs of decomposition after several months when stored at -10 °C; [CPh₃][BPh₄], how-ever, is light sensitive.²⁶² The salt [CPh₂(C₆H₄OMe-4)][BF₄], a somewhat weaker oxidant ($E^{\circ} = -0.32$) V) than $[CPh_3][BF_4]$ ($E^{\circ} = -0.11$ V), is much more stable and does not deteriorate when refrigerated, even in the presence of moist air for 1 year. It may, therefore, be weighed and transfered in air.²⁶⁶ Trityl salts are soluble in dry CH_2Cl_2 , MeCN, or liquid SO_2 but are insoluble in alkane or arene solvents; slow decomposition has been observed in diethyl ether.²⁵⁸ They react with protic solvents such as water and alcohols; in aqueous acetonitrile, [CPh₂(C₆H₄OMe-4)]-[BF₄] decomposes 100 times more slowly than [CPh₃]-[BF₄].²⁶⁶

Triarylcarbenium ions are mild one-electron oxidants²⁶⁷ which give •C(aryl)₃ radicals on reduction. These radicals can often be detected by ESR spectroscopy but form an equilibrium mixture favoring the diamagnetic dimer [*e.g.*, 4-(triphenylmethyl)-1-(diphenylmethylidene)-2,5-cyclohexadiene from 'CPh₃]. However, the possible reaction of solventbased radicals, formed by H-atom abstraction from the solvent by 'C(aryl)₃ [giving CH(aryl)₃], with the primary oxidation product should not be discounted [*cf.* the behavior of aryl radicals formed on reduction of diazonium ions (section II.A.2.c)].

The reactions of trityl cations are normally carried out at low temperature in CH_2Cl_2 or MeCN (though THF has also been used as solvent²⁶⁸). Simple oneelectron oxidation products, *e.g.*, $[CpFe(\mu\text{-cot})CoCp]^+$ ²⁶⁹ and $[FeMe\{P(OMe)_3\}_2Cp^*]^+$,²⁷⁰ from $[CpFe(\mu\text{-cot})-CoCp]$ and $[FeMe\{P(OMe)_3\}_2Cp^*]$, respectively, may result. More often than not, however, other reactions, either following or instead of electron transfer, are observed. Thus, $[CPh_3]^+$ and $[Re_2(\mu\text{-H})_4H_4-(PPh_3)_2]$ give $[Re_2(\mu\text{-H})_4H_4(PPh_3)_2]^+$ in CH_2Cl_2 but $[Re_2(\mu\text{-H})_4H_3(NCMe)(PPh_3)_2]^+$ is isolated from MeCN (in a reaction apparently *not* involving electron transfer).²⁷¹

Trityl cations can act as electrophiles, adding to coordinated hydrocarbons such as the cot ring of $[Fe(CO)_3(\eta^4-cot)]$,²⁷² or as ligands; the reactions with $[\text{Re}(\text{CO})_5]^-$ and $[\text{Co}\{\eta^5-2,4-\text{bis}(\text{trifluoromethyl})\text{penta$ dienyl}Cp] give [Re(CO)₄(η^3 -C₆H₅CPh₂)] and [CoCp- $(\eta^5 - \tilde{C}_6 H_5 \tilde{C} P \tilde{h}_2)]^+$,²⁷³ respectively. With [Fe(CO)]₂-(CH₂SMe)Cp*], addition at sulfur to give the sulfonium cation $[Fe(CO)_2 \{CH_2S(Me)CPh_3\}Cp^*]^+$ is followed by decomposition via trityl radical loss. Different products result from the reaction with the outer-sphere oxidant, [FeCp₂]⁺, suggesting the trityl cation to be an inner-sphere reagent;274 similar conclusions were drawn from comparative studies of the reactions of [FeCp₂]⁺ and [CPh₃]⁺ or [C(tolyl)₃]⁺ with [RuH(PPh₃)₂Cp]²⁶⁴ and [MoH(CO)₂(PPh₃)Cp],²⁶⁵ respectively.

Extensive studies of the reactions of organometallics with ferrocenium and trityl cations have shed considerable light on the competition between oxidation and hydride abstraction. The formal potential of the oxidant is but one factor which influences the outcome of the reactions of mononuclear transition metal alkyls. Thus, $[WMe_2Cp_2]$ ($E^{\circ} = ca. -0.8$ V) and $[CPh_3]^+$ ($E^{\circ} = -0.11$ V) give $[WH(\eta - C_2H_4)Cp_2]^+$ by initial electron transfer ($\Delta E = ca. 0.7$ V) followed by α-hydrogen atom abstraction by •CPh₃.²⁷⁵ Similarly, $[Re(\sigma-CH_2CH_2R)(PPh_3)(NO)Cp]$ (R = alkyl) give²⁷⁶ species such as $[Re(=CHCH_2R)(PPh_3)(NO)(\eta (C_5H_5)$]⁺ in spite of the endergonic electron-transfer step ($\Delta E = ca. -0.2$ V); the reaction is driven to completion by the irreversible C-H cleavage following oxidation. If electron transfer is too unfavorable, as in the reaction with $[Fe(\sigma-alkyl)(CO)_2Cp]$ ($\Delta E =$ *ca.* -1.0 V), direct β -hydride abstraction gives [Fe- $(CO)_2(\eta^2$ -alkene)Cp]^{+ 277} (although the electron-transfer mechanism can operate in the presence of carbon monoxide).278

Similar comparative studies with hydrocarbonbridged binuclear organometallics show that the oxidative activation of C–H bonds by $[CPh_3]^+$ can differ from that by $[FeCp_2]^+$.^{43–45} For example, $[Mo_2(\mu-C_8Me_8)Cp_2]$ and $[FeCp_2]^+$ give $[Mo_2(\mu-C_8Me_7)^+]$ $CH_2)Cp_2]^+$ by double oxidation (to $[Mo_2(\mu-C_8Me_8)-Cp_2]^{2+}$) followed by proton loss (an EEC mechanism) whereas $[CPh_3]^+$ gives the same final product but *via* the H-atom abstraction reaction between $[Mo_2(\mu-C_8-Me_8)Cp_2]^+$ and •CPh₃ (an EC process).⁴⁵

Finally, an electron-transfer reaction involving $[CPh_3]^+$ can lead to a different stereochemistry from a reaction involving direct H⁻ loss. Thus, *exo*-hydride abstraction occurs from a noncoordinated CH₂ group of the hydrocarbon ligand in $[Fe(CO)_3(\eta^4$ -cyclohexadiene)] whereas $[Fe(exo-\eta^4-C_6H_7R)(\eta-C_6H_6)]$ and $[CPh_3]^+$ at -50 °C give $[Fe(\eta^5-C_6H_6R)(\eta-C_6H_6)]^+$ by loss of an *endo* hydrogen atom after oxidation to $[Fe(exo-\eta^4-C_6H_7R)(\eta-C_6H_6)]^+$.²⁷⁹

b. Tropylium, $[C_7H_7]^+$, Salts. The tropylium cation, $[C_7H_7]^+$, is a weak oxidant (Table 2) as yet relatively little used in organic²⁶⁷ or organometallic chemistry; the oxidation potential can be varied to some extent by ring substitution.²⁸¹

The colorless salts $[C_7H_7][BF_4]$ and $[C_7H_7][PF_6]$ are commercially available, but the former is readily prepared on a large scale by reacting PCl₅ with chpt in CCl₄ and treating the resulting $[PCl_6]^-/Cl^-$ double salt of $[C_7H_7]^+$ with HBF₄.²⁸² Methods involving hydride abstraction from chpt, using $[CPh_3][BF_4]$ in MeCN or SO₂²⁵⁹ or CPh₃OH and HBF₄ in acetic anhydride,²⁸³ can also be used to prepare the $[AsF_6]^$ and $[SbF_6]^-$ salts; $[C_7H_7][SbCl_6]$ is made directly from chpt, CPh₃Cl, and SbCl₅ in MeCN.²⁸⁴

Tropylium salts of complex anions such as $[BF_4]^$ and $[PF_6]^-$ are stable in air and nonhygroscopic (in contrast to simple halide salts such as $[C_7H_7]Cl$). $[C_7H_7][BF_4]$ is soluble in MeCN, SO₂, and acetone and may be recrystallized from a large volume of ethyl acetate (or from MeCN/ethyl acetate); product loss is extensive during such recrystallization and the purity is little improved.²⁸² It is insoluble in CH₂Cl₂ and forms donor:acceptor complexes with arenes which can undergo photoinduced redox reactions giving the tropyl radical and the arene radical cation.²⁸⁴

Readily oxidized substrates such as $[\text{Re}_2\text{H}_4(\mu-\text{H})_4$ - $(\text{PPh}_3)_4]$ and $[\text{Re}(\text{CO})_5]^-$ react with solid $[\text{C}_7\text{H}_7][\text{PF}_6]$ to give $[\text{Re}_2\text{H}_4(\mu-\text{H})_4(\text{PPh}_3)_4]^+$ (in $\text{CH}_2\text{Cl}_2)^{271}$ and $[\text{Re}_2-(\text{CO})_{10}]$ (in THF),²⁸⁵ respectively. Moreover, dianions such as $[\text{Ru}_3(\text{CO})_{11}]^{2-}$ give neutral clusters, $[\text{Ru}_3-(\text{CO})_{11}\text{L}]$, when treated with $[\text{C}_7\text{H}_7][\text{BF}_4]$ in the presence of donor ligands, L, such as phosphines.²⁸⁶ Note, however, that $[\text{Ru}_6\text{C}(\text{CO})_{16}]^{2-}$ gives $[\text{Ru}_6\text{C}(\text{CO})_{14}(\eta^6-\text{C}_{14}\text{H}_{14})]$ in which ditropyl, the byproduct of the reduction of $[\text{C}_7\text{H}_7]^+$ (and normally readily removed from the reaction mixture), is bound to one triangular face of the cluster.²⁸⁷ In addition, the tropylium ion itself can act as an electrophile toward coordinated hydrocarbons, for example, the cot rings of $[\text{Fe}(\text{CO})_3-(\text{cot})]^{288}$ and [M(cot)Cp] (M = Co and Rh).²⁸⁹

3. Cyanocarbons and Related Electron-Rich Compounds

Many percyanocarbons are one-electron oxidants. However, their redox behavior has been most widely applied to the construction of low-dimensional solids where the *physical* properties (magnetic, conducting, etc.), based largely on the electronic and molecular structure of the reduced (paramagnetic) form of the percyanocarbon, are of more interest than the *chemi-cal* properties of the oxidation product. Thus, for example, $[FeCp_2^*][TCNE]$ is a soluble ferromagnet;²⁹⁰ as a synthetic route to $[FeCp_2^*]^+$ the reaction of TCNE (**11**) with $[FeCp_2^*]$ is unimportant.



TCNE and 7,7,8,8-tetracyanoquinodimethane (TCNQ, **12**) are the most widely used of the percyanocarbon oxidants. They are commercially available solids which dissolve in a range of polar organic solvents (*e.g.*, MeCN, THF, 1,2-dichloroethane, ethyl acetate, etc.); they may be purified by recrystallization [from 1,2-dichloroethane or chlorobenzene (TCNE), or from ethyl acetate or MeCN (TCNQ)] or by vacuum sublimation. Their reactions may be monitored by IR spectroscopy (in the cyanide stretching region), UV spectroscopy, or by the ESR spectra of the radical anions; full details of such spectra and of other physical properties may be found in refs 291 and 292 (TCNE) and 293 (TCNQ). An important point to note is the toxicity of TCNE.

TCNE and TCNQ are mild oxidants (Table 2) (TCNE, -0.27 and -1.27 V; TCNQ, -0.30 and -0.88 V) which are reduced in two one-electron steps to mono- and dianions (the former have a tendency to dimerize in the solid state). The first process is more generally encountered although [TCNE]⁻, obviously a weaker oxidant than TCNE, is capable of oxidizing [CoCp*₂]; the reaction of the latter with TCNE gives [CoCp*₂]₂[TCNE], a salt of the TCNE dianion.²⁹⁴

TCNE forms charge-transfer complexes with less readily oxidizable substrates such as ferrocene²⁹⁵ and main group metal alkyls, the adducts of the latter sometimes leading to addition reactions to the C=C bond.¹²⁰ Note that [FeCp₂] is oxidized to [FeCp₂]⁺ by the less popular, but stronger, cyanocarbon oxidants hexacyanobutadiene²⁹⁶ and 7,7,8,8-tetrafluoroquinodimethane;²⁹⁷ 2,3-dichloro-5,6-dicyanoquinone (DDQ) is also a stronger oxidant than TCNE (Table 2).²⁹⁸ Complete electron transfer from TCNE occurs with more electron-rich transition metal sandwich compounds to give, for example, [MCp*₂][TCNE] (M = Cr, Mn, Fe, Co and Ni),^{290,294} [Cr(η -arene)₂][TCNE],²⁹⁹ and [MoCp(η -C₇H₇)][TCNE].¹³⁶ Similar products may be made with TCNQ.

Of the percyanocarbon oxidants, TCNE is probably the least innocent; it has an extensive reaction chemistry with organic,^{291,300} organometallic,²⁹² and coordination³⁰¹ compounds. Many of the reactions with transition metal complexes involve initial oneelectron transfer followed by bond formation.¹³⁵ Thus, TCNE may coordinate as an alkene, as in [Fe(η^2 -TCNE)(PPh₃)(NO)₂],³⁰² or *via* up to four N-atoms as in complex **13** (the TCNQ analogue of which is also known).³⁰¹ Fragmentation, for example, to give cyano and tricyanovinyl units, and cycloaddition to coordinated polyenes²⁹² may also occur.



One less common percyanocarbon is of interest as a rare example of an anionic one-electron oxidant, namely the paramagnetic radical anion of hexacyanotrimethylenecyclopropane, $[C_3\{C(CN)_2\}_3]^-$ (14) (sometimes confusingly formulated as $[C_6(CN)_6]^-$). The salt $[NBu^{n}_{4}][C_{3}\{C(CN)_{2}\}_{3}]$ is prepared³⁰³ by metathesis of $K[C_3{C(CN)_2}_3]$ which is, in turn, synthesized by potassium persulfate oxidation of Na₂[C₃- $\{C(CN)_{2}\}_{3}^{304}$ in water. The potassium salt is soluble in MeCN and THF/HMPA, and [NBun4][C3{C(CN)2}3] is soluble in MeNO₂; the formation of $[C_3{C(CN)_2}_3]^2$ by reduction could be monitored by the loss of the 13-line ESR spectrum or the maroon color ($\lambda_{max} =$ 673, 598, 320 nm; $\epsilon = 19900$, 12900, 30500)³⁰³ of $[C_3\{C(CN)_2\}_3]^-$. Though only a mild oxidant $(E^{\circ})' =$ *ca.* 0.0 V; see Table 2) $[C_3{C(CN)_2}_3]^-$ should prove useful in the isolation of dicationic oxidation products, as salts of $[C_3\{C(CN)_2\}_3]^{2-}$ {as might be the case in solid $[OsCp_2^*][C_3\{C(CN)_2\}_3]$, formed in the reaction between $[OsCp_2^*]$ and $[NBu^n_4][C_3\{C(CN)_2\}_3]$ (1:2) ratio)³⁰⁵}.

Some variation in oxidation potential is possible in that related carbomethoxytrimethylenecyclopropane derivatives have been prepared. For example, stable yellow crystalline $C_3\{C(CO_2Me)_2\}_3$ may also act as a weak oxidant ($E^{\circ'} = -0.52$ V).³⁰⁴

4. Quinones

Both 1,2- and 1,4-quinones, many of which are commercially available and easily handled, are reduced in two one-electron steps, rendering them potentially useful as one-electron oxidants. As yet, few examples have been reported of the oxidation of organometallics to simple, primary redox products (*i.e.*, A⁺ from A). Quinone, semiquinone, or catecholate coordination may occur, either instead of or after electron transfer. Thus, [Rh(CO)(PPh₃)Cp] [(E_p)_{ox} = 0.0 V] and 1,2-O₂C₆Cl₄ (E° = -0.32 V) give [Rh{OC₆-Cl₄OC(O)}(PPh₃)Cp];³⁰⁶ the reaction is endergonic but most likely driven by the irreversible coupling, after electron transfer, of the carbonyl ligand of [Rh(CO)-(PPh₃)Cp]⁺ and the semiquinone anion radical.

The potential associated with the first reduction process is dependent both on pH and on the ring substituents.^{307,308} In the presence of HBF₄, 1,4benzoquinone ($E^{\circ} = -0.51 \text{ V}^{308}$) acts as a simple oxidant toward ferrocene,²⁰ [FeCp*₂],²⁵ and [Fe(η -C₅H₄COMe)₂]²⁶ giving high yields of the corresponding ferrocenium salts (of the [BF₄]⁻ anion). In the case of [Fe(η -C₅H₄COMe)₂] ($E^{\circ} = 0.49 \text{ V}$) the reaction is endergonic. Under the reaction conditions (non-aqueous solvent, HBF₄) the formal potential for the quinone/hydroquinone couple is not strictly known, but it is likely to be *ca*. 0.30 V, as found for aqueous solutions at pH = 0.³⁰⁹

Scheme 3



As an illustration of the effect of substituent on the redox potential of quinones, $[{Ni(\mu-Br)(\eta-allyl)}_2]$ is oxidized in DMF, according to the stoichiometry of Scheme 3, by 1,4-benzoquinone and the methyl and dimethyl derivatives ($E^\circ = -1.03$ to -1.15 V) but not by the tri- and tetramethyl analogues ($E^\circ = -1.25$ to -1.33 V).³¹⁰

5. Other Organic Oxidants

a. 4-Pyridinecarboxaldehyde, NC₅H₄CHO-4. 4-Pyridinecarboxaldehyde is a weak one-electron oxidant ($E^{\circ} = ca. -1.0$ V³¹¹). It is a commercially available liquid but should be distilled before use to remove the carboxylic acid, $NC_5H_4CO_2H-4$, and the alcohol, NC₅H₄CH₂OH-4, which are formed by slow decomposition. It can then be stored under N_2 at *ca*. -10 °C. The primary reduction product dimerizes to give diamagnetic products, presumably the pinacol $NC_5H_4CH(OH)CH(OH)C_5H_4N$ or the dianion [NC₅H₄CH(O)CH(O)C₅H₄N]²⁻. 4-Pyridinecarboxaldehyde is particularly useful, therefore, for the in situ generation of paramagnetic organometallics for ESR spectroscopic studies, for example, $[Cr_2(\mu-cot)Cp_2]^+$ $(E^{\circ} = -1.2 \text{ V})^{38}$ where other oxidants might give paramagnetic reduction products with interfering spectra.

4-Pyridinecarboxaldehyde can also be used in synthesis. Thus, treatment of a mixture of $[Cr-(\eta^{6}-arene)_{2}]$ in toluene and KPF₆ in water with the oxidant directly gives a precipitate of $[Cr(\eta^{6}-arene)_{2}]$ - $[PF_{6}]^{.312}$ In addition, the reaction of 4-pyridine-carboxaldehyde with $[Cr_{2}(\mu\text{-biphenyl})(\eta\text{-}C_{6}H_{6})_{2}]$ is highly selective, giving only the monocation $[Cr_{2}-(\mu\text{-biphenyl})(\eta\text{-}C_{6}H_{6})_{2}]^{+}$ ($E^{\circ}' = -0.82$ V vs Ag/AgCl); it is insufficiently strong to form the dication ($E^{\circ'} = -0.37$ V) though this species is formed exclusively with O_{2}^{219} (section II.A.2.d). Similar selectivity is observed with $[Co_{2}(CO)_{4}L_{2}]$ ($L = [Cr(\eta\text{-}C_{6}H_{5}PMe_{2})_{2}]$) which shows three sequential one-electron oxidations; the dication, but not the trication, was isolated.³¹³

b. Diphenyliodonium Cation, $[IPh_2]^+$, and Iodosobenzene, PhIO. Diphenyliodonium salts, $[IPh_2]X$ ($E^{\circ\prime} = ca. -0.9 V^{314}$), are commercially available as the halides (X = Cl, Br, or I) but may also be made in the laboratory (X = Cl,³¹⁵ [BF₄], [PF₆], [AsF₆], or [SbF₆]³¹⁶). The cation [IPh₂]⁺ is usually used in electrophilic arylation reactions but can also act as a one-electron oxidant toward transition metal complexes, as in eq 21. Although diamagnetic reduc-

$$[IPh_2]^+ + A = PhI + {}^{\bullet}Ph + A^+ \qquad (21)$$

tion products are therefore expected, namely iodobenzene and biphenyl (from the coupling of •Ph), in the reactions so far described, the phenyl radical has invariably abstracted a hydrogen atom from the solvent. Subsequent coupling of the solvent-based radical with A⁺ then occurs, as also observed for arenediazonium ion oxidations (section II.A.2.c). Thus, [WBr(N₂H)(dppe)₂], formed *in situ* from [WBr(N₂H₂)-(dppe)₂]⁺ and base, is oxidized by [IPh₂]Br to give [WBr(N₂H)(dppe)₂]⁺. Subsequent H-atom abstraction from CH₂Cl₂ or CHBr₃,³¹⁷ from CHCl₃ or CBrCl₃,³¹⁸ or from CHFBr₂,³¹⁹ and coupling of the resulting radicals with [WBr(N₂H)(dppe)₂]⁺ gives [WBr(N₂-CHO)(dppe)₂], [WBr(N₂CCl₂)(dppe)₂], and [W₂Br₂(μ -N₂CHN₂)(dppe)₄]⁺, respectively. Likewise, [IPh₂]⁺ and [Mo(CO)₃Tp']⁻ gave [Mo(CX)(CO)₂Tp'] (in CH₂-Cl₂, X = Cl; in CHBr₃, X = Br; in CHI₃, X = I) or [Mo(η^2 -COPh)(CO)₂Tp'] by direct coupling of the phenyl radical with [Mo(CO)₃Tp'] (in MeCN).²¹¹

Iodosobenzene, a yellow amorphous powder which slowly decomposes (and explodes when heated above 210 °C³²⁰), has also been used as a one-electron oxidant. With [Fe(C=CHMe)(dppe)Cp]⁺ it gives [Fe₂{ μ -C=C(Me)C(Me)=C}(dppe)₂Cp₂]²⁺ in a reaction unsuccessful with other oxidants such as [C₇H₇]⁺, [N₂-Ph]⁺, and halogens.⁹²

III. Reductants

Far fewer reagents have been reported for the reduction of organometallic complexes, when compared to the large number of oxidants. In part this stems from the smaller number of studies of electronrich organometallics. However, the difficulty of handling strong reducing agents (especially their inherent sensitivity to oxidation by O_2) undoubtedly also plays a role. As will be seen below, with only a few exceptions (*e.g.*, alkali metals and cobaltocene), most reducing agents have received inadequate attention to demonstrate the breadth and limitations of their use. There is ample need to develop new reducing agents and for more systematic studies of several of those we now discuss.

A. Inorganic

1. Alkali Metals

Although the formal potentials of eq 22 (M = alkali metal) are not known with great certainty under the

$$M^+ + e^- \rightleftharpoons M \tag{22}$$

conditions usually applied in organometallic synthesis, they are very negative (*ca.* -3.0 V, Table 3), making the alkali metals extremely powerful reducing agents. Their potentials are quite solvent dependent, as might be expected for a couple in which one redox state (M⁺) is much more strongly solvated than the other. For example, E° of Na⁺/Na becomes more positive by *ca.* 1.0 V in changing the solvent from DMF to NH₃. With potentials in the range -2.4 to -3.1 V, alkali metals have proved to be popular reductants. Even dilute amalgams have sufficiently negative potentials to be classified as strong reductants (*e.g.*, 0.1% Na/Hg: -2.2 V).

This family of reagents is subject to an important experimental drawback when applied in a stoichiometric manner on small scales: surface oxide formation, which lowers the reductive efficiency of the metal. Considerable care must be taken to ensure the formation of active metal surfaces for the necessarily heterogeneous reactions involving these metals. Several approaches of increasing rigor have been used to produce reactive surfaces, namely (a) freshlycut pieces of metal, (b) metallic sands formed by heating the metal in a solvent above the melting point of M, followed by cooling of the mixture while maintaining rapid stirring, and (c) metallic mirrors formed by distillation of metals in vacuo. Mixed alkali metal alloys and metal amalgams have also proved popular. Some Na/K alloys are liquids at room temperature, commercially available in high purity, and easily handled under inert atmospheres. However, they present *extreme fire hazards* when exposed to moist air because of their high surface area and reactivity with water. They should be used with great caution.

A limited number of solvents may be employed with alkali metals, THF and glyme being the most popular [potentials of the M⁺/M couple in nonaqueous solvents have usually been measured by polarographic reduction of the M(I) ion because M(0) will often react with the solvent]. The reductions are often performed in the presence of a macrocycle (a crown ether or cryptand) capable of complexing the M⁺ counterion. The complex counterion (e.g., [M(mac $rocycle)_n$ ⁺) tends to stabilize and solubilize³²¹ the electron-transfer salts $[M(macrocycle)_m]_n[A]^{n-}$ (A = target anion) and is particularly useful when seeking larger crystalline forms of the product. The most commonly used macrocycles³²² are 12-crown-4 (15) and 2,2,2-cryptand (16) for Li⁺; 2,2,2-cryptand (and 12-crown-5) for Na⁺; and 18-crown-6 (17) for K⁺.



Stoichiometric amounts of potassium sand were successfully employed to reduce neutral complexes with low electron affinities to their corresponding monoanions. $[V(\eta^6-\text{arene})_2] (E^{\circ}' = -3.2 \text{ V})^{323}$ in THF with 1.1 equiv of potassium gave ca. 20% yield of the 18-electron anion $K[V(\eta$ -arene)₂],³²⁴ and $[Ce(\eta$ -C₈H₈)₂] in glyme gave an analytically pure precipitate of $K[Ce(\eta - C_8H_8)_2]$.³²⁵ In the latter case, 2 equiv of K and higher reaction temperatures (increased solubility of K[Ce(η -C₈H₈)₂]?) gave the pure dianion, K₂[Ce(η -C₈H₈)₂]. Vanadocene, [VCp₂], undergoes a oneelectron reduction at -3.30 V in THF.³²⁶ In spite of the very negative potential, $[K(THF)(OEt_2)][VCp_2]$ was isolated from the reduction of [VCp₂] by potassium and used as a starting material to make organovanadium compounds in low oxidation states.³²⁷

Neutral 17-electron Co(0) complexes have also been successfully reduced to their 18e⁻ analogues; $[CoL_2]$ (L = η^4 -1,4-But₂butadiene) stirred in THF with K in the presence of 18-crown-6 gave red crystals of $[K(crown)(THF)_2][CoL_2]$.³²⁸ $[Co(\eta$ -C₂H₄)(PMe₃)₃] with K in pentane gave the simple monoanion K[Co(η -C₂H₄)(PMe₃)₃] when cyclopentene was present in the

reaction mixture and the dinuclear product K[{Co- $(\eta$ -C₂H₄)(PMe₃)₃]₂] when it was not.³²⁹

Sodium often provides reducing equivalents for substitution reactions of compounds with metal– halogen bonds. Typical of these applications are the reductions of $[MoCl_4Cp^*]$ by 3 equiv of Na in the presence of phosphine ligands, L. Depending on the stoichiometric ratio of L to the Mo(V) starting material, the Mo(II) complexes isolated are either 18electron $[MoClL_3Cp^*]$ (with 3 equiv of L)³³⁰ or 16electron $[MoClL_2Cp^*]$ (with 2 equiv of L).³³¹

Anions of main group organometallics have been isolated after alkali metal reduction of their neutral starting materials. The complex $[Ga_2L_4]$ (L = 1,3,5triisopropylphenyl) and a suspension of Li powder in diethyl ether containing 12-crown-4 gave [Li(12- $(rown-4)_2$ [Ga₂L₄],³³² and the same metal in a slight stoichiometric excess allowed the isolation of blue [Li-(12-crown-4)₂][B(mesityl)₃].³³³ The reduction potential of B(mesityl)₃ is *ca.* -2.9 V; a second (irreversible) reduction wave at *ca.* -3.5 V³³⁴ provides a rationale for more recent observations in which the *di*anion of BMe₂Ph has apparently been observed in situ.³³⁵ Sodium mirror reduction of BMe₂Ph in THF gave blue solutions typical of $[BR_3]^-$ (λ_{max} 660 nm), but potassium mirrors produced solutions of the purple dianion (λ_{max} 581 nm), albeit in longer reaction times.335

In some cases, ligand-coupled products were obtained, presumably from one-electron reduction products with considerable ligand radical character. Examples are the reductive coupling of the alkylidene complex [Cr(=CPh)(CO)₂Cp] by Na/K³³⁶ (giving **18**) and the coupling of Cp and Cp* ligands in the Na/ Hg reduction of [RhCpCp*]^{+,337} Even though metal



amalgams are considerably weaker reducing agents than M (Table 3), in the last example the potential for Na/Hg in THF is still negative of the reported reduction potential (-2.07 V)³³⁷ of the Rh(III) complex, allowing efficient production of the reduction product. This strategy had been employed much earlier in the reductive coupling of the parent rhodocenium ion.³³⁸ It may be appropriate to note that a similar ligand–ligand coupling reaction occurs when the cation [Fe(CO)₃(η ⁵-pentadienyl)]⁺ is reduced by the milder reductant, zinc.³³⁹

Other amalgams (Mg/Hg, Zn/Hg)³⁴⁰ and alloys have also been employed. Among the latter, commercially available Na/Pb should be considered as an alternative to Na/Hg owing to its ease of handling for stoichiometric uses.³⁴¹

In a variation of the usual synthetic method, others have employed the alkalide [K(18-crown-6)][K] to reduce [Mn(CO)₃Cp], producing *in situ* the interesting dianion [Mn(CO)₃(η^3 -C₅H₅)]^{2-.342} A ring-slipped dianion has also been produced by the action of Li sand on a fused-ring aromatic chromium tricarbonyl complex, [Cr(CO)₃(η^{6} -cyclobutabenzene)] (**19**), which underwent electrochemical reduction at -3.0 V.³⁴³



2. Complex Reducing Agents

A host of complex reductants containing maingroup metals has been widely used in organic chemistry.³⁴⁴ These reagents are mechanistically complex, and their reactions as one-electron reagents are often unpredictable.^{151a} Nevertheless, the familiarity gained in their use has inspired applications in organometallic ET chemistry, some of which are noted here.

Included in the category of complex reducing agents are lithium alkyls and aryls and simple and complex metal hydrides {NaH, LiAlH₄, K[BH(CH-MeEt)₃] ("K selectride"), etc.}, virtually all of which are commercially available. One-electron potentials for these reducing agents are generally ill-defined, and even when known the irreversibility of the couples lends uncertainty to their significance in ET applications. Among the compounds for which $E^{\circ\prime}$ values have been estimated are [AlH₄]⁻ (-0.7 V in THF),³⁴⁵ MgBrBu^t (-1.5 V in Et₂O),³⁴⁶ LiBz (-1.4 V in THF/HMPA),³⁴⁷ and [BH₄]⁻ (*ca.* -0.6 V in diglyme).³⁴⁸

The borohydride ion, $[BH_4]^-$, is a mild reducing agent. It is most often used as the sodium salt which may be obtained in high purity by recrystallization from diglyme.³⁴⁹ For example, a suspension of $[Co_2-(\mu-CO)(\mu-NO)Cp^*_2]^+$ ($E^{\circ'} = -0.7$ V) was successfully reduced to $[Co_2(\mu-CO)(\mu-NO)Cp^*_2]$ when treated with an excess of Na[BH₄] in THF/pentane.³⁵⁰ Other counterions, however, confer solubility in lower polarity solvents. Since Na[BH₄] is insoluble in CH₂-Cl₂, commercially available [NBu₄][BH₄] was used to reduce [Rh₂(CO)₂{P(OPh₃)₂} $\{\mu$ -PhNC(Me)NPh₂]⁺ (**20**) ($E^{\circ'} = -0.43$ V) to [Rh₂(CO)₂{P(OPh₃)₂} $\{\mu$ -PhNC(Me)-NPh₁₂].³⁵¹



(20, X = CMe, R = C_6H_4Me-4)

LiAlH₄ can act as a one-electron reductant toward organometallic complexes.³⁵² It gives different reduction products with [Mo(CO)₃LCp^{*}]⁺ (L = phosphine; $E_p = -2.3$ V for L = PMe₃) under different experimental conditions.^{352c} When a 4:1 ratio of LiAlH₄: Mo(II) complex was reacted at -20 °C for 1 h, the metal hydrides [MoH(CO)₂LCp^{*}] and [MoH(CO)L₂-Cp^{*}] were isolated in good yield. Reduction of the Mo(II) cation by a substoichiometric amount of Li-AlH₄ at -80 °C, however, gave ESR spectroscopic evidence for a radical intermediate. The spectrum was obtained by distilling THF onto a solid mixture of LiAlH₄ and the Mo(II) complex, letting the reactants mix as the solvent melted, and then quenching the mixture in liquid nitrogen.³⁵²

Lithium aryls and alkyls (LiR) have estimated $E^{\circ'}$ values which vary greatly, depending on the identity of R (*e.g.*, R = Bu^t, *ca.* -2.7 V; R = Cp, *ca.* -0.8 V).^{345,347} *n*-Butyllithium has been used to reduce [ZrR₄] (R = Me, Bz) to the corresponding dianion, Li₂-[ZrR₄], which may be polymeric.³⁵³ 1-Norbornyl-lithium efficiently reduced [Co(1-norbornyl)₄]⁺ and allowed the isolation of [Li(THF)₄][Co(1-norbornyl)₄] in spite of the very negative potential (-2.02 V) of the [Co(1-norbornyl)₄]^{0/-} couple.³⁵⁴

3. Hydrazine

The reducing strength of hydrazine (N₂H₄) in aqueous media is highly pH-dependent. It has been widely employed as a reductant in inorganic chemistry³⁵⁵ but has been little explored under nonaqueous conditions. The anhydrous reagent, an air-sensitive liquid, has been used to reduce octahedral Mn(II) complexes (*e.g.*, [MnBr(CO)₂(PMe₂Ph)₃]^{+ 192} and [Mn-(CN)(CO)₂{P(OPh)₃}(dppm)]⁺) to their corresponding Mn(I) analogues in CH₂Cl₂.³⁵⁶ An advantage of this mild reducing agent ($E_{1/2} = -0.4$ V in DMSO³⁵⁷) is that the redox byproducts are relatively benign (N₂ and unknown H-containing products, possibly H₂O).

B. Organic

1. Metal Naphthalenides

These powerful reductants, which are prepared in situ, have formal potentials of ca. -3.0 V. THF, glyme, or other ethers are employed as solvents since most other media react with the naphthalene anion, [NAP]⁻. Small, freshly cut pieces of an alkali metal dissolve when stirred (using a glass-coated stirring bar) with equimolar naphthalene to produce deep green M[NAP]. Medium-sized metal chunks have been said to give results superior to those obtained with metal dispersions or sands.³⁵⁸ Although the complete reaction takes several hours, if the green color ($\lambda_{max} = 463$, 735 nm; $\epsilon = ca. 2500$)^{359,360} does not immediately appear, the solvent is probably wet or improperly degassed; more rigorous conditions should be sought. Concentrations of 0.1–0.5 M are commonly employed, but under very stringent conditions Beer's law was shown to hold for concentrations of Na[NAP] down to less than 10 mM.³⁵⁹ Transfer of the M[NAP] solution to that containing the substrate is accomplished with a volumetric syringe. It must be emphasized that all reagents and glassware should be scrupulously dry and oxygen-free to obtain quantitative results. Since the dianion of naphthalene is probably not formed in any significant quantity when NAP is in contact with excess alkali metal,³⁶¹ a constant titre of M[NAP] may be aided by using a small excess of the metal in preparation of the reagent stock solution. Stock solutions may be used for several days if adequately protected, but the sensitivity of these reagents to air and moisture precludes a general statement about their shelf lives.

The concentration of M[NAP] in the stock solution is measured by titration. Quenching a solution with excess water, eq 23, followed by titration with stan-

$$M[NAP] + H_2O \rightarrow M^+ + OH^- + C_{10}H_8 \text{ and } C_{10}H_{10}$$
 (23)

dardized HCl to a phenolphthalein endpoint gives the total base concentration, [B], of the reagent solution. The concentration of B is not, however, equal to the effective M[NAP] concentration unless no hydrolytic decomposition of M[NAP] occurred at any time in the preparation of the stock solution. Since this condition normally cannot be assured, many workers have relied on a double (or "blank") titration method to measure the effective M[NAP] concentration. To this end, quenching the stock solution with an alkyl halide, which destroys M[NAP] *without* liberation of base, provides the blank when titrated with HCl.³⁶² A method for *direct* titration of Li[NAP] against 1,1-diphenylethylene has been described.³⁶³

The naphthalenide anion is ESR-active ($\langle g \rangle$ = 2.0028);³⁶⁴ reaction byproducts such as naphthalene and dihydronaphthalene are easily removed by passing the reaction mixture through silica gel.

Although naphthalenides of Li, Na, and K seem to be used interchangeably, in principle the countercation should affect their reactivities. ESR spectroscopic studies establish that ion pairing between $[C_{10}H_8]^-$ and M⁺ increases in the order Li⁺ < Na⁺ < K⁺.³⁶⁵ The formal potentials of the ion-paired reagents should increase in the same way, i.e., Li[NAP] < Na[NAP] < K[NAP], the lithium reagent therefore being the strongest reductant of the three. Because M[NAP] are only weakly dissociated in ether solvents,³⁶⁶ the effect on the formal potentials is likely to be significant although we are not aware of systematic studies probing this point. Interestingly, the sequence of ion-pairing strength for M[NAP] is opposite to that found for the benzophenone anion radical (section III.B.2). Smaller cations are more effectively complexed by the oxygens of the solvent in ether solutions of $[C_{10}H_8]^-$, accounting for the lower ion pairing observed for M[NAP] with smaller cations. The solvation effect is insufficient to overcome the major source of ion pairing in the benzophenone anion, which is between the metal and the carbonyl oxygen, with stronger pairing being observed with smaller cations.³⁶⁵

M[NAP] has typically been employed to generate the monoanion of a substrate for the purposes of spectroscopic or X-ray characterization, for example, of metal pyrazolylborates,³⁶⁷ tungsten and titanium alkyls,^{368,369} and metal clusters.³⁷⁰ Dianions have also been suitable targets, including [W(C₂Ph₂)₃]²⁻ from [W(CO)(C₂Ph₂)₃],³⁷¹ [M(CO)₅]²⁻ from [M(CO)₅(NMe₃)] (M = Cr, Mo, W),³⁷² [Mn(CO)₂Cp]²⁻ from [Mn(CO)₂-(pyr)Cp],³⁷³ and [Cr(CO)₃(η^4 -arene)]²⁻ from [Cr(CO)₃-(η^6 -arene)].³⁴³ In another reaction, using 2 equiv of M[NAP], the monoanion [Mn(CO)₃(η^4 -benzene]⁻ was produced from the monocation [Mn(CO)₃(η^6 -benzene)]⁺.³⁷⁴ In related studies, reduction of [Mn(CO)₃-(η^5 -indenyl)] with 2 equiv of K[NAP] in THF gave the dianion [Mn(CO)₃(η^3 -indenyl)]²⁻, characterized *in situ* by IR spectroscopy.³⁷⁵ The use of metal encapsulating agents such as the kryptofix series sometimes aids crystal formation and isolation. Thus, the monoanion $[Mn(CO)_3(\eta\text{-indenyl})]^-$ was isolated as a thermally unstable salt when $[Mn(CO)_3(\eta^5\text{-indenyl})]$ was reduced by 1 equiv of K[NAP] in the presence of 18-crown-6.³⁷⁵

The reducing strength of M[NAP] is well exemplified by the results of Cooper *et al.*³⁷² regarding the reduction of $[W(CO)_5(NMe_3)]$. The desired dianion $[W(CO)_5]^{2-}$ was obtained only with K[NAP] or Li-[NAP]. The reaction with other strong reducing agents such as Na/Hg, K, sodium benzophenone anion, and sodium anthracenide stopped at the dinuclear dianion, $[W_2(CO)_{10}]^{2-}$.

On the other hand, the strength of M[NAP] can sometimes lead to excessive reduction. The reaction of the cluster [Ni₃(μ_3 -CO)₂Cp₃] ($E^{\circ\prime} = -1.4$ V) with K[NAP] gave only decomposition, whereas the milder reductant K[acenaphthalene] gave the desired monoanion [Ni₃(μ_3 -CO)₂Cp₃]⁻³⁷⁰

Metal naphthalenides are also used to provide reducing equivalents in one-pot reactions which ultimately yield substituted metal complexes in lower oxidation states, as in the reduction of $[TiCl_3Cp]$ (4 equiv of Na[NAP] under CO) to give $[Ti(CO)_4Cp]^{-376a}$ and the production of metallocarboranes from starting ligands and metal halides.^{376b}

The innocence of the metal naphthalenides is not assured when the transition metal is capable of forming metal–arene complexes. Initial reduction products may be labile in the presence of naphthalene, the byproduct of the redox reaction; napthalene coordination, in a η^{4-} or η^{6-} mode, is found in the products of the reductions of $[Mn(CO)_3(\eta^{6-}$ benzene)]⁺ and vanadocene, namely $[Mn(CO)_3(\eta^{4-}C_{10}H_8)]^{-374}$ and $[VCp(\eta^{6-}C_{10}H_8)]^{-,377}$ respectively. When $[Mn(CO)_3(\eta^{6-}$ benzene)]⁺ was reduced with potassium anthracenide, substitution of $[Mn(CO)_3(\eta^{4-}$ benzene)]^- by anthracene was much slower, enabling studies of the addition reactions of $[Mn(CO)_3(\eta^{4-}$ benzene)]^- with diphenylketene.³⁷⁸

2. Benzophenone Anion Radical

Given the strength ($E^{\circ'} = -2.2$ V for the couple Ph₂-CO/[Ph₂CO]⁻) and ease of preparation of this reagent, the benzophenone radical anion, [Ph₂CO]⁻ (BPA)³⁷⁹ is an under-used reducing agent in organometallic chemistry. It is prepared by the alkali metal (M) reduction of benzophenone (eq 24) in aprotic solvents such as THF, glyme, or liquid ammonia. BPA cannot be used in halocarbon solvents because it reacts rapidly with alkyl halides.³⁸⁰ As discussed below, a possible further complication in the use of BPA is the involvement of the benzophenone *di*anion (eq 25).

$$Ph_2CO + M \rightleftharpoons [Ph_2CO]^-$$
 (24)

$$[Ph_2CO]^- + M \rightleftharpoons [Ph_2CO]^{2-}$$
(25)

To date, BPA has been used mostly to initiate the electron-transfer-catalyzed substitution reactions of organometallic cluster compounds. Representative examples include the substitution of phosphines for carbonyls in $[Ru_3(CO)_{12}]^{381}$ and $[Co_3(CO)_9(CPh)]^{.382}$

BPA is prepared *in situ* in a dissolving alkali metal reaction;³⁸³ the dark blue monoanion was, interestingly, the first recognized radical anion.³⁸⁴ It displays a multiline ESR spectrum in fluid media³⁸⁵ and must be handled in the rigorous absence of oxygen and water. Contact with the former regenerates neutral Ph₂CO (BPA has been recommended for scavenging the last traces of O₂ from N₂³⁸⁶); with the latter, the coupling product pinacol is formed.³⁸⁷ BPA is routinely employed for the rigorous drying of ether solvents. Optical spectra of BPA have been reported (*e.g.*, $\lambda_{max} = 630$ nm, $\epsilon = ca$. 6×10^3 , in MeCN).³⁸⁸

Of interest in the further development of BPA as a stoichiometric reagent is the question of the possible involvement of the dianion, [Ph₂CO]²⁻, in solutions nominally of the monoanion. Electrochemical measurements show that the dianion is formed at a potential accessible to the alkali metals. The most reliable studies suggest an E° value of ca. -2.9 V for the couple [Ph₂CO]^{-/}[Ph₂CO]^{2-,389} positive of the potentials of the couples M^+/M (M = Li, Na, K; Table 3). Evidence that the dianion is present under the synthetic conditions for the production of BPA comes from the color of the solution. With excess metal the solution becomes purple, which is the known color of the dianion.³⁹⁰ Although the addition of the second electron is said to be "slow", 391 the buildup of $[Ph_2CO]^{2-}$ is likely limited by its propensity to scavenge trace water from the medium. Further work on quantifying this reagent would be welcome.

It is interesting to note that the strength of ion pairing between M^+ and BPA is $K^+ < Na^+ < Li^+$, a sequence opposite to that of aromatic hydrocarbon anions such as the naphthalenide ion in ether solvents (section III.B.1).³⁹² One may therefore expect the potassium benzophenone anion to be the strongest reducing agent in the three-metal series.

3. Triethylamine

Triethylamine is a weak reductant (irreversible peak potential, $E_{\rm p}$, = +0.47 V in MeCN³⁹³), whose oxidation byproducts have not been established. In spite of these negative factors, it has seen a few applications in organometallic redox chemistry. For example, in toluene it reduces [MoI₂(NO)Tp'] ($E^{\circ'} = -0.34$ V) to the corresponding monoanion³⁹⁴ and it appears to initiate ET-catalyzed substitution reactions of [Fe(CO)₃(η^5 -L)]⁺ (L = Cp or indenyl)³⁹⁵ and [Mn(CO)₂(NO)Cp']⁺.³⁹⁶ The substitution of a single CO in [Fe(CO)₃Cp]⁺ by phosphine in the presence of NEt₃ is very efficient, considering that the electrochemical reduction potential of [Fe(CO)₃Cp]⁺ ($E_{\rm pc} = -0.60$ V)³⁹⁵ is *ca.* 1.0 V *negative* of the approximate $E^{\circ'}$ of NEt₃. Thus, if NEt₃ does act as an electron-transfer catalyst (according to eqs 26 and 27) the

$$[Fe(CO)_{3}Cp]^{+} + NEt_{3} \rightleftharpoons [Fe(CO)_{3}Cp] + [NEt_{3}]^{+}$$
(26)

$$[Fe(CO)_{3}Cp] + PR_{3} \rightarrow [Fe(CO)_{2}(PR_{3})Cp] + CO$$
(27)

rapid substitution of $19e^-$ [Fe(CO)₃Cp] by PR₃ (eq 27) and the subsequent oxidation of [Fe(CO)₂(PR₃)] by

another unit of $[Fe(CO)_3Cp]^+$ must allow the chain reaction to proceed despite the highly endergonic electron-transfer reaction (eq 26).

4. $C_2(NMe_2)_4$

Tetrakis(dimethylamino)ethylene, $C_2(NMe_2)_4$, reduces TCNE³⁹⁷ and metal carbonyls³⁹⁸ to give salts of the dication $[C_2(NMe_2)_4]^{2+}$, for example, $[C_2(NMe_2)_4]$ -[TCNE]₂ and $[C_2(NMe_2)_4]$ [Co(CO)₄]₂. Though airsensitive, ³⁹⁸ the liquid alkene is commercially available and merits further attention as a two-electron reductant soluble in a wide range of organic solvents (*e.g.*, toluene, diethyl ether, MeCN, and THF).

C. Organometallic

1. Metal Sandwich Complexes

a. Cobaltocene. Cobaltocene, $[CoCp_2]$, is to reductions what the ferrocenium ion is to oxidations: a readily-available metal sandwich complex of moderate redox strength which has become the most popular choice for inducing one-electron changes. This black compound, readily prepared and purified by vacuum sublimation,³⁹⁹ has a number of attractive properties, including solubility in a range of nonpolar and polar solvents. It is air-sensitive in both the solid state and in solution (one study took advantage of this quality by employing $[CoCp_2]$ to scavenge adventitious oxygen, thereby preventing electron-transfer-catalyzed substitution of carbonyls in $[Co-(CO)_4]$.

Cobaltocene should be freshly sublimed (>40 °C, 10^{-4} mmHg) before use, but it can be stored for *ca.* 1 week at -10 °C under N₂ without deterioration in its elemental (C and H) analysis. It has a rich chemistry⁴⁰¹ with its facile oxidation ($E^{\circ} = ca. -1.3$ V) to the corresponding cobaltocenium ion, [CoCp₂]⁺ being relevant here (eq 28); it is almost always an innocent reagent.⁴⁰²

$$[CoCp_2] \rightleftharpoons [CoCp_2]^+ + e^- \qquad (28)$$

Cobaltocene has been used as a one-electron reducing agent in solvents such as pentane, toluene, THF, CH_2Cl_2 ,⁴⁰³ acetone, and MeCN. The redox byproduct, $[CoCp_2]^+$, generally has poor solubility in relatively nonpolar solvents and is often removed from the reaction mixture by simple filtration. $[CoCp_2]^+$ does not usually interfere seriously in visible ($\lambda_{max} = 409$ nm, $\epsilon = 200$) or ¹H NMR (δ 6.25) spectroscopic studies. It may, however, present an electrochemical interference in the product owing to the two successive one-electron reductions at *ca.* –1.3 and –2.2 V.⁴⁰⁴ Being diamagnetic, $[CoCp_2]^+$ is ESR-silent. Unreacted $[CoCp_2]$ is also ESR-silent down to temperatures considerably below that of liquid nitrogen.⁴⁰⁵

Cobaltocene has been employed to reduce monocations and dications to neutral complexes by using one or two reducing equivalents, respectively. Evaporation of the reaction mixture followed by extraction with a nonpolar solvent will normally result in facile separation of the desired product from that of the cationic starting material and cobaltocenium ion, especially if a slightly substoichiometric amount of $[CoCp_2]$ is employed. This approach has succeeded in the preparation of dirhenium complexes, 406, 407 $[M(\eta^4$ -polymethylthiophene)Cp*] (M = Rh, Ir),⁴⁰⁸ $[Ru(\eta^4-Me_4thiophene)(\eta-C_6Me_6)],^{409}$ and $[Ir_4S_4Cp^*_4].^{410}$ thiophene) $(\eta$ -C₆Me₆)]²⁺ and [Ir₄S₄Cp*₄]²⁺ underwent two separate one-electron reductions ($E^{\circ} = -1.0$ and -1.2 \overline{V} for the Ru complex⁴⁰⁹ and -0.8 and -1.1 V for the Ir cluster⁴¹⁰]); both second reduction potentials were sufficiently positive of that of $[CoCp_2]$ (ca. -1.3 V) to assure quantitative formation of the twoelectron reduced products. In a related result that is somewhat surprising, the reduction of the trigonal bipyramidal cluster [Ir₃S₂Cp*₃]²⁺ proceeded to completion with 2 equiv of cobaltocene; the complex [Ir₃S₂-Cp*₃] was isolated in 96% yield even though the formal potentials of the dication, -1.1 and -1.4 V, do not suggest that an equilibrium mixture would favor the neutral cluster.⁴¹⁰

A powerful application of cobaltocene is in the isolation of anions with $[CoCp_2]^+$ as the countercation. The most common strategy is to mix solutions of $[CoCp_2]$ and the neutral substrate, A, in relatively nonpolar media and collect the resulting slightly soluble ET salt [A][CoCp_2] (eq 29). This procedure

$$[CoCp_2] + A \rightleftharpoons [A][CoCp_2]$$
(29)

often results in analytically pure samples even though the anions might be quite air-sensitive. $^{191,411-416}$ Among the anions isolated in this way are $[{\rm MoCl}_2({\rm NO})(\eta\text{-}{\rm C}_5{\rm R}_5)]^-$ (R = H, Me), 411,417 [Fe4(CO)₁₁- $(\mu\text{-}{\rm PR})_2]^{-,412}$ and an iron cluster anion [Fe4S4(NO)4]^{- 418} (from THF), [VCl_3Cp']^{-,413} [TiCl_3Cp]^{-,414} [Co-(S_2N_2)Cp]^{-,415} and a rhenium dinuclear anion¹⁹¹ (from CH₂Cl₂), [Re₂Me₄O₂]^{- 419} (from pentane), Mo(V) polypyrazolylborates, 416 [TiCl₂Cp₂]^{-,420} and [Co(CO)4]^{- 421} (from benzene or toluene), and [V(CO)₆]^{-} (from diethyl ether). 421 In several cases involving cobaltocenium salts of metal carbonylates, strong ion pairing in the ET salts gives rise to unusual chemical and physical properties. 421,422

Discussion of two anions of the above group will serve to demonstrate the effectiveness of cobaltocene in isolating salts of unstable anions. The existence of the Ti(III) anions $[TiX_2Cp_2]^-$ (X = halide) had been the subject of debate, based on contrary views of electrochemical results which were ambiguous about halide dissociation from the primary monoanion (eq 30).⁴²³ The isolation of the Ti(III) dichloro and

$$[\text{TiX}_2\text{Cp}_2] + e^- \rightleftharpoons [\text{TiX}_2\text{Cp}_2]^- \to [\text{TiX}\text{Cp}_2] + X^-$$
(30)

dibromo derivatives $[CoCp_2][TiX_2Cp_2]$ from toluene proved the existence of the complex anions and allowed systematic studies of their solvolysis in THF. The dichloride proved to be stable in this medium, whereas the dibromide underwent loss of Br^{-.420}

When THF solutions of the metal nitrosyl cluster $[Fe_4(\mu_3-S)_4(NO)_4]$ were put in contact with sodium amalgam for a few minutes, the secondary product $[Fe_4(\mu_3-S)_3(NO)_7]^-$ was formed and isolated as the $[AsPh_4]^+$ salt.⁴¹⁸ When 1 equiv of cobaltocene (or benzophenone anion)⁴²⁴ was used as reductant, the salt $[CoCp_2][Fe_4(\mu_3-S)_4(NO)_4]$ was isolated. The for-

mation of two different products is rationalized by the reported potentials of $[Fe_4S_4(NO)_4]^z$; two reversible one-electron reductions were observed at *ca.* -0.3 and -1.1 V for the couples $[Fe_4S_4(NO)_4]/[Fe_4S_4(NO)_4]^$ and $[Fe_4S_4(NO)_4]^-/[Fe_4S_4(NO)_4]^2^-$, respectively. The potential of $[CoCp_2]$ is sufficiently negative to reduce the cluster to its *di*anion, but the comproportionation reaction of eq 31 would stop the reduction at the oneelectron stage if one reducing equivalent is used.

$$[\operatorname{Fe}_4 S_4(\operatorname{NO})_4]^{2-} + [\operatorname{Fe}_4 S_4(\operatorname{NO})_4] \rightleftharpoons 2[\operatorname{Fe}_4 S_4(\operatorname{NO})_4]^-$$
(31)

The dianion, which is generated when the neutral complex is treated with excess reductant (as in the Na/Hg reduction), may, however, be subject to further reactions not apparent on the CV time scale. This is most likely why, under some conditions, the secondary product was formed in the sodium reduction.⁴²⁴

When inherently unstable anions are the redox product, the use of $[CoCp_2]$ as reductant does not alter the course of their decomposition, as apparent from several studies involving the loss of halide from the initial reduction product (see eqs 32^{425} and 33^{426}):

$$[\operatorname{Ru}_{2}(\mu-\operatorname{Cl})_{2}\operatorname{Cl}_{2}\operatorname{Cp}^{*}_{2}] + [\operatorname{CoCp}_{2}] \rightarrow [\operatorname{Ru}_{2}(\mu-\operatorname{Cl})_{3}\operatorname{Cp}^{*}_{2}] + [\operatorname{CoCp}_{2}]\operatorname{Cl} (32)$$

$$[\text{ReBr}_{2}(\text{CO})_{2}\text{Cp}^{*}] + 2[\text{CoCp}_{2}] \rightarrow \\ [\text{ReBr}(\text{CO})_{2}\text{Cp}^{*}]^{-} + \text{Br}^{-} + 2[\text{CoCp}_{2}]^{+} (33)$$

A similar strategy has been employed to form metal carbonyls such as $[Mn_2(CO)_{10}]$, $[Fe(CO)_5]$, and $[V(CO)_4-(dppe)]$ from halide-containing precursors.^{420,427}

Recognizing that these halide-expulsion reactions are irreversible, it is relevant to mention an analogous study of the reduction of the metal alkylidene complex [Fe{=CMe(OMe)}(CO)₂Cp*]⁺ (irreversible reduction, $E_p = -1.8$ V in CH₂Cl₂).⁴²⁸ Although the reduction potential disfavors formation of the oneelectron reduction product, treatment of the cation with a stoichiometric amount of [CoCp₂] results in a quantitative yield of [Fe(COMe)(CO)₂Cp*]; the same product is formed electrochemically. This is a clear example of irreversibility driving the electron-transfer process despite, in this case, an unfavorable difference of *ca*. 400 mV between $E^{\circ'}$ of cobaltocene and E_p of the iron complex.⁴²⁸ A similar conclusion was drawn with regard to the reaction of [CoCp₂] with [Mn₂(CO)₁₀], which gives [CoCp₂][Mn(CO)₅].⁴²²

In a few cases, the stronger reductant $[CoCp_2]$ has been used in place of cobaltocene. The permethylated derivative is more air-sensitive than $[CoCp_2]$, befitting its more negative (by *ca*. 600 mV) potential. Nevertheless, it is thermally stable, easily purified by vacuum sublimation,⁴²⁹ and shares most of the advantageous physical and spectroscopic properties enjoyed by its unsubstituted analogue. Solutions of $[CoCp_2]$ in ether solvents may be prepared for use as needed by reduction of $[CoCp_2]^+$ with alkali metal mirrors (and presumably other reducing agents), followed by filtration of the solution directly into a solution of the reducible substrate.⁴³⁰ $[CoCp_2]$ has proved to be effective when $[CoCp_2]$ was too weak to bring about the desired electron-transfer reaction.^{427,430,431} When applied to fullerene reductions, $[CoCp_2]$ gives $[C_{60}]^-$ and $[CoCp_2]^2$ gives $[C_{60}]^{2-.432}$

In one of these studies,⁴³¹ precipitation of the salt $[CoCp_2^*][A]$ was the apparent driving force for the reaction since the potential for the one-electron reduction of $[W(CO)_2(NO)(\eta^5-C_5HPh_4) (A, -2.2 V)]$ is substantially negative of that of $[CoCp_2^*]$.

b. [Fe(η -C₅R₅)(η -C₆Me₆)]. The 19-electron complex [FeCp(η -C₆Me₆)] shares many chemical and physical characteristics with other neutral metal sandwich complex reductants such as [CoCp*₂], with which it compares favorably in reducing strength ($E^{\circ}' = -2.09$ V for eq 34). Thanks to the efforts of

 $[FeCp(\eta - C_6Me_6)]^+ + e^- \rightleftharpoons [FeCp(\eta - C_6Me_6)] \quad (34)$

Astruc and co-workers, this reagent has already received attention as a reductive trigger for catalytic and stoichiometric reactions. The reader is referred to the review literature for details.⁴³³

 $[FeCp(\eta-C_6Me_6)]$ is prepared in high yield by the action of sodium amalgam on the corresponding 18electron cation $[FeCp(\eta-C_6Me_6)]^+$ in glyme under argon.⁴³⁴ Although air-sensitive, the deep green compound is thermally stable and sublimes at 70 °C at 2×10^{-4} mmHg. It is paramagnetic and displays proton NMR resonances at +35.0 ppm (Cp) and -2.15 ppm (CH₃) in toluene-d₈. ESR-silent in fluid media, it displays a spectrum with a rhombic g-tensor (g = 2.063, 2.000, 1.864) at 77 K. It is easily weighed and handled in inert atmospheres, facilitating its stoichiometric use. It is soluble in pentane and other nonpolar solvents and is most often used in ethers. It decomposes in some polar organic solvents.⁴³⁵ The complex may be stored for lengthy periods under an inert atmosphere and re-sublimed as needed.

[FeCp(η -C₆Me₆)] has been used to reduce metal sandwich complexes of Ni and Co for which [CoCp₂] was inadequate.⁴⁰² For example, [Co(η -C₄Ph₄)-(η -benzene)]⁺ shows a reversible one-electron reduction wave at -1.7 V followed by a second, irreversible, reduction at -2.2 V. Treatment of this cation with [FeCp(η -C₆Me₆)] at low temperatures allowed the isolation of [Co(η -C₄Ph₄)(η -benzene)]; with a stronger reductant (0.8% Na/Hg) the same cation gave [Co-(η ³-C₄Ph₄H)(η -benzene)]. The latter is apparently formed when the transient anion [Co(η -C₄Ph₄)-(η -benzene)]⁻ adds a proton from the solvent (THF) or trace water. [FeCp(η -C₆Me₆)] has also been used to produce mono-, di-, or trianions of C₆₀ by appropriate control of the reaction stoichiometry.⁴³⁶

[Fe(η -C₅R₅)(η -C₆Me₆)] (R = H or Me) have been employed in ET-catalyzed substitution reactions of fulvalene-bridged dinuclear complexes.⁴³⁷ For example, the metal-metal-bonded complex [Mo₂(CO)₆-(μ - η ⁵, η ^{5'}-C₁₀H₈)] ($E_p = ca. -1.3$ V, irreversible reduction)⁴³⁸ reacts with 0.1-0.2 equiv of [FeCp(η -C₆Me₆)] in THF in the presence of PR₃ in *ca*. 5 min to give a complex in which two CO groups have been substituted by phosphines.⁴³⁷ The same reagent with [W(CO)₃Ru(CO)₂(μ - η ⁵, η ^{5'}-C₁₀H₈)] and PMe₃ gave the zwitterion [W(CO)₃Ru(CO)₂(PMe₃)(μ - η ⁵, η ^{5'}-C₁₀H₈)]. However, treatment of either [W(CO)₃Ru(CO)₂(μ - $\eta^5, \eta^{5'}\text{-}\mathrm{C}_{10}\mathrm{H}_8)]$ or [W(CO)_3Ru(CO)_2(PMe_3)(\mu-\eta^5,\eta^{5'}\text{-}\mathrm{C}_{10}\mathrm{H}_8)] with [FeCp*(\eta-\mathrm{C}_6\mathrm{M}\mathrm{e}_6)] gives [W(CO)_3Ru(CO)(PMe_3)_2-(\mu-\eta^5,\eta^{5'}\text{-}\mathrm{C}_{10}\mathrm{H}_8)]; the more negative $E^{\circ'}$ value of [FeCp*($\eta-\mathrm{C}_6\mathrm{M}\mathrm{e}_6)$] (-2.30 V) triggers electron-transfercatalyzed substitution of CO by PMe_3. Although [FeCp*($\eta-\mathrm{C}_6\mathrm{M}\mathrm{e}_6)$] has been used less often than [FeCp($\eta-\mathrm{C}_6\mathrm{M}\mathrm{e}_6)$] as a reductant, its very negative potential and its facile synthesis and purification^{439} make it an interesting target for further development.

c. Others. The sandwich complexes $[Cr(\eta^6- arene)_2]$ form a class of potentially useful one-electron reducing agents (eq 35). The formal potential of the

$$[\operatorname{Cr}(\eta^{6}\operatorname{-arene})_{2}]^{+} + e^{-} \rightleftharpoons [\operatorname{Cr}(\eta^{6}\operatorname{-arene})_{2}] \quad (35)$$

parent complex (arene = benzene, $E^{\circ} = ca. -1.15$, Table 3) is only slightly positive of that of cobaltocene. A number of ring-substituted derivatives can be prepared.⁴⁴⁰ The potentials of $[Cr(\eta-mesitylene)_2]$ (E^{ν} = -1.3 V^{441}) and $[Cr(\eta - (dimethylamino)benzene)_2]$ $(E^{\circ'} = -1.5 \text{ V}^{442})$ show that the reductive power of the reagent is increased when electron-releasing groups are present. The reaction byproduct, [Cr- $(\operatorname{arene})_2$ ⁺, is ESR-active in both fluid and frozen media,⁴⁴³ in contrast to [CoCp₂]⁺ and [CoCp₂]. [Cr- $(\eta$ -benzene)₂], which is commercially available, has been used to prepare metal carbonylates which display significant ion-pairing with $[Cr(\eta-benzene)_2]^+$. For example, $[Cr(\eta-benzene)_2]$ and $[Co_2(CO)_8]$ in benzene give analytically pure $[Cr(\eta-benzene)_2][Co-$ (CO)₄].⁴²¹

The binuclear complexes $[Cp^*Cr(\mu - OPR_2)_3CoCp]$ (**21**, R = OMe or OEt) are strong reducing agents ($E^{\circ\prime}$ = -2.0 V), with attractive stability and solubility.⁴⁴⁴ Prepared from the corresponding monocations⁴⁴⁵ by Na/Hg reduction in ether solvents, the green neutral complexes ($\lambda_{max} = 643$ nm) are soluble in a range of solvents including hydrocarbons. Moreover, in spite of their negative potentials they are oxidized only slowly in air, even in solution. Koelle and co-workers have used these reagents to reduce a number of sandwich complexes, including [CoCp₂]⁺ and [FeCp-(η -C₆H₆)]^{+.444} Further developments on the use and properties of these Cr(II) reagents are awaited.



Ferrocenium ions are common oxidants (section II.A.1.a.i), but the neutral ferrocenes $[Fe(\eta-C_5R_5)_2]$ (R = H, Me) may be useful as weak reducing agents. For example, the organoborane triple-decker sandwich complex $[Ru_2(\eta-\operatorname{arene})_2(Et_2C_2B_3H_3)]$ ($E^{\circ\prime} = -0.34$ V) was first oxidized with $[FeCp_2]^+$ ($E^{\circ\prime} = 0.0$ V); the monocationic complex $[Ru_2(\eta-\operatorname{arene})_2(Et_2C_2B_3H_3)]^+$ was spectroscopically characterized and then reduced back to the neutral starting complex by $[FeCp_2] (E^{\circ\prime} = -0.59 \text{ V})$. The byproduct of the decamethylferrocene reaction, $[FeCp_2]^+$, interferes ($\lambda_{max} = 780 \text{ nm}$) in the optical spectrum of the final solution.⁴⁴⁶ Ferrocene was used to prepare $[Rh_2(CO)(o-O_2C_6Cl_4)-(bipy)(\mu-RNNR)_2]$ (R = p-tolyl) from the corresponding monocation ($E^{\circ\prime} = +0.06 \text{ V}$) when cobaltocene failed to give a pure product.⁴⁴⁷

2. Metal Carbonylates

a. $[Fe(CO)_2Cp]^-$. The dimer $[Fe_2(CO)_2(\mu-CO)_2-Cp_2]$ (Fp₂) and the monomeric anion $[Fe(CO)_2Cp]^-$ (Fp⁻) are related by a chemically reversible but electrochemically irreversible couple (eq 36):

$$[\operatorname{Fe}_2(\operatorname{CO})_2(\mu\operatorname{-CO})_2\operatorname{Cp}_2] + 2e^- \to 2[\operatorname{Fe}(\operatorname{CO})_2\operatorname{Cp}]^-$$
(36)

The anion is a strong one-electron reductant, but it has not been widely used. An anodic wave was reported at $E_{1/2} = -1.74$ V in THF at a mercury electrode,⁴⁴⁸ but since the product of the oxidation was [Hg{Fe(CO)₂Cp}₂] this potential is only an approximation of that for the reaction in eq 36. Another estimate of the formal potential associated with eq 36 ($E^{\circ}' = -1.84$ V) was obtained by means of elegant redox equilibration studies.⁴⁴⁹ A value of -1.8 V is used in Table 3. The diiron complex (Fp₂) in eq 36 undergoes an irreversible reduction at *ca.* -2.0 V.^{448,450}

Solutions of Fp⁻ are prepared by reacting Fp₂ with strong reducing agents such as M/Hg or Na/K in ethers⁴⁵¹ (Fp⁻ reacts rapidly with alkyl halides and other electrophiles^{452,453}). Its solutions have been used *in situ* to reduce 18-electron cationic Mo(II) alkyne complexes, thereby initiating ligand coupling reactions. Typically, equimolar Fp⁻ (as an amberred THF solution of the sodium salt) was stirred with [Mo(NCMe)(η -alkyne)₂Cp]⁺ ($E^{\circ'} = -1.96$ V, alkyne = MeC₂Me⁴⁵⁴) to produce dinuclear metallacyclonon-atetraene complexes such as **22**.⁴⁵⁵ The redox byproduct, Fp₂, was separated from the reaction mixture by column chromatography.



One reason for exploring Fp^- more fully for ET reactions is that it is a strong reducing agent which yields a neutral byproduct (Fp_2). This may have advantages in workup procedures and in the choice of counterion available to the target reduction product (if the latter is an anion). Concerning the latter

advantage, several salts [C][Fp] (including C = Li, Na, K, and NBu₄) have been isolated which might facilitate the stoichiometric use of this reagent.^{456,457} Another possible advantage is that both the reagent and its byproduct are diamagnetic, eliminating ESR spectroscopic interference from consideration. However, IR spectroscopic studies should anticipate the carbonyl absorptions of both Fp₂ (2000, 1950, 1800, and 1780 cm^{-1 458}) and Fp⁻ (1865, 1788 cm⁻¹, [NBu₄]⁺ salt, in THF⁴⁵⁷).

b. Others. Other metal carbonyl anions, *e.g.*, $[Mn(CO)_{5-x}L_x]^-$, (L = phosphine or phosphite) might offer similar properties as reductants. The formal potentials of the anions decrease from*ca*. <math>-0.5 V (x = 0) to -1.8 V [x = 2, $L = P(alkyl)_3$].⁴⁵⁹ The alkali metal salts M[Mn(CO)_{5-x}L_x], readily prepared by the reaction of [MnBr(CO)_{5-x}L] with M/Hg, vary in their solubilities in organic solvents;⁴⁶⁰ [PPN][Mn(CO)₅] is soluble in dichloromethane.⁴⁶¹

IV. Conclusions

While studies of the redox activity of organometallic complexes have blossomed in the last two decades, much of the work involving chemical (rather than electrochemical) activation has relied on the use of relatively few, tried and trusted, reagents such as the silver(I), nitrosonium, and ferrocenium cations as oxidants and sodium amalgam, cobaltocene, and metal naphthalenides as reductants.

One aim of this review is to show how such popular redox reagents can be used most effectively. However, it is clear that a wider armory of oxidants and reductants will become necessary as the applications of "organometallic electrochemistry", for example, in directed organic synthesis and catalysis, become more sophisticated. We hope, therefore, that this review will also encourage the use of redox reagents less well known to the inorganic chemistry community. Such reagents include those which are more widely used by organic chemists, for example, the arylaminium cations and the thianthrene radical cation, and others which are far from exotic but virtually ignored. Thus, simple changes to well-tried species can bring great synthetic advantages. For example, if the ferrocenium ion appears to be the most attractive reagent from the viewpoint of reaction workup, but happens to be a slightly weaker oxidant than required, the acetylferrocenium ion may prove to be ideal. Equally, $[CPh_2(C_6H_4OMe-4)]^+$ is a simple derivative of the trityl cation but is considerably more stable and easy to handle.

In order to aid systematic choice we also have provided a "ranking" of reagent strengths according to formal potentials. These potentials were gathered from many sources, and the original data were reported under quite varied experimental conditions. Some errors in our conversion to the ferrocene scale may therefore be anticipated. We emphasize that such difficulties can be avoided in the future if workers always report the potential of the ferrocene/ ferrocenium couple (or of another suitable *internal* standard) under their experimental conditions.

V. Appendix: Syntheses of Ferrocenium and Diazonium Salts

A. Ferrocenium Salts

1. Method i. Ferrocenium Tetrafluoroborate, [FeCp₂][BF₄]

To a stirred solution of *p*-benzoquinone (0.70 g, 6.5 mmol) in diethyl ether (20 mL) at room temperature was added HBF₄·OEt₂ (54% in diethyl ether; 3.7 mL, 26.9 mmol). On adding a solution of [FeCp₂] (2.39 g, 12.85 mmol) in diethyl ether (40 mL), a blue solid was immediately precipitated. After the mixture was stirred for 10 min and then allowed to stand for a further 10 min, the blue solid was removed by filtration, washed with diethyl ether (2×10 mL), and dried in air. The crude product (yield 3.16 g) was purified by dissolution in acetone (100 mL), filtration, and precipitation by addition of diethyl ether (150 mL) to give a fine blue powder, yield 2.49 g (71%). Anal. Calcd for C₁₀H₁₀FeBF₄: C, 44.0; H, 3.7. Found: C, 44.4; H, 3.7. (The elemental analysis was unchanged on storing the solid in air for 3 months.)

2. Method ii. Ferrocenium Hexafluorophosphate, [FeCp₂][PF₆]

To a stirred solution of [FeCp₂] (5.0 g, 26.9 mmol) in a mixture of water (100 mL) and acetone (40 mL) at room temperature was added anhydrous FeCl₃ (5.9 g, 36.0 mmol). After 15 min the deep blue solution was filtered through Celite and then $[NH_4][PF_6]$ (5.8 g, 35.6 mmol) was added. After 5 min, ethanol (50 mL) was added to aid precipitation of the blue solid which was then removed by filtration (5.6 g). A further 2.4 g of product was obtained from the mother liquors by reduction of the volume of the solvent to ca. 100 mL and then addition of ethanol (50 mL). The two fractions were combined, dissolved in acetone (100 mL), treated with ethanol (200 mL), and cooled to -10 °C for 1 h to give dark blue crystals, yield 5.1 g (57%). Anal. Calcd for $C_{10}H_{10}FePF_6$: C, 36.3; H, 3.0. Found: C, 36.3; H, 3.1. (The elemental analysis was unchanged on storing the solid in air for 3 months.)

3. Method iii. Acetylferrocenium Tetrafluoroborate, $[Fe(\eta-C_5H_4COMe)Cp][BF_4]$

To a stirred solution of $[Fe(\eta-C_5H_4COMe)Cp]$ (0.39 g, 1.71 mmol) in diethyl ether (150 mL) at room temperature was added solid AgBF₄ (0.32 g, 1.61 mmol). After 0.5 h the blue-green reaction mixture was evaporated to dryness *in vacuo*, and the residue was extracted into CH₂Cl₂ (100 mL). After filtration through Celite, the volume of the dark blue extract was reduced *in vacuo* to *ca*. 5 mL and diethyl ether (100 mL) was added. The dark blue/green precipitate was then further purified from CH₂Cl₂/diethyl ether to give dark blue microcrystals, yield 0.28 g (51%). Anal. Calcd for C₁₂H₁₂FeBF₄O: C, 45.8; H, 3.8. Found: C, 45.4; H, 3.9.

B. 4-Fluorobenzenediazonium Hexafluorophosphate, [N₂C₆H₄F-4][PF₆]

To a solution of 4-FC₆H₄NH₂ (5.0 mL, 52.7 mmol) in distilled water (15 mL) at 0 °C was added freshly

purchased HPF₆ [25 g (15.1 mL of a 65% solution in water), 111.3 mmol]. To this solution was added dropwise over 1 h a solution of NaNO₂ (3.0 g, 56.6 mmol) in distilled water (20 mL) cooled to *ca.* 10 °C. After the mixture was stirred for a further 30 min, the off-white precipitate was removed by filtration, washed sequentially with water, ethanol, and diethyl ether (*ca.* 50 mL of each), and dried in air to give 8.6 g of the crude product. The solid was recrystallized from acetone/ethanol to give white crystals, yield 8.0 g (57%). Anal. Calcd for C₆H₄N₂PF₇: C, 26.9; H, 1.5; N, 10.5. Found: C, 26.8; H, 1.4; N, 10.3. (The elemental analysis was unchanged on storing the solid at -10 °C, under N₂, for 3 months.)

VI. List of Abbreviations

bipy BPA B=	2,2'-bipyridyl benzophenone radical anion
DZ	Delizyi suslahantatriana
cnpt	
COL	cyclooctatetraene
Ср	η° -C ₅ H ₅
Ср	η° -C ₅ H ₄ Me
Cp*	η° -C ₅ Me ₅
CPE	controlled potential electrolysis
CV	cyclic voltammetry
DDQ	2,3-dichloro-5,6-dicyanoquinone
detc	[S ₂ CNEt ₂] ⁻
DMF	dimethylformamide
dmpe	1,2-bis(dimethylphosphino)ethane
DMSO	dimethyl sulfoxide
dppm	bis(diphenylphosphino)methane
dppe	1,2-bis(diphenylphosphino)ethane
HMPA	hexamethylphosphoramide
Mes	mesityl
NAP	naphthalene
np ₃	tris(2-(diphenylphosphino)ethyl)amine
PC	phthalocyanin
phen	1,10-phenanthroline
pp_3	tris(2-(diphenylphosphino)ethyl)phosphine
pyr	pyridine
TCNE	tetracyanoethylene
TCNQ	7,7,8,8-tetracyanoquinodimethane
Tf	triflate, $[CF_3SO_3]^{-1}$
tfd	$[S_2C_2(CF_3)_2]^{2-}$
THF	tetrahydrofuran
Тр	[BH(pyrazolyl)3] ⁻
Τ p ′	[BH(3,5-dimethylpyrazolyl) ₃] ⁻
H₁2TPP	tetraphenylporphyrin

VII. Acknowledgments

We thank our many colleagues working in the field of synthetic electron-transfer chemistry for sharing their knowledge of the reagents discussed herein. We also thank our graduate students and postdoctoral workers for providing additional experimental information on the synthesis, properties, and redox potentials of the reagents. W.E.G. thanks the National Science Foundation for research support during the production of this review.

VIII. References

(a) Hudlicky, M. Reductions in Organic Chemistry; Ellis Horwood: Chichester, 1984. (b) Hudlicky, M. Oxidations in Organic Chemistry; ACS Monograph 186; American Chemical Society: Washington, DC, 1990. (c) Taube, H. Electron Transfer Reactions of Complex Ions in Solution; Academic Press: New York, 1991. (d) Sheldon, R. A.; Kochi, J. K. Metal-Catalyzed Oxidations of

Organic Compounds; Academic Press: New York, 1981. (e) Kochi, J. K. Organometallic Mechanisms and Catalysis; Academic Press: New York, 1978. (f) Wiberg, K. W. Oxidation in

- demic Press: New York, 1978. (f) Wiberg, K. W. Oxtaation in Organic Chemistry; Academic Press: New York, 1965; Part A. (g) Trahanovsky, W. S., ref 1f, Part B, 1973.
 (a) Davison, A.; Holm, R. H. Inorg. Synth. 1967, 10, 8. (b) Eberson, L. Electron Transfer Reactions in Organic Chemistry; Springer-Verlag: Berlin, 1987; Chapters 6–8. (c) Astruc, D. Electron-Transfer Processes in Transition Metal Chemistry, VCH Publichers: New York, 1905. Publishers: New York, 1995.
- (3) Tyler, D. R. In Organometallic Radical Processes, Trogler, W. C., Ed.; Elsevier: New York, 1990; p 338.
- (4)(a) Bard, A. J.; Faulkner, L. R. Electrochemical Methods; John Wiley: New York, 1980. (b) Parker, V. D. Adv. Phys. Org. Chem. 1983, 19, 131. (c) Baizer, M. Organic Electrochemistry, 2nd ed.; Marcel Dekker: New York, 1983.
- (a) Goodridge, F.; King, C. J. H. Technique of Electroorganic Synthesis. In Techniques of Chemistry, Weiberg, N. L., Ed.; John Wiley: New York, 1974; Vol. V, Part 1, Chapter 2. (b) Harrar, J. E. In *Electroanalytical Chemistry*; Bard, A. J., Ed.; Marcel Dekker: New York, 1975; Vol. 8, p 2. (c) Bard, A. J.; Santhanam, K. S. V. in Electroanalytical Chemistry, Bard, A. J., Ed.; Marcel Dekker: New York, 1970; Vol. 4, p 215.
- (6) (a) Shono, T. Electroorganic Synthesis, Academic Press: London, (a) Diolis, R. Back S. D.; Finkelstein, M.; Rudd, E. J. Anodic Oxidation; Academic Press: New York, 1975. (c) Kyriacou, D. *K. Basics of Electroorganic Synthesis*, Wiley-Interscience: New York, 1981. (d) Fry, A. J. *Synthetic Organic Electrochemistry*; Harper and Row: New York, 1972. (e) Sethineri, W. J.; McKeever. L. D., in ref 5a.
- (a) Hubbard, A. T.; Anson, F. C. In Electroanalytical Chemistry, (7)Bard, A. J., Ed.; Marcel Dekker: New York, 1970; Vol. 4, p 129. (b) Kuwana, T.; Winograd, N. In *Electroanalytical Chemistry*, Bard, A. J., Ed.; Marcel Dekker: New York, 1974; Vol. 7, p 1. (c) Added in proof: Evans, D. H.; Lerke, S. A. Review of lowtemperature electrochemical techniques. In Laboratory Techniques in Electroanalytical Chemistry, 2nd ed.; Kissinger, P. T., Heinemann, W. R., Eds.; Dekker: New York, 1996; pp 487-510.
- Gritzner, G.; Kuta, J. Pure Appl. Chem. 1984, 56, 461.
- (9) The instability of aqueous saturated calomel electrodes in nonaqueous solvents [see: Hills, G. J. In *Reference Electrodes*; Ives, D. J. G., Janz G. J., Eds.; Academic Press: New York, 1961;
 Chapter 10] may be avoided when agar bridges are used under "long immersion" conditions. See: Coetzee, J. F.; Padmanabhan, G. R. J. Phys. Chem. 1962, 66, 1708.
- G. K. J. Phys. Chem. 1962, 66, 1708.
 (10) (a) Martin, J. C. In Free Radicals; Kochi, J. K., Ed.; John Wiley: New York, 1973; Vol. II, pp 493–507. (b) Koryta, J.; Dvorak, J.; Kavan, L. Principles of Electrochemistry, 2nd ed.; John Wiley: Chichester, 1993; pp 15–27. (c) Case, B. In Reactions of Molecules at Electrodes; Hush, N. S., Ed.; Wiley-Interscience: London, 1971; pp 4–134. (d) Gordon, J. E. The Organic Chem-icture of Electrodute Schwinger, John Wiley, New York, 1075. (c) *istry of Electrolyte Solutions*; John Wiley: New York, 1975. (e) Loupy, A.; Tchoubar, B.; Astruc, D. *Chem. Rev.* **1992**, *92*, 1141.
- (11) For the reduction reaction Red + $A^+ \rightleftharpoons Ox + A$, $\log\{[A]/[A^+]\} =$ 8.47 { $E^{\circ'}(Ox/Red) - E^{\circ'}(A^+/A)$ }.
- (12) This statement assumes that the electrochemical irreversibility i.e., overpotential of the wave) is negligible.
- (13) Reference 2b, p 21 and references therein.
- (14) Carney, M. J.; Lesniak, J. S.; Likar, M. D.; Pladziewicz, J. R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1984, 106, 2565.
- (15) Stahl, F.-C.; Boche, G.; Massa. W. J. Organomet. Chem. 1984, 277. 113.
- (16) Gassman, P. G.; Winter, C. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1986, 108, 4228.
- Geiger, W. E. In Organometallic Radical Processes; Trogler, W. (17)C., Ed.; Elsevier: New York, 1990; p 148.
- (18) Miller, J. S.; Epstein, A. J. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1994, 33, 385.
- (19) Smart, J. C.; Pinsky, B. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1980, 102, 1009.
- (20) Hendrickson, D. N.; Sohn, Y. S.; Gray, H. B. Inorg. Chem. 1971, 10. 1559.
- (21) Schumann, H. J. Organomet. Chem. 1986, 304, 341.
- Jordan, R. F.; LaPointe, R. E.; Bajgur, C. S.; Echols, S. F.; Willett, (22)R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1987, 109, 4111.
- (23) Aggarwal, R. P.; Connelly, N. G.; Crespo, M. C.; Dunne, B. J.; Hopkins, P. M.; Orpen, A. G. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1992, 655.
- (24) Forward, J. M.; Mingos, D. M. P.; Powell, A. V. J. Organomet. Chem. 1994, 465, 251.
- (25) Miller, J. S.; Calabrese, J. C.; Rommelmann, H.; Chittipeddi, S. R.; Zhang, J. H.; Reiff, W. M.; Epstein, A. J. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1987**, *109*, 769.
- (26) Guillon, C.; Vierling, P. J. Organomet. Chem. 1994, 464, C42.
- (27)Atwood, C. A. Ph.D. Dissertation, University of Vermont, 1994.
- (28) Schumann, H.; Lentz, A.; Weimann, R.; Pickardt, J. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1994, 33, 1731.
- C. Lapinte, personal communication. (29)
- Schwiebert, K. E.; Stryker, J. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, (30)11570

- (31) Bianchini, C.; Laschi, F.; Masi, D.; Ottaviani, F. M.; Pastor, A.; Peruzzini, M.; Zanello, P.; Zanobini, F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 2723.
- (32) Drake, S. R.; Johnson, B. F. G.; Lewis, J. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1989, 243.
- (33) North, T. E.; Thoden, J. B.; Spencer, B.; Dahl, L. F. Organome-tallics 1993, 12, 1299.
- (34) Hughes, A. K.; Murphy, V. J.; O'Hare, D. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. *Commun.* **1994**, 163.
- Gade, L. H.; Johnson, B. F. G.; Lewis, J.; Conole, G.; McPartlin, (35)M. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1992, 3249.
- (36) Gusev, O. V.; Sergeev, S.; Saez, I. M.; Maitlis, P. M. Organome-tallics 1994, 13, 2059.
- Reger, D. L.; Klaeren, S. A.; Babin, J. E.; Adams, R. D. Organometallics 1988, 7, 181. (37)
- (38) Bachmann, B.; Hahn, F.; Heck, J.; Wunsch, M. Organometallics 1989, *8*, 2523.
- Tilset, M.; Bodner, G. S.; Senn, D. R.; Gladysz, J. A.; Parker, V. (39)D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1987, 109, 7551.
- (40) Ryan, O. B.; Tilset, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1991, 113, 9554.
- (41) Scott, S. L.; Espenson, J. H.; Chen, W.-J. Organometallics 1993, 12. 4077.
- (42) Broadley, K.; Connelly, N. G.; Geiger, W. E. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1983, 121.
- (43) Connelly, N. G.; Forrow, N. J.; Gracey, B. P.; Knox, S. A. R.; Orpen, A. G. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1994, 2109.
- (44) Connelly, N. G.; Forrow, N. J.; Knox, S. A. R.; Macpherson, K. A.; Orpen, A. G. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1985, 14 (45) Connelly, N. G.; Metz, B.; Orpen, A. G. J. Chem. Soc., Chem.
- Commun. 1985, 16. (46) Ge, Y.-W.; Ye, Y.; Sharp, P. R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 8384.
- (47) Sato, M.; Shintate, H.; Kawata, Y.; Sekino, M.; Katada, M.; Kawata, S. Organometallics **1994**, *13*, 1956.
- (48)Etzenhouser, B. A.; Chen, Q.; Sponsler, M. B. Organometallics 1994, 13, 4176.
- (49) Bianchini, C.; Meli, A.; Peruzzini, M.; Vacca, A.; Laschi, F.;
- Zanello, P.; Ottaviani, F. M. *Organometallics* **1990**, *9*, 360. Fonseca, F. M.; Geiger, W. E.; Bitterwolf, T. E.; Rheingold, A. (50)L. Organometallics **1988**, 7, 567.
- (51) Brammer, L.; Connelly, N. G.; Edwin, J.; Geiger, W. E.; Orpen, A. G.; Sheridan, J. B. Organometallics 1988, 7, 1259.
- (52) Bellamy, D.; Brown, N. C.; Carpenter, G. B.; Connelly, N. G.; Crossley, J. G.; Orpen, A. G.; Rieger, A. L.; Rieger, P. H.; Rosair, G. M.; Worth, G. H. Manuscript in preparation.
 Pedersen, A.; Tilset, M.; Folting, K.; Caulton, K. G. Organome-
- Pedersen, A., 118ct, M., 105th, J., (54)
- (55) Reger, D. L.; Mintz, E.; Lebioda, L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1986, 108, 1940.
- (56) Diversi, P.; Iacoponi, S.; Ingrosso, G.; Laschi, F.; Lucherini, A.; Zanello, P. *J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans.* **1993**, 351.
- (57) Bjorgvinsson, M.; Heinze, T.; Roesky, H. W.; Pauer, F.; Stalke, D.; Sheldrick, G. M. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1991, 30, 1677.
- (58) Jordan, R. F.; Dasher, W. E.; Echols, S. F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1986, 108, 1718.
- (59) Arnold, J.; Wilkinson, G; Hussain, B; Hursthouse, M. B. J. Chem. (59) Althold, J., Wilkinson, G. Hazzani, J., Soc., Dalton Trans. 1989, 2149.
 (60) Poli, R.; Owens, B. E.; Linck, R. G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992,
 (60) Weith and Market and M
- 101, R., Owens, D. E., Linck, R. G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 1302. Moinet, C.; LeBozec, H.; Dixneuf, P. H. Organometallics 1989, 8, 1493. Cotton, F. A.; Feng, X.; Matusz, M. Inorg. Chem. 1989, 28, 594. Richter-Addo, G. B.; Hunter, A. D. Inorg. Chem. 1989, 28, 4063. Gotzig, J.; Otto, H.; Werner, H. J. Organomet. Chem. 1985, 287, 247. Koelle, U.; Grub, J. J. Organomet. Chem. 1985, 289, 133.
 Dombel, R. D.: Angolici B. L. Larger, Chem. 1979, 15, 2007.
- (61) Dombek, B. D.; Angelici, R. J. Inorg. Chem. 1976, 15, 2397.
- (62) Sykes, A.; Mann, K. R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1988, 110, 8252.
- (63) Song, L.; Trogler, W. C. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1992, 31, 770
- (64) Boisson, C.; Berethet, J.-C.; Lance, M.; Nierlich, M.; Vigner, J.; Ephritikhine, M. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1995, 543. Byrne, E. K.; Theopold, K. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1989, 111, 3887. Dyne, E. R., Theopold, R. H. J. Ann. Chem. Soc. 1369, 111, 3887.
 McKinney, R. J. Inorg. Chem. 1982, 21, 2051. Lappert, M. F.;
 MacQuitty, J. J.; Pye, P. L. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1981, 1583. Gomez, M.; Martinez de Ilarduya, J. M.; Royo, P. J.
 Organomet. Chem. 1989, 369, 197.
- (65) Seligson, A. L.; Trogler, W. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 7085.
 (66) Connor, J. A.; James, E. J. J. Organomet. Chem. 1985, 297, 301.
- (67) Simon, G. L.; Dahl, L. F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1973, 95, 2164.
 (68) Broadley, K.; Connelly, N. G.; Lane, G. A.; Geiger, W. E. J. Chem.
- Soc., Dalton Trans. 1986, 373.
- (69) Brumas, B.; de Caro, D.; Dahan, F.; de Montauzon, D.; Poilblanc, R. Organometallics 1993, 12, 1503.
- Connelly, N. G.; Lucy, A. R.; Payne, J. D.; Galas, A. M. R.; Geiger,
 W. E. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1983, 1879. (70)
- (71) Fernandez-Galan, R.; Manzano, B. R.; Otero, A.; Lanfranchi, M. Pellinghelli, M. A. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 2309.

- (72) Connelly, N. G.; Einig, T.; Garcia Herbosa, G.; Hopkins, P. M.; Mealli, C.; Orpen, A. G.; Rosair, G. M.; Viguri, F. *J. Chem. Soc.*, Dalton Trans. 1994, 2025.
- (73) White, C.; Thompson, S. J.; Maitlis, P. M. J. Organomet. Chem. 1977, 134, 319.
- (74) Colsman, M. R.; Newbound, T. D.; Marshall, L. J.; Noirot, M. D.; Miller, M. M.; Wulfsberg, G. P.; Frye, J. S.; Anderson, O. P.; Strauss, S. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, 2349.
 (75) Iqbal, J.; Sharp, D. W. A.; Winfield, J. M. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton
- Trans. 1989, 461.
- Cotton, F. A.; Falvello, L.; Ren, T.; Vidyasagar, K. Inorg. Chim. (76)Acta 1992, 194, 163.
- Essenmacher, G. J.; Treichel, P. M. Inorg. Chem. 1977, 16, 800. (77)Treichel, P. M.; Firsich, D. W.; Essenmacher, G. J. Inorg. Chem. 1979, 18, 2405
- (78) Treichel, P. M.; Essenmacher, G. J. Inorg. Chem. 1976, 15, 146.
- (79) Bohling, D. A.; Mann, K. R. *Inorg. Chem.* **1983**, *22*, 1561.
 (80) Baker, P. K.; Broadley, K.; Connelly, N. G.; Kelly, B. A.; Kitchen, M. D.; Woodward, P. *J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans.* **1980**, 1710.
- (81) Reger, D. L.; Coleman, C. J.; McElligott, P. J. J. Organomet.
- (83) Einstein, F. W. B.; Jones, R. H.; Zhang, X.; Sutton, D. Can. J. Chem. 1989, 67, 1832.
- (84) Drake, S. R. Polyhedron 1990, 9, 455.
- Albano, V. G.; Grossi, L.; Longoni, G.; Monari, M.; Mulley, S.; (85)Sironi, A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 5708. Albano, V. G.; Azzaroni, F; Iapalucci, M. C.; Longoni, G.; Monari, M.; Mulley,
- S.; Proserpio, D. M.; Sironi, A. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 5320.
 Jenkins, C. L.; Kochi, J. K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1972, 94, 843, 856. Heumann, A.; Jens, K.-J.; Reglier, M. Prog. Inorg. Chem. **1994**, 42, 505.
- (87) Pray, A. R. Inorg. Synth. 1957, 5, 153.
- (88) Schmidt, S. P.; Basolo, F.; Trogler, W. C. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1987, *131*, 181
- Rogers, W. N.; Page, J. A.; Baird, M. C. Inorg. Chem. 1981, 20, (89)3521
- (90) Joseph, M. F.; Page, J. A.; Baird, M. C. Organometallics 1984, 3, 1749.
- (91) Zhou, Y.; Seyler, J. W.; Weng, W.; Arif, A. M.; Gladysz, J. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 8509.
- (92) Iyer, R. S.; Selegue, J. P. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1987, 109, 910.
- (93) Rabier, A.; Lugan, N.; Mathieu, R.; Geoffroy, G. L. Organometallics 1994, 13, 4676.
- (94) Leigh, J. S.; Whitmire, K. A.; Yee, K. A.; Albright, T. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1989, 111, 2726.
- (95) Saez, I. M.; Andrews, D. G.; Maitlis, P. M. Polyhedron 1988, 7, 827.
- (96)Chatt, J.; Pearman, A. J.; Richards, R. L. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1977, 2139.
- (97) Baird, P.; Bandy, J. A.; Green, M. L. H.; Hamnett, A.; Marseglia, E.; Obertelli, D. S.; Prout, K.; Qin, J. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1991, 2377.
- (98) Schore, N. E.; Ilenda, C. S.; Bergman, R. G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1977, 99, 1781.
- (99) Richardson, W. H. In Oxidations in Organic Chemistry, Wiberg, K. B., Ed.; Academic Press: New York, 1965; Chapter 4. (100) See, for example: Magnuson, R. H.; Zulu, S.; T'sai, W.-M.;
- Giering, W. P. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1980, 102, 6887. Birch, A. J.; Jenkins, I. D. In Transition Metal Organometallics in Organic Synthesis; Alper, H., Ed.; Academic Press: New York, 1976; Vol. J, Chapter I. Pearson, A. J. In *Comprehensive Organometallic Chemistry*; Wilkinson, G., Stone, F. G. A., Abel, E. W., Eds.; Pergamon: Oxford, 1982; Vol. 8, Chapter 58, p 939.
- (101) Pramanik, A.; Bag, N.; Chakravorty, A. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1993, 237.
- (102) Heinrich, A.; Keller, H.-L.; Preetz, W. Z. Naturforsch. 1990, 45B, 184
- (103) Droege, M. W.; Harman, W. D.; Taube, H. Inorg Chem. 1987, *26*, 1309.
- (104) Touchard, D.; Fillaut, J.-L.; Khasnis, D. U.; Dixneuf, P. H.;
- Mealli, C.; Masi, D.; Toupet, L. *Organometallics* **1988**, *7*, 67. (105) Adam, W.; Miranda, M. A.; Mojarrad, F.; Sheikh, H. *Chem. Ber.* 1994, 127, 875.
- (106) Corraine, M. S.; Lai, C. K.; Zhen, Y.; Churchill, M. R.; Buttrey, L. A.; Ziller, J. W.; Atwood, J. D. *Organometallics* **1992**, *11*, 35. (107) Schlesener, C. J.; Amatore, C.; Kochi, J. K. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.*
- 1984. 106. 3567.
- (108) Rollick, K. L.; Kochi, J. K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1982, 104, 1319.
- (109) Chlistunoff, J. B.; Bard, A. J. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 4582.
- (110) Feighery, W. G.; Allendorfer, R. D.; Keister, J. B. Organometal*lics* 1990, *9*, 2424.
- (111) Wong, C. L.; Kochi, J. K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1979, 101, 5593.
- (112) Schmittel, M.; von Seggern, H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 2165.
- (113) Brodovitch, J. C.; Haines, R. I.; McAuley, A. Can. J. Chem. 1981, 59. 1610.
- (114) Levis, M.; Luning, U.; Muller, M.; Schmittel, M. Z. Naturforsch. 1994. 49B. 675.

- (115) Schmittel, M.; Ammon, H.; Wohrle, C. Chem. Ber. 1995, 128, 745
- (116) Schmittel, M.; Levis, M. Chem. Lett. 1994, 1939.
 (117) Rock, M.; Schmittel, M. J. Prakt. Chem. 1994, 336, 325.
- (118) Schmittel, M. Personal communication.
- (119) The acetonitrile-soluble [NBu₄]⁺ salt has also been prepared: Hamaguchi, H.; Harada, I.; Shimanouchi, T. Chem. Phys. Lett. 1975, 32, 103.
- (120) Reference 1e, Chapter 16.
- (121) Chen, J. Y.; Kochi, J. K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1977, 99, 1450.
- (122) A similar observation pertains to the nonreaction of $[M_2(CO)_{10}]$ with [Fe(CN)₆]³⁻, another complex anion which has found wide use in mechanistic studies of the electron transfer between transition metal coordination complexes but not yet in synthetic organometallic chemistry.
- (123) Briant, C. E.; Rowland, K. A.; Webber, C. T.; Mingos, D. M. P. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1981, 1515
- (124) Luinstra, G. A.; Wang, L.; Stahl, S. S.; Labinger, J. A.; Bercaw. J. E. Organometallics 1994, 13, 755.

- (125) Davison, A.; Holm, R. H. Inorg. Synth. 1967, 10, 18.
 (126) Davison, A.; Holm, R. H. Inorg. Synth. 1967, 10, 22.
 (127) Pierce, D. T.; Geiger, W. E. Inorg Chem. 1994, 33, 373.
- (128) Olah, G. Acc. Chem. Res. 1980, 13, 330.
- (129) Klapotke, T. M.; Schulz, A.; Cameron, T. S.; Bakshi, P. K. J. Organomet. Chem. 1993, 463, 115.
- (130) Cameron, T. S.; Klapotke, T. M.; Schulz, A.; Valkonen, J. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1993, 659.
- (131) Gilet, M.; Mortreux, A.; Folest, J.-C.; Petit, F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1983**, 105, 3876.
- (132) Eberson, L.; Jonsson, L.; Sanneskog, O. Acta Chem. Scand., Ser. B. 1985, 39, 113.
- (133) Bard, A. J.; Ledwith, A.; Shine, H. J. Adv. Phys. Org. Chem. 1976, 13, 155.
- (134) Braunstein, P.; Hasselbring, R.; Tiripicchio, A.; Ugozzoli, F. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1995, 37
- (135) Green, M. L. H.; Ng, D. K. P.; Tovey, R. C.; Chernega, A. N. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1993, 3203.
- Cloke, F. G. N.; Fyne, P. J.; Gibson, V. C.; Green, M. L. H.; Ledoux, M. J.; Perutz, R. N.; Dix, A.; Gourdon, A.; Prout, K. J. (136)Organomet. Chem. 1984, 277, 61.
- (137) Knol, J.; Westerhof, A.; van Oven, H. O.; de Liefde Meijer, H. J. J. Organomet. Chem. 1975, 96, 257.
- (138) Rosenhein, L. D.; Newton, W. E.; McDonald, J. W. Inorg. Chem. 1987, 26, 1695.
- USon, R.; Fornies, J.; Tomas, M.; Menjon, B.; Bau, R.; Sunkel, K.; Kuwabara, E. *Organometallics* **1986**, *5*, 1576. (139)
- (140) Fornies, J.; Menjon, B.; Sanz-Carrillo, R. M.; Tomas, M.; Con-nelly, N. G.; Crossley, J. G.; Orpen, A. G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 4295.
- (141) Downs, A. J.; Adams, C. J. In *Comprehensive Inorganic Chem-istry*, Bailar, J. C., Emeleus, H. J., Nyholm, R., Trotman-Dickenson, A. F., Eds.; Pergamon: Oxford, 1973; Vol. 2, Chapter 26, pp 1217-1219.
- (142) Coulson, D. R. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1973, 2459.
- (143) Baker, P. K.; Connelly, N. G.; Jones, B. M. R.; Maher, J. P.; Somers, K. R. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1980, 579.
- (144) Slack, D. A.; Baird, M. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1976, 98, 5539.
- (145) Davis, R.; Kane-Maguire, L. A. P. In Comprehensive Organometallic Chemistry; Wilkinson, G., Stone, F. G. A., Abel, E. W., Eds.; Pergamon: Oxford, 1982; Vol. 3, Chapter 26.2, p 999. (146) Kemmitt, R. D. W.; Russell, D. R. In *Comprehensive Organo*
- metallic Chemistry; Wilkinson, G., Stone, F. G. A., Abel, E. W., Eds.; Pergamon: Oxford, 1982; Vol. 5, Chapter 34, p 233.
- (147) Herberich, G. E.; Greiss, G. J. Organomet. Chem. 1971, 27, 113.
 (148) Koelle, U.; Raabe, E.; Kruger, C.; Rotzinger, F. P Chem. Ber.
- **1987**, *120*, 979. (149) Eaborn, C.; Farrell, N.; Murphy, J. L.; Pidcock, A. J. Chem. Soc.,
- Dalton Trans. 1976, 58. (150) Bock, H.; Lechner-Knoblauch, U. J. Organomet. Chem. 1985,
- 294, 295.
- (151) (a) Kaim, W. Acc. Chem. Res. 1985, 18, 160. (b) Personal communication.
- (152) Barker, P. E.; Hudson, A.; Jackson, R. A. J. Organomet. Chem. 1981, 208, C1.
- (153) Bock, H.; Kaim, W. Acc. Chem. Res. 1982, 15, 9.
- (154) Forbes, W. F.; Sullivan, P. D.; Wang, H. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1967**, *89*, 2705.
- (155) Bock, H.; Kaim, W.; Noth, H.; Semkow, A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1980, 102, 4421.
- (156) Bock, H.; Rauschenbach, A.; Nather, C.; Kleine, M.; Havlas, Z. Chem. Ber. 1994, 127, 2043.
- Graalmann, O.; Hesse, M.; Klingbiel, U.; Clegg, W.; Haase, M.; (157)Sheldrick, G. M. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1983, 22, 621.
- (158) Lewis, I. C.; Singer, L. S. J. Chem. Phys. 1965, 43, 2712.
- (159) Stiddard, M. H. B.; Townsend, R. E. J. Chem. Soc. A 1969, 2355.
- (160) Bellamy, D.; Brown, N. C.; Connelly, N. G.; Orpen, A. G. Unpublished results.
- (161) Cowell, G. W.; Ledwith, A.; White, A. C.; Woods, H. J. J. Chem. Soc. B 1970, 227.

- (162) Bott, S. G.; Brammer, L.; Connelly, N. G.; Green, M.; Orpen, A. G.; Paxton, J. F.; Schaverien, C. J.; Bristow, S.; Norman, N. C. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1990, 1957.
- (163) Gowik, P.; Klapotke, T. M.; Siems, K.; Thewalt, U. J. Organomet. Chem. 1992, 431, 47.
- (164) Gowik, P.; Klapotke, T. M.; Pickardt, J. Organometallics 1989, 8 2953
- (165) Gowik, P.; Klapotke, T. M.; White, P. Chem. Ber. 1989, 122, 1649.
- (166) Gowik, P.; Klapotke, T. M. J. Organomet. Chem. 1989, 375, C20. (167) Gowik, P.; Klapotke, T. M.; Tornieporth-Oetting, I. *Chem. Ber.* 1989, 122, 2273.
- (168) Eberson, L.; Radner, F. Acc. Chem. Res. **1987**, 20, 53. (169) Mocella, M. T.; Okamoto, M. S.; Barefield, E. K. Synth. React. Inorg. Met. Org. Chem. 1974. 4, 69.
 (170) Connelly, N. G.; Davies, J. D. J. Organomet. Chem. 1972, 38,
- 385
- (171) Caulton, K. G. Coord Chem. Rev. 1975, 14, 317.
- (172) Connelly, N. G.; Draggett, P. T.; Green, M.; Kuc, T. A. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1977, 70.
- (173) Addison, C. C.; Lewis, J. Q. Rev. 1955, 9, 115.
 (174) Kim, E. K.; Kochi, J. K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1991, 113, 4962.
- (175) Musker, W. K.; Wolford, T. L.; Roush, P. B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1978, 100, 6416.
- (176) Lee, K. Y.; Kuchnyka, D. J.; Kochi, J. K. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 4196.
- (177) Brownstein, S.; Gabe, E.; Lee, F.; Pietrowski, A. Can. J. Chem. 1986, 64, 1661.
- (178) Connelly, N. G.; Johnson, G. A. J. Organomet. Chem. 1974, 77, 341.
- (179) Dunbar, K. R.; Walton, R. A. Inorg. Chem. 1985, 24, 5.
 (180) Imoto, H.; Hayakawa, S.; Morita, N.; Saito, T. Inorg. Chem. 1990,
- *29*, 2007.
- (181) Bandlish, B. K.; Shine, H. J. Org. Chem. 1977, 42, 561.

- (181) Bandlish, B. K.; Shine, H. J. Org. Chem. 1977, 42, 561.
 (182) Wigley, D. E.; Walton, R. A. Inorg. Chem. 1983, 22, 3138.
 (183) Nelsen, S. F.; Kim, Y.; Neugebauer, F. A.; Krieger, C.; Siegel, R.; Kaftory, M. J. Org. Chem. 1991, 56, 1045.
 (184) Carriedo, G. A.; Riera, V.; Connelly, N. G.; Raven, S. J. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1987, 1769.
 (185) Connelly, N. G.; Manners, I.; Protheroe, J. R. C.; Whiteley, M. W. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1984, 2713.
 (186) Schumann, H.; Lentz, A.; Weimann, R.; Pickardt, J. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1994, 33, 1731.
 (187) Cravston, J. Personal communication
- (187) Crayston, J. Personal communication.
 (188) Hay-Motherwell, R. S.; Wilkinson, G.; Hussain-Bates, B.; Hursthouse, M. B. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1992, 3477 (189) Dunbar, K. R.; Powell, D.; Walton, R. A. Inorg. Chem. 1985, 24,
- 2842 (190) Qi, J.-S.; Schrier, P. W.; Fanwick, P. E.; Walton, R. A. Inorg.
- Chem. **1992**, *31*, 258. (191) Schrier, P. W.; Fanwick, P. E.; Walton, R. A. Inorg. Chem. 1992,
- 31, 3929. (192) Reimann, R. H.; Singleton, E. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1973,
- 2658.
- (193) Ashford, P. K.; Baker, P. K.; Connelly, N. G.; Kelly, R. A.; Woodley, V. A. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1982, 477.
 (194) Connelly, N. G.; Demidowicz, Z.; Kelly, R. L. J. Chem. Soc.,
- Dalton Trans. 1975, 2335.
- (195) Kochi, J. K. Acc. Chem. Res. 1992, 25, 39.
- (196) Nelsen, S. F.; Trieber, D. A. Unpublished results. Nelsen, S. F. Personal communication.
- (197) Connelly, N. G.; Hassard, K. A.; Dunne, B. J.; Orpen, A. G.; Raven, S. J.; Carriedo, G. A.; Riera, V. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1988, 1623.
- (198) The Chemistry of Diazonium and Diazo Groups; Patai, S. J., Ed.; John Wiley & Sons: New York, 1978.
- (199) Reference 1e, Chapter 9.
 (200) Doyle, M. P.; Guy, J. K.; Brown, K. C.; Mahapatro, S. N.; van Zyl, C. M.; Pladziewicz, J. R. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 1987, *109*, 1536.
 (201) Roe, A. Org. React. 1949, *5*, 193
 (202) Dealer M. B. Berley W. J. Conf. Chem. 1970, *14*, 1579
- (202) Doyle, M. P.; Bryker, W. J. J. Org. Chem. 1979, 44, 1572.
 (203) Connelly, N. G.; Garcia, G.; Gilbert, M.; Stirling, J. S. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1987, 1403.
- (204) Clamp, S.; Connelly, N. G.; Taylor, G. E.; Louttit, T. S. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1980, 2162.
- (205) Connelly, N. G.; Kitchen, M. D. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. **1977**, 931
- (206) Connelly, N. G.; Raven, S. J.; Geiger, W. E. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1987, 467.
- (207) Christofides, A.; Connelly, N. G.; Lawson, H. J.; Loyns, A. C.; Orpen, A. G.; Simmonds, M. O.; Worth, G. H. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1991, 1595
- (208) Bochmann, M.; Green, M.; Kirsch, H. P.; Stone, F. G. A. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1977, 715.
- (209) Fehlhammer, W. P.; Degel, F.; Beck, G. Chem. Ber. 1987, 120, 461.
- (210) Fehlhammer, W. P.; Degel, F.; Beck, G. Chem. Ber. 1987, 120, 29.
- (211) Lalor, F. J.; Desmond, T. J.; Cotter, G. M.; Shanahan, C. A.; Ferguson, G.; Parvez, M.; Ruhl, B. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1995, 1709.

- (212) Trofimenko, S. Inorg. Chem. 1971, 10, 504.
- (213) Trofimenko, S. *Inorg. Chem.* **1969**, *8*, 2675. (214) Sutton, D. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* **1975**, *4*, 443. Johnson, B. F. G.; Haymore, B. L.; Dilworth, J. R. In *Comprehensive Coordination Chemistry*; Wilkinson, G., Gillard, R. D., McCleverty, J. A., Eds.; 1987; Vol. 2, Chapter 13.3, p 130. (215) Parshall, G. W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1965**, *87*, 2133.
- (216) Atkinson, F. L.; Connelly, N. G.; Crossley, J. G.; Orpen, A. G. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1994, 1161.
- (217) Connelly, N. G.; Lucy, A. R.; Whiteley, M. W. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1983, 111.
- (218) Connelly, N. G.; Lucy, A. R.; Sheridan, J. B. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1983, 1465.
- (219) Elschenbroich, Ch. E.; Heck, J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1979, 101, 6773.
- (220) Astruc, D.; Mandon, D.; Madonik, A.; Michaud, P.; Ardoin, N.; Varret, F. Organometallics 1990, 9, 2155. Hamon, J.-R.; Astruc, D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1983, 105, 5951. Hamon, J.-R.; Astruc, D. Organometallics 1989, 8, 2243.
- (221) Dinnocenzo, J. P.; Banach, T. E. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1986, 108, 6063.
- (222) Dinnocenzo, J. P.; Banach, T. E. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1989, 111, 8646.
- (223) Sawyer, D. T.; Valentine, J. S. Acc. Chem. Res. 1981, 14, 393.
- (224) Bleeke, J. R.; Peng, W.-J. Organometallics 1986, 5, 635.
- (225) Werner, H.; Hofmann, W. Chem. Ber. 1981, 114, 2681.
- (226) O'Hare, D.; Murphy, V. J.; Kaltsoyannis, N. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1993, 383.
- (227) Lindsell, W. E. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1975, 2548.
- (228) Steckhan, E. *Top. Curr. Chem.* **1987**, *142*, 1.
 (229) Steckhan, E. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl.* **1986**, *25*, 683.
 (230) Dapperheld, S.; Steckhan, E.; Grosse Brinkhaus, K.-H.; Esch, T. *Chem. Ber.* **1991**, *124*, 2557.
- (231) Schmidt, W.; Steckhan, E. Chem. Ber. 1980, 113, 577.
 (232) Baker, T. N., III; Doherty, W. P., Jr.; Kelley, W. S.; Newmeyer, W.; Rogers, J. E., Jr.; Spalding, R. E.; Walter, R. I. J. Org. Chem. 1965, 30, 3714.
- (233) Eberson, L.; Larsson, B. Acta Chem. Scand., Ser. B 1986, 40, 210.
- (234) Barton, D. H. R.; Haynes, R. K.; Leclerc, G.; Magnus, P. D.; Menzies, I. D. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1975, 2055
- (235) Eberson, L.; Larsson, B. Acta Chem. Scand., Ser. B 1987, 41, 367
- (236) Bell, F. A.; Ledwith, A.; Sherrington, D. C. J. Chem. Soc. C 1969, 2719.
- (237) Nelsen, S. F. Personal communication. Klein, S. J. Ph.D. Thesis, University of Wisconsin, Madison, 1994.
- Grosse Brinkhaus, K.-H.; Steckhan, E.; Degner, D. Tetrahedron (238)**1986**, *42*, 553.
- (239) Eberson, L.; Olofsson, B. Acta Chem. Scand. 1991, 45, 316.
- (240) Williams, W. E.; Lalor, F. J. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1973, 1329
- (241) Connelly, N. G.; Kelly, R. L.; Kitchen, M. D.; Mills, R. M.; Stansfield, R. F. D.; Whiteley, M. W.; Whiting, S. M.; Woodward, P. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1981, 1317. Connelly, N. G.; Lucy, A. R.; Mills, R. M.; Sheridan, J. B.; Woodward, P. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1985, 699. Connelly, N. G.; Freeman, M. J.; Orpen, A. G.; Sheridan, J. B.; Symonds, A. N. D.; Whiteley, M. W. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1985, 1027.
- (242) Connelly, N. G.; Loyns, A. C.; Ciriano, M. A.; Fernandez, M. J.; Oro, L. A.; Villaroya, B. E. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1989, 689
- (243) Nelsen, S. F. Acc. Chem. Res. 1987, 20, 269.
- (244) Mirafzal, G. A.; Liu, J.; Bauld, N. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115. 6072
- (245) Hoffmann, R. W.; Barth, W. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. **1983**, 345.
- (246) Bauld, N. L.; Bellville, D. J.; Harirchian, B.; Lorenz, K. T.; Pabon, R. A., Jr.; Reynolds, D. W.; Wirth, D. D.; Chiou, H.-S., Marsh, B. K. Acc. Chem. Res. 1987, 20, 371.
- (247)Bauld, N. L. Tetrahedron 1989, 45, 5307.
- (248) Mattay, J.; Trampe, G.; Runsink, J. Chem. Ber. 1988, 121, 1991.

- (249) Boduszek, B.; Shine, H. J. J. Org. Chem. 1988, 53, 5142.
 (250) Murata, Y.; Shine, H. J. J. Org. Chem. 1969, 34, 3368.
 (251) Murata, Y.; Hughes, L.; Shine, H. J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem. Lett. 1968, 4, 573.
- (252) Lochynski, S.; Shine, H. J.; Siroka, M.; Venkatachalam, T. K. J. Org. Chem. 1990, 55, 2702.
- (253) Kadišh, K.; Moninot, G.; Hu, Y.; Dubois, D.; Ibnlfassi, A.; Barbe, J.-M.; Guilard, R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 8153.
- (254) Gans, P.; Marchon, J.-C.; Reed, C. A.; Regnard, J.-R. Nouv. J. Chim. 1981, 5, 203.
- (255)Bandlish, B. K.; Padilla, A. G.; Shine, H. J. Org. Chem. 1975, 40, 2590. Mani, S. R.; Shine, H. J. *J. Org. Chem.* 1975, 40, 2756. Bandlish, B. K.; Porter, W. R., Jr.; Shine, H. J. Phys. Chem. 1978, *82*, 1168.
- (256) Boduszek, B.; Shine, H. J.; Venkatachalam, T. K. J. Org. Chem. 1989, 54, 1616.
- (257) Sugiyama, K.; Shine, H. J. J. Org. Chem. 1983, 48, 143.

- (258) Dauben, H. J., Jr.; Honnen, L. R.; Harmon, K. M. J. Org. Chem. 1960, 25, 1442.
- (259) Dauben, H. J., Jr.; Gadecki, F. A.; Harmon, K. M.; Pearson, D. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1957, 79, 4557.
- (260) Beck, W.; Sunkel, K. Chem. Rev. 1988, 88, 1405.
- (261) Olah, G. A.; Svoboda, J. J.; Olah, J. A. Synthesis 1972, 544.
- (262) Straus, D. A.; Zhang, C.; Tilley, T. D. J. Organomet. Chem. 1989, 369, C13.
- (263) Arnett, E. M.; Molter, K. E.; Marchot, E. C.; Donovan, W. H.; Smith, P. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1987, 109, 3788.
 (264) Ryan, O. B.; Smith, K.-T.; Tilset, M. J. Organomet. Chem. 1991,
- *421*, 315,
- (265) Smith, K.-T.; Tilset, M. J. Organomet. Chem. 1992, 431, 55. (266) Ryan, O. B.; Tilset, M.; Parker, V. D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, *112*, 2618.
- (267) Eberson, L. R. Adv. Phys. Org. Chem. 1982, 18, 79.
- (268) Crocker, L. S.; Mattson, B. M.; Heinekey, D. M.; Schulte, G. K. Inorg. Chem. 1988, 27, 3722.
- (269) Behrens, U.; Heck, J.; Maters, M.; Frenzen, G.; Roelofson, A.; Sommerdijk, H. T. J. Organomet. Chem. 1994, 475, 233
- (270) Morrow, J. R.; Astruc, D. Bull. Soc. Chim. Fr. 1992, 129, 319.
- (271) Allison, J. D.; Walton, R. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1984, 106, 163.
- (272) Johnson, B. F. G.; Lewis, J.; Quail, J. W. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1975, 1252.
- (273) Newbound, T. D.; Ernst, R. D. J. Organomet. Chem. 1986, 316, 213.
- (274) Thepot, J.-Y.; Guerchais, V.; Toupet, L.; Lapinte, C. Organome*tallics* **1993**, *12*, 4843. (275) Hayes, J. C.; Pearson, G. D. N.; Cooper, N. J. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.*
- 1981, 103, 4648. Hayes, J. C.; Jernakoff, P.; Miller, G. A.; Cooper, N. J. Pure Appl. Chem. 1985, 56, 25.
 (276) Bodner, G. S.; Gladysz, J. A.; Nielsen, M. F.; Parker, V. D. J.
- Am. Chem. Soc. 1987, 109, 1757.
- (277) Bly, R. S.; Bly, R. K.; Hossain, M. M.; Silverman, G. S.; Wallace, E. Tetrahedron 1980, 42, 1093.
- (278) Bly, R. S.; Silverman, G. S.; Bly, R. K. Organometallics 1985, 4, 374.
- (279) Mandon, D.; Astruc, D. Organometallics 1989, 8, 2372
- (280) Wasielewski, M. R.; Breslow, R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1976, 98, 4222.
- (281) Harmon, K. M. In *Carbonium Ions*; Olah, G. A., Schleyer, P. v. R., Eds.; Wiley-Interscience: New York, 1973; Vol. 4, Chapter 29, p 1625.
- (282) Conrow, K. Organic Syntheses; Wiley: New York, 1973; Collect. Vol. 5, p 1138
- (283) Dauben, H. J.; Honnen, L. R.; Harmon, K. M. J. Org. Chem. 1960, 25, 1442.
- (284) Takahashi, Y.; Sankararaman, S.; Kochi, J. K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1989, 111, 2954.
- (285) Armstead, J. A.; Cox, D. J.; Davis, R. J. Organomet. Chem. 1982, 236, 213.
- (286) Drake, S. R.; Johnson, B. F. G.; Lewis, J. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1988, 1033.
- (287) Ansell, G. B.; Bradley, J. S. Acta. Crystallogr. 1980, 36B, 1930. (288) Broadley, K.; Connelly, N. G.; Mills, R. M.; Whiteley, M. W.; Woodward, P. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1984, 683.
- (289) Connelly, N. G.; Hopkins, P. M; Orpen, A. G.; Slater, J. J. Chem.
- Soc., Dalton Trans. 1992, 3303. (290) Miller, J. S.; Epstein, A. J.; Reiff, W. M. Chem. Rev. 1988, 88,
- 201.(291) Fatiadi, A. J. Synthesis 1986, 249.
- (292) Fatiadi, A. J. *Synthesis* 1987, 959.
 (293) Acker, D. S.; Hertler, W. R. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 1962, *84*, 3370. Melby, L. R.; Harder, R. J.; Hertler, W. R.; Mahler, W.; Benson,
- R. E.; Mochel, W. E. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1962, 84, 3374.
- (294) Dixon, D. A.; Miller, J. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1987, 109, 3656.
 (295) Rosenblum, M.; Fish, R. W.; Bennett, C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1964, 86. 5166.
- (296) Miller, J. S.; Zhang, J. H.; Reiff, W. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1987, 109, 4584.
- (297) Miller, J. S.; Zhang, J. H.; Reiff, W. M. Inorg. Chem. 1987, 26, 600.
- (298) Miller, J. S.; Krusic, P. J.; Dixon, D. A.; Reiff, W. M.; Zhang, J. H.; Anderson, E. C.; Epstein, A. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1986, 108, 4459
- (299) Miller, J. S.; O'Hare, D. M.; Chakraborty, A.; Epstein, A. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1989, 111, 7853.
- (300) Fatiadi, A. J. Synthesis 1987, 749.
- (301) Kaim, W.; Moscherosch, M. Coord. Chem. Rev. 1994, 129, 157.
- (302) Li, L.; Enright, G. D.; Preston, K. F. Organometallics 1994, 13, 4686.
- (303) Fukunaga, T.; Gordon, M. D.; Krusic, P. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1976**, *98*, 611.
- (304) Fukunaga, T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1976, 98, 610.
- (305) O'Hare, D.; Green, J. C.; Chadwick, T. P.; Miller, J. S. Organometallics 1988, 7, 1335.
- (306) Connelly, N. G.; Freeman, M. J.; Manners, I.; Orpen, A. G. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1984, 2703.
- (307) Rohrscheid, F.; Balch, A. L.; Holm, R. H. Inorg. Chem. 1966, 5, 1542

- (308) Peover, M. E. J. Chem. Soc. 1962, 4540.
- (309) Clark, W. M. Oxidation-Reduction Potentials of Organic Systems, Williams and Wilkins: Baltimore, 1960.
- (310) Hegedus, L. S.; Waterman, E. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1974, 96, 6789
- (311) Evans, D. H. In *Encyclopedia of Electrochemistry of the Elements*, Bard, A. J., Ed.; 1978; Vol. XII, p 563.
- (312) Elschenbroich, Ch.; Heikenfeld, G.; Wunsch, M.; Massa, W.; Baum, G. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1988, 27, 414.
- (313)Elschenbroich, Ch.; Metz, B.; Neumuller, B. Organometallics 1994, 13, 5072
- (314) Hawley, M. D. In Encyclopedia of Electrochemistry of the Elements; Bard, A. J., Ed.; 1980; Vol. XIV, p 283.
- (315) Lucas, H. J.; Kennedy, E. R. Organic Syntheses; Wiley: New York, 1955; Collect. Vol. 3, p 355. (316) Crivello, J. V.; Lam, J. H. W. J. Org. Chem. **1978**, 43, 3055. (317) Colquhoun, H. M. J. Chem. Res., Synop. **1981**, 275; J. Chem.
- Res., Miniprint 1981, 3401.
- (318) Colquhoun, H. M. J. Chem. Res., Synop. 1981, 276; J. Chem. Res., Miniprint 1981, 3416.
- (319) Colquhoun, H. M.; Henrick, K. Inorg Chem. 1981, 20, 4074.
- Saltzmann, H.; Sharefkin, J. G. Organic Syntheses; Wiley: New (320) York, 1973; Collect. Vol. 5, p 658.
- (321) The solubility may not always be greater for the M(macrocycle) salt, see: Boyd, P. D. W.; Bhyrappa, P.; Paul, P.; Stinchcombe, J.; Bolskar, R. D.; Sun, Y.; Reed, C. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1995**, 117, 2907.
- (322) Bradshaw, J. S.; Krakowiak, K. E.; Izatt, R. M. Aza-Crown Macrocycles; John Wiley and Sons: New York, 1993; Chapter 1 and references therein.
- (323) Elschenbroich, C.; Bilger, E.; Metz, B. Organometallics 1991, 10, 2823.
- (324) Fochi, G.; Runjuan, X.; Colligiani, A. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1990, 2551.
- (325) Greco, A.; Cesca, S.; Bertolini, G. J. Organomet. Chem. 1976, 113 321
- (326) Holloway, J. D. L.; Geiger, W. E. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1979, 101, 2038
- (327)Jonas, K.; Wiskamp, V. Z. Naturforsch. 1983, 38B, 1113.
- (328) Cloke, F. G. N.; Hitchcock, P. B.; McCamley, A. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1993, 248.
- (329) Klein, H.-F.; Gross, J.; Bassett, J.-M.; Schubert, U. Z. Naturforsch. 1980, 35B, 614.
- (330) Abugideiri, F.; Kelland, M. A.; Poli, R.; Rheingold, A. L. Organometallics 1992, 11, 1303.
- (331) Abugideiri, F.; Keogh, D. W.; Poli, R. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1994, 2317.
- (332) Olmstead, M. M.; Power, P. P. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1986, 108, 4235
- (333) Pluta, C.; Porschke, K.-R.; Kruger, C.; Hildenbrand, K. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1993, 32, 388.
- (334) DuPont, T. J.; Mills, J. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1975, 97, 6375.
- Okada, K.; Kawata, T.; Oda, M. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. (335)
- 1995, 233. (336) Ustynyuk, N. A.; Vinogradova, V. N.; Andrianov, V. G.; Struchkov, Yu. T. J. Organomet. Chem. 1984, 268, 73.
- (337) Gusev, O. V.; Denisovich, L. I.; Peterleitner, M. G.; Rubezhov, A. Z.; Ustynyuk, N. A.; Maitlis, P. M. J. Organomet. Chem. 1993, 452. 219.
- (338) (a) Fischer, E. O.; Wawersik, H. J. Organomet. Chem. 1966, 5, 559. (b) El Murr, N.; Sheats, J. E.; Geiger, W. E.; Holloway, J. D. L. Inorg. Chem. 1979, 18, 1443.
- (339) Ma, H.; Weber, P.; Ziegler, M. L.; Ernst, R. D. Organometallics 1986, 5, 2009.
- (340) (a) Cole-Hamilton, D. J.; Wilkinson, G. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton *Trans.* **1979**, 1283. (b) Green, M. *Polyhedron* **1986**, *5*, 427. (341) Reduction of $[Mo(NCMe)(\eta-MeC_2Me)_2Cp]^+$ with Na/Pb gave the
- metallacyclononatetraene complex [Mo2(µ-C8Me8)Cp2] in 30-40% yield (cf. 10-20% with Na/Hg). N. G. Connelly and B. Metz, unpublished results.
- (342) Lee, S.; Cooper, N. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1991, 113, 716.
- (343) Wey, H. G.; Butenschon, H. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1990, *29*, 1444.
- (344) Caubere, P. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1983, 22, 599.
- (345) Eberson, L. Acta Chem. Scand., Ser. B 1984, 38, 439.
 (346) Holm. T. Acta Chem. Scand., Ser. B 1983, 37, 567.
- (347) Jaun, B.; Schwarz, J.; Breslow, R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1980, 102, 5741.
- (348) Massur, Yu. P.; Antonov, I. S.; Tomilov, A. P.; Ovsyannikov, L. N. Soviet Electrochemistry 1969, 5, 452.
- (349) Brown, H. C.; Mead, E. J.; Subba Rao, B. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1955, 77, 6209.
- (350) Connelly, N. G.; Payne, J. D.; Geiger, W. E. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton *Trans.* **1983**, 295.
- (351) Boyd, D. C.; Connelly, N. G.; Herbosa, G. G.; Hill, M. G.; Mann, K. R.; Mealli, C.; Orpen, A. G.; Richardson, K.; Rieger, P. H. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 960.
- (352) (a) Michaud, P.; Astruc, D.; Ammeter, J. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1982, 104, 3755. (b) Lapinte, C.; Catheline, D.; Astruc, D.

Organometallics 1984, 3, 817. (c) Tudoret, M.-J.; Robo, M.-L.; Lapinte, C. Organometallics 1992, 11, 1419.
 (353) Kruger, A.; Thiele, K.-H. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1986, 532, 53.

- (354) Byrne, E. K.; Theopold, K. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1989, 111, 3887.
 (355) Cotton, F. A.; Wilkinson, G. Advanced Inorganic Chemistry, 5th
- ed.; Wiley-Interscience: New York, 1988; p 316. (356) Carriedo, G. A.; Crespo, M. C.; Riera, V.; Sanchez, M. G.; Valin, M. L.; Moreiras, D.; Solans, X. J. Organomet. Chem. 1986, 302,
- (357) Michlmayr, M.; Sawyer, D. T. J. Electroanal. Chem. 1969, 23,
- (358) Chi, K. M.; Frerichs, S. R.; Stein, B. K.; Blackburn, D. W.; Ellis, J. E. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1988, 110, 163.
- (359) Balk, P.; Hoijtink, G. J.; Schreurs, J. W. H. Recl. Trav. Chim. 1957, 76, 813.
- (360) DeBoer, E.; Weissman, S. I. Recl. Trav. Chim. 1957, 76, 824.
- (361) Raman absorptions have been attributed to the dianion of naphthalene (Screttas, C. G.; Micha-Screttas, M. J. Org. Chem. 1983, 48, 153), but the lack of optical spectra attributable to the dianion (see ref 359) calls this assignment into question.
- (362) (a) Screttas, C. G.; Micha-Screttas, M. J. Org. Chem. 1978, 43, 1064. (b) Maher, J. M.; Fox, J. R.; Foxman, B. M.; Cooper, N. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1984, 106, 2347. (c) Ager, D. J. J. Organomet. Chem. 1983, 241, 139.
- (363) Screttas, C. G.; Micha-Screttas, M. J. Organomet. Chem. 1983, *252*, 263.
- (364) Segal, B. G.; Kaplan, M.; Fraenkel, G. K. J. Chem. Phys. 1965, *43*. 4191.
- (365) Hirota, N. In Radical Ions; Kaiser, E. T., Kevan, L., Eds.; Interscience Publishers: New York, 1968; p 63.
- (366) (a) Zandstra, P. J.; Weissman, S. I. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1962, 84, 4408. (b) The dissociation constant for the related system Na-[biphenyl] in THF at 25 °C is 1 \times 10⁻⁶ M: Szwarc, M. In Carbanions, Living Polymers, and Electron Transfer Processes, Interscience: New York, 1968.
- (367) Al Obaidi, N.; Hamor, T. A.; Jones, C. J.; McCleverty, J. A.; Paxton, K. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. **1986**, 1525.
- (368) Lappert, M. F.; Raston, C. L.; Rowbottom, G. L.; Skelton, B. W.; White, A. H. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1984, 883.
- (369) Etienne, M.; Choukroun, R.; Gervais, D. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1984, 915.
- (370) Maj, J. J.; Rae, A. D.; Dahl, L. F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1982, 104, 3054.
- (371) Maher, J. M.; Fox, J. R.; Foxman, B. M.; Cooper, N. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1984, 106, 2347.
- (372) Maher, J. M.; Beatty, R. P.; Cooper, N. J. Organometallics 1985, 4. 1354.
- (373) Leong, V. S.; Cooper, N. J. Organometallics 1988, 7, 2080.
- (374) (a) Thompson, R. L.; Lee, S.; Rheingold, A. L.; Cooper, N. J. Organometallics 1991, 10, 1657. (b) Thompson, R. L.; Geib, S. J.; Cooper, N. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1991, 113, 8961.
- (375) Lee, S.; Lovelace, S. R.; Cooper, N. J. Organometallics 1995, 14, 1974
- (376) (a) Ellis, J. E.; Frerichs, S. R.; Stein, B. K. Organometallics 1993, 12, 1048. (b) Dustin, D. F.; Dunks, G. B.; Hawthorne, M. F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1973, 95, 1109.
- (377) Jonas, K.; Russeler, W.; Kruger, C.; Raabe, E. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1986, 25, 925.
- (378) Lee, S.; Geib, S. J.; Cooper, N. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 9572
- (379) The benzophenone anion radical is commonly misnamed a "ketyl", a term which is properly associated with the protonated form of the anion, *i.e.*, Ph_2COH^* .
- (380) Lund, T.; Lund, H. Acta Chem. Scand., Ser. B 1986, 40, 470.
- (381)(a) Bruce, M. I.; Kehoe, D. C.; Matisons, J. G.; Nicholson, B. K.; Rieger, P. H.; Williams, M. L. *J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun.* **1982**, 442. (b) Bruce, M. I.; Matisons, J. G.; Nicholson, B. K. *J.* Organomet. Chem. 1983, 247, 321.
- (382) Downard, A. J.; Robinson, B. H.; Simpson, J. Organometallics 1986, 5, 1122 and references therein.
- (383) Bruce, M. I.; Nicholson, B. K.; Williams, M. L. Inorg. Synth. 1989, 26, 273.
- (384) (a) Schlenk, W.; Weickel, T. Chem. Ber. 1911, 44, 1182. (b) Schlenk, W.; Thal, A. Ibid. 1913, 46, 2840.
- (385) Ayscough, P. B. Electron Spin Resonance in Chemistry; Methuen & Co: London, 1967; p 274.
- (386) Fieser, L. F. Experiments in Organic Chemistry, 3rd ed.; Heath & Co: Boston, 1957; p 299.
- (387) For leading references, see: Evans, D. H. In Encyclopedia of Electrochemistry of the Elements; Bard, A. J., Lund, H., Eds.; Marcel Dekker: New York, 1978; Vol. XII, p 209.
- (388) (a) Beckett, A.; Porter, G. *Trans. Faraday Soc.* **1963**, *59*, 2038.
 (b) Haselbach, E.; Vauthey, E.; Suppan, P. *Tetrahedron* **1988**, 44, 7335.
- (389) (a) Jensen, B. S.; Parker, V. D. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1974, 367. (b) Grimshaw, J.; Hamilton, R. J. Electroanal. Chem. **1980**, *106*, 339.
- (390) Wooster, C. B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1928, 50, 1388
- (391) Geske, D. H.; Maki, A. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1960, 82, 2671.

- (392) Hirota, N. In Radical Ions; Kaiser, E. T., Kevan, L., Eds.; Wiley-Interscience: New York, 1968; p 65.
- (393) Nelsen, S. F.; Hintz, P. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1972, 94, 7114.
 (394) Briggs, T. N.; Jones, C. J.; McCleverty, J. A.; Neaves, B. D.; El Murr, N.; Colquhoun, H. M. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1985, 1249.
- (395) Pevear, K. A.; Banaszak Holl, M. M.; Carpenter, G. B.; Rieger, A. L.; Rieger, P. H.; Sweigart, D. A. Organometallics 1995, 14, 512.
- (396) James, T. A.; McCleverty, J. A. J. Chem. Soc. A 1970, 850. Huang, Y.; Neto, C. C.; Pevear, K. A.; Banaszak Holl, M. M.; Sweigart, D. A.; Chung, Y. K. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1994, 226, 53.
 (397) Wiberg, N.; Buchler, J. W. Chem. Ber. 1963, 96, 3223.
- (398) King, R. B. *Inorg. Chem.* 1965, 4, 1518.
 (399) King, R. B. *Organometallic Syntheses*, Academic Press: New York, 1965; Vol. 1, p 70 ff.
- (400) Fachinetti, G.; Funaioli, T. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1992, 31, 1596.
- (401) (a) Sheats, J. E. J. Organomet. Chem. Library 1977, 7, 461. (b) Kemmitt, R. D. W.; Russell, D. R. In Comprehensive Organometallic Chemistry; Wilkinson, G., Stone, F. G. A., Abel, E. W., Eds.; Pergamon: Oxford, 1982; Vol. 5, Chapter 34, p 244.
- (402) However, cobaltocene has been shown to undergo ring coupling with the 19-electron complex $[Ni(\eta-C_4Ph_4)Cp]$ when it is used in excess as a reducing agent for $[Ni(\eta-C_4Ph_4)Cp]^+$. See: Herberich, G. E.; Klein, W.; Koelle, U.; Spiliotis, D. Chem. Ber. 1992, 125, 1589.
- (403) Cobaltocene reacts with many alkyl halides to form ring-addition products and should be used rapidly if dissolved in higher halogenated solvents such as chloroform or carbon tetrachloride. It is reported not to react, however, with dichloromethane [Herberich, G. E., Bauer, E.; Schwarzer, J. J. Organomet. Chem. 1969, 17, 445].
- (404) (a) Geiger, W. E. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1974, 96, 2632. (b) El Murr, N.; Dabard, R.; Laviron, E. J. Organomet. Chem. **1973**, 47, C13. (405) Ammeter, J. H.; Swalen, J. D. J. Chem. Phys. **1972**, 57, 678.
- (406) Shih, K.-Y.; Fanwick, P. E.; Walton, R. A. Organometallics 1994, *13*, 1235.
- (407) Shih, K.-Y.; Fanwick, P. E.; Walton, R. A. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. (408) Chen, J.; Angelici, R. J. Organometallics 1989, 8, 2277.
 (409) Luo, S.; Rauchfuss, T. B.; Wilson, S. R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992,
- *114*, 8515
- (410) Venturelli, A.; Rauchfuss, T. B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 4824.
- (411) Herring, F. G.; Legzdins, P.; Richter-Addo, G. B. Organometallics **1989**, *8*, 1485.
- Jaeger, J. T.; Field, J. S.; Collison, D.; Speck, G. P.; Peake, B. (412)M.; Hahnle, J.; Vahrenkamp, H. Organometallics 1988, 7, 1753. (413) Morse, D. B.; Hendrickson, D. N.; Rauchfuss, T. B.; Wilson, S.
- R. Organometallics 1988, 7, 496. (414) Hughes, D. L.; Jimenez-Tenorio, M.; Leigh, G. J. J. Chem. Soc.,
- Dalton Trans. **1989**, 2453.
- (415) Boere, R. T.; Klassen, B.; Moock, K. H. J. Organomet. Chem. 1994, 467, 127.
- (416) Xiao, Z.; Gable, R. W.; Wedd, A. G.; Young, C. G. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1994, 1295.
- (417) Legzdins, P.; Wassink, B. Organometallics 1988, 7, 482.
 (418) Chu, C. T.-W.; Dahl, L. F. Inorg. Chem. 1977, 16, 3245.
- (419) Albach, R. W.; Kusthardt, U.; Behm, J.; Ebert, B.; Delville, M.-H.; Astruc, D. *J. Organomet. Chem.* **1993**, *450*, 165.
- (420) Biagini, P.; Calderazzo, F.; Pampaloni, G.; Zanazzi, P. F. Gazz. Chim. Ital. 1987, 117, 27.
- (421) Bockman, T. M.; Kochi, J. K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1989, 111, 4669.
- (421) Bottman, T. M., Rotin, J. R. J. Am. Chem. 50: 1969, 111, 400.
 (422) Pampaloni, G.; Koelle, U. J. Organomet. Chem. 1994, 481, 1.
 (423) (a) El Murr, N.; Chaloyard, A. J. Organomet. Chem. 1982 231, 1. (b) Mugner, Y.; Moise, C.; Laviron, E. J. Organomet. Chem. **1981**, *210*, 69. (424) Chu, C. T.-W.; Lo, F. Y.-K.; Dahl, L. F. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1982**,
- 104, 3409.
- (425) Koelle, U.; Kossakowski, J. J. Organomet. Chem. 1989, 362, 383.
- (426) Nunn, C. M.; Cowley, A. H.; Lee, S. W.; Richmond, M. G. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 2105.
- Calderazzo, F.; Pampaloni, G.; Englert, U.; Strahle, J. J. (427)Organomet. Chem. **1990**, 383, 45.
- (428)Nlate, S.; Guerchais, V.; Lapinte, C. J. Organomet. Chem. 1992, 434.89.
- (429) Koelle, U.; Khouzami, F. Chem. Ber. 1981, 114, 2929.
 (430) Bowyer, W. J.; Geiger, W. E. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1985, 107, 5657 (431) Legzdins, P.; Reina, R.; Shaw, M. J.; Batchelor, R. J.; Einstein,
- F. W. B. Organometallics 1993, 12, 1029.
- (432) (a) Stinchcombe, J.; Penicaud, A.; Bhyrappa, P.; Boyd, P. D. W.; Reed, C. A. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1993**, *115*, 5212. (b) Boyd, P. D. W.; Bhyrappa, P.; Paul, P.; Stinchcombe, J.; Bolskar, R. D.; Sun, Y.; Reed, C. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 2907.
- (433) Astruc, D. Acc. Chem. Res. 1986, 19, 377. Astruc, D. Chem. Rev. 1988, 88, 1189.
- (434) Astruc, D.; Hamon, J.-R.; Althoff, G.; Roman, E.; Batail, P.; Michaud, P.; Mariot, J.-P.; Varret, F.; Cozak, D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1979, 101, 5445.

- (435) Astruc, D.; Hamon, J.-R.; Lacoste, M.; Desbois, M.-H.; Madonik, A.; Roman, E. Organometallic Syntheses; King, R. B., Eisch, J. J., Eds.; Elsevier: Amsterdam, 1988; Vol. 4, p 172, and references therein.
- (436) Bossard, C.; Rigaut, S.; Astruc, D.; Delville, M.-H.; Felix, G.; Fevrier-Bouvier, A.; Amiell, J.; Flandrois, S.; Delhaes, P. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1993, 333.
- (437) Brown, D. S.; Delville-Desbois, M.-H.; Boese, R.; Vollhardt, K. P. C.; Astruc, D. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1994, 33, 661.
- (438) Moulton, R.; Weidman, T. W.; Vollhardt, K. P. C.; Bard, A. J. Inorg. Chem. 1986, 25, 1846.
- (439) Hamon, J. R.; Astruc, D.; Michaud, P. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1981, 103, 758.
- (440) Davis, R.; Kane-Maguire, L. A. P. In *Comprehensive Organometallic Chemistry*, Wilkinson, G., Stone, F. G. A., Abel, E. W., Eds.; Pergamon: Oxford, 1982; Vol. 3, Chapter 26.2, p 975 ff.
 (441) Yureva, L. P.; Peregudova, S. M.; Nekrasov, L. N.; Korotkov, A. P.; Zaitseva, N. N.; Zakurin, N. A.; Vasilkov, A. Yu. J. Organomet. Chem. 1984, 219, 43.
 (442) Prupper H.; Koch, H. Chem. Bar. 1982, 115, 65.
- (442) Brunner, H.; Koch, H. Chem. Ber. 1982, 115, 65.
- (443) (a) Prins, R.; Reinders, F. J. Chem. Phys. Lett. 1969, 3, 45. (b) Feltham, R. D.; Sogo, P.; Calvin, M. J. Chem. Phys. 1957, 26, 1354
- (444) (a) Hornig, A. Ph.D. Thesis, Aachen Technical University, 1993. (b) Koelle, U. Coord. Chem. Rev. 1994, 135/136, 623.
- (445) Klaui, W. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1990, 29, 627.
 (446) Merkert, J. W.; Davis, J. H., Jr.; Geiger, W. E.; Grimes, R. N. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 9846.

- (447) Connelly, N. G.; Loyns, A. C. J. Organomet. Chem. 1991, 411, 285.
- (448) Miholova, D.; Vlcek, A. A. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1980, 41, 119.
 (449) Pugh, J. R.; Meyer, T. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 3784.
- (450) Dessy, R. E.; Pohl, R. L.; King, R. B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1966, 88, 5121.
- (451) Dombek, B. D.; Angelici, R. J. *Inorg. Synth.* **1977**, *17*, 100.
 (452) King, R. B. *Acc. Chem. Res.* **1970**, *3*, 417.
- (453) Krusic, P. J.; Fagan, P. J.; San Filippo, J., Jr. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1977, 99, 250.
- (454) Pufahl, D.; Geiger, W. E.; Connelly, N. G. Organometallics 1989, *8*, 412.
- (455) (a) Green, M.; Norman, N. C.; Orpen, A. G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1981**, *103*, 1269. (b) Brammer, L.; Green, M.; Orpen, A. G.; Paddick, K. E.; Saunders, D. R. *J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans.* 1986, 657. (c) Green, M.; Jetha, N. K.; Mercer, R. J.; Norman, N. C.; Orpen, A. G. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1988, 1843.
- (456) Nitay, M.; Rosenblum, M. J. Organomet. Chem. 1977, 136, C23.
- (457) Ellis, J. E.; Flom, E. A. J. Organomet. Chem. 1975, 99, 263. (458) Manning, A. R. J. Chem. Soc. A 1968, 1319.
- (459) Amatore, C.; Kuchynka, D. J.; Kochi, J. K. J. Electroanal. Chem.
- **1988**, *241*, 181. (460) Hieber, W.; Hoefler, M.; Muschi, J. Chem. Ber. 1965, 98, 311.
- (461) [PPN][Mn(CO)5] may be prepared in the same way as [PPN]-[Co(CO)₄]. See: Ruff, J. K.; Schlientz, W. J. Inorg. Synth. 1974, 14, 84.

CR940053X